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FOREWORD -

The unscttled political condition of some of the Spanish-Ameri-
can countries has always been regarded by the United States
Government with solicitude and regret on their own account,
while it has been the source of continual embarrassment in our
public and private relations with them. In the midst of the violent
revolutions and the wars by which they have been almost continu-
ally agitated, their public authorities have been unable to afford
due protection to foreigners and to foreign interests within their
territories, or even to defend their own soil against individual
aggressors, forcign or domestic. The resultant inconveniences
and losses, therefore, have devolved in no inconsiderable degree
upon the foreign states associated with them in close relations of
geographical vicinity or of commercial intercourse.

Such has been, more emphatically, the situation of the United
States with respect to Cuba. Mexico and Central America. Not-
withstanding, however. the relative remoteness of the European
states from America, facts of the same order have not failed to
appear conspicuously in their intercourse with Spanish-American
republics. Great Britain has repeatedly been constrained to resort
to measures of force for the protection of British interests in those
countries: and France found it necessary to attack the castle of
San Juan de Ulloa, and even to debark troops at Vera Cruz, in
order to obtain redress of wrongs done to Frenchmen in Mexico.

In line with this well-defined policy, the American Government
has uniformly and steadily resisted all attempts of individuals in
the United States to undertake armed aggression, or filibustering,

' again_st friendly Spanish-.—\mcrican states. To say that our laws
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768  THE Navy AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES

in this respect have sometimes been violated or successfully evaded,
is only to say what is true of all laws in all countries, but not more
so in the United States than in any one whatever of the countries
of Europct In short, the laws of the United States prohibiting afl
foreign military eslistments or expeditions within our territory
would seem to have been executed with impartial good faith, and,
so far as the nature of things permitted. as well in repression of

private persons as of the official agents of other governments,
both of Europe and America.

The story of the rise and progress of filibustering in the fifties
has been told repeatedly. Mention must be made of Caldwell's
*“ Lopez Expeditions to Cuba,” Scroggs's * Filibusters and Finan-
ciers,” Roche’s “ Story of the Filibusters " (republished under the
title of “ By-Ways of War ™), Walker's  War in Nicaragua,”
Wells’s *“ Walker’s Expedition to Nicaragua,” and Jamison's
*“ With Walker in Nicaragua.” One looks in vain, however. in
those published annals—or, for that matter, in the published his-
tories of the United States Navy—{or any comprehensive account
of the important and sensational part plaved by our naval forces in
the suppression of filibustering during the sixth decade of the
nineteenth century. And 'xc{ it is undeniable that but for the
interference of the navy’in the events attending those enterprises
the history of the regions affected would have taken a far different
course from what it did. For the sailor-diplomat. as one historian
has it, is pre-eminently a “shirt-sleeve " diplomat. He is a
stranger to the devious and tortuous methods of procedure which
so long disfigured international statecraft. Reing a fighter by
profession, he does not underestimate the importance of a display

of concrete force when temporarily filling the peaceful office of
a diplomat.!

For the preparation of an.authoritative and intelligent account
of the naval operations connected with filihustering, the author
has had to have recourse to many original squrces, many of them
apparently hitherto unutilized by historians. For the general back-
ground of the story, however. he gratefully acknowledges his in-
debtedness to the sources and authorities mentioned above.

! Paullin’s * Diplomatic Negotiations of American Naval Officers.” That

work, by the way, does not touch upon any of the events included in the
present survey. .

1 ]
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Y 1. Loprez’ First ExpPEDITION AGAINST CUBA

. "Filibustering, at least under that name, was unknown to the peo-
plé of the United States until 1849. Early in August of that year,
i:;t;on:nation was received at the Stgte Department th'at an armed
expedition, under the leadership of Narciso Lop.ez, was ab?u.t
to be fitted out in the United States, with the intention of mvad.mg :
and liberating Cuba, and that certaiq persons were at that time
engaged in enlisting and drilling soldiers at several points on our
' Atlantic coast, to be employed in this hostile enterprise, in v.1ola—
tion of our laws and our conventional obligations. President
Taylor, anxious to maintain the hon.or and peade of the country
by the faithful discharge of his duties toward a friendly nation,
accordingly directed Secretary of State Clayton to ‘call the atterf-
tion of the various district attorneys along the se.abOard to thl.S
apprehended infraction of our laws.. At the same time, the Presi-
dent issued the following proclamation:

11th August, 1849.
By T11E PrEsipext oF THE UNITED STATES.
A PROCLAMATION.

There is reason to believe that an armed. expedi'tion is about to be
fitted out in the United States with an intention to invade Ehe Isl::md }c:f
Cuba, or some of the provinces of Aexico. The best information which the
executive has been able to obtain, points to th.e Istand -of Cuba as tth
object of this expedition. It is the duty of th:s. government. 307 observe
the faith of treaties, and to prevent any aggression by our c1'tlzens upon
the territories of friendly nations. 1 have, therefore.' t_hought it neclejss.arg
and proper to issue this proclamation,- to warn all .cmzens of the. Tt]e
States who shall connect themselves with an enterprise so grossly in viola-
tion of our laws and treaty obligations, that t.hey will thereby subjec;
themselves to the heavy penalties denounced against .them by our Acts o‘
Congress, and will forfeit their clfxim to the protection o.f their cquntr).
No such persons must expect the interference o_f'thls government 1: an();
form on their behalf, no matter to what extre.mmes ,they may be reduce
in consequence of their conduct. An enterprise to.m.vad; l};e t.ernt;)nﬁz
of a friendly nation, set on foot and prosecuted within the limits of t

Py

' Lopez, a native of Venezuela, and an officer in the Spfmis}l service, wcn(:
. to Cuba in 1843. In 1848, a conspiracy was formAed. in Clenfuego_s afms
Trinidad, with the purpose of throwing off the Spa.msh .yoke, but it wa
soon discovered and crushed. The principal leader in this movement was
Lopez, who succeeded in making his escape to the United States.
*Senate Kxec. Doc. No. 57, 31st Cong,, 1st Sesi'
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United States, is*in the highest degree criminal, as tending to endanger
the peace and compromit the honor of this nation ; and therefore [ exbort
all good citizens, as they regard our national reputation, as they Tespect
their own laws and the laws of nations, as they value the ble'ssing; of peace
and the welfare of their country, to discountenance and prevent, by afi
lawful means, any such enterprise; and I call upon every officer of this
government, civil or military, to use all efforts in his power to arrest for
trial and punishment every such offender against the laws providing for
the performance of our sacred obligations to friendly powers,

Given under my hand, the eleventh day of August, in the year of our

Lord one thousand eight hundred and forty-nine, and the seventx-founh
of the independernce of the United States. -

Z. Taviog
By the President, =~

J. M. Cravrox, Secretary of State,

Confidential orders had already, on August 9. been issued by
the Secretary of the Navy, William Ballard Preston, to Commo-
dore Foxhall A. Parker, commanding the home squadron, then
stationed at Pensacola, Florida. These orders read as follows:

Navy DerartarsT, August 9, 1&9*
government has no precise information, yet it has
been informed by communication from Brevet Major General Twiggs,

““that 600 men raised in New Orleans landed on the 3ist ulto. on Round
Island, threc miles from Pascagoula [flississippi] ; that they are unarmed,
and encamped under their commander, Colonel White." General Twiggs
was informed by Colonel White “ that it was a party of emigrants destined
to California.” ‘The general further states **that, large as was the body
of men, he should have given the subject no consideration but for the popu-
lar belief that an expedition is being fitted out in the Southwest and West
for the invasion of Cuba, or to revolutionize the Mexican States of the
Sierra Madre.” “Rumor here,” the general remarks, "and in the cty of
New Orleans, points to this body of 600 men as a portion of the band to be
employed, and which is to recejve large reinforcements from the Western
States.” Other information, less authentic, has been furnished, in which
it is alleged “that Colonel White is preparing an expedition against Cuba,
that on the 28th ulto. he had raised 400 men in New Orleans, that he
expected to raise in that city in all 800, and corresponding numbers in
" Boston, New York, and Baltimore, that the recruits at New Orleans are to
be drilled at Cat Island, from which point they are to embark in the
.steamer Fanny, about the 2oth or 25th instant, for the south side of Cuba,
and that a considerable number of the military in Cuba are said to be in
communication with them.” * Colonel Briscoe, of New Orleans, and
Charles C. Campbell are to be officers in the expeflition,” * that Whiting
& Co., of New Orleans, have $250,000 to forward the expedition.”

Sir: Though the

* Ibid,

3
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- Any such invasion of either Cuba or .\Iex_ico is a viglation of our
;bli.gztions of necutrality, as we are at peace wnth_ both govcrnmentf(
"_The United States are bound to respect thg: rights bo.th of Sp‘al ) ax.xd
‘on Mexico, and * no person is permitted, within the terntor.y or jurisdic-
tion of the United States, to begin or to set on f?ot or provld? or prepare
the means for any military expedition or e.nterpr‘lse to be carried on from
thence against the territory of any forexg'n. ptince or state, or of" any
colony, district, or people, with which the United States'arc at peace.”
You are therefore directed by~the 'Prcsident to repair forthwnth,‘wnh
the force under your command, to the vicinity of Cat.]sl.and. and the mouth
of the Mississippi River, and co-operate with the district attorney of tl?e
United States and the collector of the customs at I‘{ew Orle?ns, and act in
concert with them, availing yourself of all such mf?r.matlon and of all
such means as they may have at their command, and vngﬂantly and actively
observe the movements and operations of any bands or ass?r.nblages of
people ;: for the purpose of ascertaining whether any hosule'm.:htary expe-
dition or enterprise is begun or set on foot, or any means provided, a.galfIst
the territory or dominions of any prince or state, or any colony, district,
or people, with whom the United States are at peace. .
Should you discover and ascertain any Sl{Ch attempt, by any portion of
our citizens, to invade either Cu!)a or Mexico, you will employ the force
1 ommand to prevent it. .
un;ife;ci:‘:;:uld receive any information, or discover any fact, with regal:d
to said movements, you will not only take prompt measures to arrest it,
but you will give early notice to the Departm?nt. o -
Should you, on reaching Cat Island and its \'1.c1mty, ascertain tmtba
hostile movement is on foot and has proceeded against the l‘sland of Cuba,
you will repair with the force under your command t? that xs.lar:d,da‘nd use
all proper means in your power by [? for] p.reve'ntmg then_' an dmg, SO
as to avert and prevem the violation of our obligations of amity and peace
in. )
wl'tl‘hhes‘:laurt‘y assigned to you may become highly de]ica?e'anddlrrjportan
The Department relies upon your prudence, your sag.acn). ar;l' ,:Of" -
cretion for the successful accomplishment of the service to which you are
ordered. AY ectfully, yours, &c.,
o AT BALLARD PRESTOX.

CoMyopoRE FoXHALL A. PaRKER, , y
Commanding U. S. Home Squadron, Pensacola, Fla.

Similar orders were sent to Commander V. M. Randolph, of tge
sioop-of-war Albant, to Commander Charles L'owndes, of the
sfoop-of-war Germantown, to Lieutenant W. W, Huntel:, com-
manding the steamer Alleghany, to Lieutenant Geqrge M. Totten,
commanding the steamer [Vater Iitch, and to Lieutenant Eben
Férrand, commanding the schboner Flirt.

y
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On the 18th of August, the Albany proceeded to sea, and arrived
shortly afterwards off. Pascagoula, Mississippi. There Com.
mander Randolph learned that the force which was being co}-
lected on Round Iskind, 3 miles distant from Pascagoula, was to
be embarked in the steamer Fanny and other conveyances-some
time during August, and would then proceed with all despatch
to the point of destination—either Tampico, Mexico, or some
place on the south side of Cuba—there to unite with the disaffected
natives in bringing about a revolution—if in Cuba, adverse to the
rights of Spain, and if in the Sierra Madre states, adverse to the
rights of the republic of Mexico. In the ahsence of Commodore
Parker, who had sailed north with the greater part of the home
squadron before the instructions from \Washipgton had reached
him, Commander Randolph considered it his duty, as-senior officer
afloat in the Gulf of Mexico, to maintain, as far as he had the
power, that peace and amity which at the time existed between the
government and citizens of the United States and those of the
two nations mentioned. According to instructions, therefore, he
at once communicated with the collector of customs at New
Orleans, Mr. Samuel J. Peters, and conferred with him in rela-
tion to the situation.
According to Peters, there were about 550 persons then assem-
bled on Round Island, under the command of Colonel G. W.
White, and their numbers were daily increasing by small squads
of from 2 to 10 men. They were without arms, and undrilled,
and they carefully avoided all acts which would brand them as a
military expedition. They appeared to have been carefully se-
lected, and were well dressed, though not in uniform. None
of them, except the officers, knew what was their destination.
Peters was, thercfore, of the opinion (and in this opinion the
district attorney concurred) that there was no violation of the
‘laws of the United States against raising and fitting out military
expeditions against a foreign country with which we were at peace.
But that there was an intention to violate those laws, as well as
our treaty obligations with Spain or Mexico, there could be very
little doubt. Such an intention, Peters held, could easily be frus-
trated. It was unlikely that these men, would be landed in a
foreign country without arms and previous preparation. There-
fore they must rely on receiving arms and ammunition at some

»
2
2

£
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point, and probably intended landing and drilling somewhere.
One or two armed government steaniers could prevent the consum- .

_mation of these designs; but sailing vessels, it was clear, could
~ not be relied on for this duty.
* steamer or other vessels that might be employed to carry these
" people to their destination or intermediate place of rendezvous,
.. sufficient evidence could probably be obtained to enable the gov-
* ernment to frustrate the object of the contemplated expedition,

By a strict examination of any

The collector of the port of Mobile, John J. Walker, also held
that the strict letter of the Neutrality Act of April 20, 1818, did
not admit any power to detain a vessel clearing fx;pm the United
States under the circumstances indicated. But at the same time,
he held, that inasmuch as it was designed to prevent the violation
of treaty obligations, and as he was satisfied that the object of
this expedition was unlawful, a constructive power might be
derived from the act to justify him in refusing a clearance to the
vessel.

It was impossible for the {lbany to approach nearer than 8 miles
to Round Island with safety. This was regretted exceedingly
by Commander Randolph, as he believed that the scaling of his
guns and the explosion of a few shells from the Pajxhans in view
of the encampment of the expedition, would immediately send
the men back to their homes, and thus break up the enterprise.
As it was, he wrote to Captain John T. Newton, commandant of
the navy yard at Pensacola, requesting him to despatch the
steamers Walker and General Taylor to join the Albany off the
southeast end of Horn Island. \Vith these two steamers, and the
Water 1¥itch, which had already arrived, Randolph believed he
could disperse the band of adventurers, who had now (August
23) congregated on Round Island to the number of 8oo. His
plan was to give the Fanny and other conveyances a thorough
search on their arrival, and in case he should find arms or other
munitions of war on board, he would deem it his duty to detain
them and prevent the embarkation of the men, which would, in
all probability, defeat the enterprise at once. -

While the .4lbany kept her position off the east end of Horn
Island, the I¥ater Witch was stationed close to Round Islan_d.
The boats of the Albany assisted in guarding the spot night and
day, so as to prevent arms and ammunition from being landed
on the island, and also to prevent the adventurers from being

28 a !
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taken from the island in sea-going vessels. On the 28th, Randolph
sent a written summons to the adventurers to disperse immediately,
This summons read as follows: :

To THE Persons ENcaMPED ON RoUND ISLAND, NEAR Pascacorrat

Friends and Fellow Countrymen:

The proclamation of the President of the United States, and other
instructions which I have received from the government-at \Washington,
make it imperative and proper that I should immediately take measures to
break up your unlawful assemblage, and send you back to your homes; and
when 1 have said a few words to you in proof of your assemblage being
unlawful, and of the utter impossibility of your evading the vigilance of
our squadron and getting out of our waters to proceed upon your contem-
plated wild expedition to make war against nations at peace with our own,
1 feel sure you- will at once disperse, and seek honest and peaceful
occupations. ’

First. The very mystery which marks the movements.and actions of
your officers, and the blind ignorance of the men as to the destination
of the enterprise, clearly show that the objects and purposes of those at
the head of your affairs are known to be unlawful, and that plunder is
the inducement held out to all who embark in this reckless expedition.

Second. We have proof that some o. vou have acknowledged that your
destination was Cuba; and that others of your number have said that the
expedition was fitting out for the invasion of the Sicrra Madre States of
Mexico; showing conclusively that your enterprise is onc of a military
character.

And lastly. You are ragrants in the eyes of the law, and in fact; and
therefore cannot be allowed to occupy your present position, and must
immediately disperse. '

1 will now prove to you that we have the means of not only preventing
your embarkation to foreign parts, but that we can force you to abandon
your present headquarters,

1 shall employ all the vessels now in this vicinity, or which may here-
after arrive, in such manner as will mosteffectually bring about the ends
desired. \,/

First. 1 shall certainly prevent the steamers Fanny, Maria Burt, or
any other steamer or steamers, vessel or vessels oi whatever description,
from furnishing the adventurers on Round Island with arms or other

T munitions of war,

Second. If said steamers or vessels have arms or other munitions of
war on board, I shall take possession of said arms, etc., and detain said

steamers or vessels until the men congregated on -Round Island are
dispersed. ;

Third. 1 shall prevent the band of men on Round Island f’rom embark-

ing on board of said steamers or vessels, or from having any communica-
tion with them at all, ’

* Senate Exec. Doc. No. 57, 31st Cong., I'st Sess.
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Fourth. 1 will make said stcamers or vessels anchor within range of
our guns.

Fifth. After to-day (28th August), in accordance with a notice before
given them, I shall cut off all supplies of provisions which may be intended
for the persons on Round Island, and shall rigidly enforce this blockade
or embargo until they abandon the spot and go home. °
- Sisth. 1 shall gladly give the persons on Round Island every facility
to get away; taking particular care, however, that they do not embark in
sea-going vessels.

V. M. RanpoLpn,
Commanding U. S. Ship Albany, and Senior

Officer Afloat in the Gulf of Mexico.
U. S. Ship Albany, off Pascagoula, -
August 28, 1849. 3

But in Randolph’s report, made the same day to Captain Newton
at Pensacola, he spoke with considerable less assurahce regarding
his ability to disperse the expedition. He wrote:

I beg leave to reiterate my earnest request to haye the General Taylor,
and Walker too, if possible, despatched to this place. Should the Fanny
and Maria’ Burt make their appearance off Round Island, I cannot answer
for the consequences. Our present force is too small to keep the men on
the island from being received on board, particularly should the two
steamers come provided with arms, which is expected. Even the General
Taylor alone would be of great service to us. Should you deem it imprac-
ticable to fit out the I#alker for this service, could you not feel justified
in chartering the Creole for a week or two, and sending her to us with two
or more guns mounted from the navy yard, and to be manned and officered
from the crew of this ship? I make this suggestion with all deference
to your more mature judgment. Two or three field pieces and plenty of
ammunition on board the Creole would make her an efficient vessel here.
Sail vessels are of little use. We want a fast steamer or two, to give
chase, should the Fanny and Maria Burt show themselves.!

Captain Newton accordingly despatched the General Taylor,
under the command of John Pearson, master. Pearson was well
acquainted with all the islands and shoals in the vicinity of Round

Island, and could be of great service in piloting through the intri-

cate passages. The General Taylor had a six-pounder field-piece
mounted, with the proper ammunition, etc., as well as small arms
for the crew. At the same time, Captain Newton expressed to
Commander Randolph his doubts regarding the propriety of inter-
fering to stop the adventurers, in case they were found to have
passports, and had taken their passages on board of any vessel

 Ibid.
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or vessels properly and regularly cleared out of our custorf house,
and with papers all_correct, according to law. Newton also
thought that Randolph had transcended his powers in issuing the
summons to the Round Islanders. *“ It is a high prerogative,
peculiar only to the Presjdent of the United States, Governors of
States, and to Commanders-in-Chief of Squadrons when on
foreign service only.” - _

The Genceral Taylor, as also the schooner Flirt, arrived off Horn
Island on the morning of the 2gth, and the Flirt was at once
despatched to join the I¥ater I1itch at Round Island.  Randolph
had, in the meantime, sent a copy of the.summons to Collector
Peters, at Ncw Orleans, with the request that it be circulated in
the city and up the Mississippi River. This request the collector
declined to comply with, as he did not consider that the circum-
stances of the case sanctioned its issuc. On the contrary, he en-
tirely disapproved of it as being uncalled for and improper, adding
that he and the district attorney were without any substantial and
reliable proof which would sanction coercive action on the part of
the government. The stringent measures of Commander Ran-
dolph were likewise denounced by the newspapers of New Orleans
and Mobile.

By September 1, conditions appeared to Commander Randolph
to be getting worse. His reports to the Navy Department con-
tain passages like the following: :

The more 1 see of this band of reckless men, the stronger is my con-
viction that they are ready for any expdlition which may be started, and
that they are pledged to go wherever their leaders may direct. It is my
deliberate opinion that if a piratical enterprise were, or could be. projected
at this point to rob upon the high seas. that more than one-half of the
450 now assembled on Round Island would instantly volunteer to take part
in it. They are a terror to this neighborhood, and I have been assured by
a number of the citizens of Pascagoula that they have strong fears for
the safety of their lives and property, particularly as our troops have
been removed from this vicinity. The civil authorities are afraid to act,
and in one instance have been defied.

I have expected, and therefore am not surprised,"to hear my stringent
measures denounced by the newspapers of New Orleans and Mobile gen-
erally, and myself held up to derision, but this I do not regard, as I have
seen for a length of time that the majority of newspapers of the two cities
above named have been strangely silent on the subject of the movement
which has been agitating these waters for the last six weeks. The irre-
sistible inference to my mind is that the newspapers of New Orleans and
Mobile have been paid to keep silence. And the same influences have
caused them to ridicule and abuse the navy for using prompt and rigorous

THE Navy AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES

measures to put down the lawless enterprise which they have studiously

concealed from the people. The newspapers of New Orleans and Mobile.

were the last in the country to allude to the preparations which have been
going on, for the last six weeks, to fit out an expedition against either

. Cuba, Mexico, or Yucatan; and even now they feign to make light of it—

hence I care but little what they say of me: all that [ am solicitous about
is that the government will approve of what I have done. . . . .

There was a fight on the island last night, and two of the band were
so badly stabbed that their lives are despaired of." These are wretched
doihgs, sir, in our waters, on an island only four miles from a fashion-
able watering-place. and where there are justices of the peace, a sheriff,
and, not very far off, a circuit judge, all afraid to act! I sent the murderer
oa shore to be dealt with by the civil authorities of the sovereign “ State
of Mississippi,” but could find no one willing to act. tither the people
here (including the civil authorities) are sympathizers in the movement,
or else are afraid to interfere.! .

Nevertheless, on September 1, the expedition began to show
signs'of breaking up. On that day, one of the boats of the Albany
returned from a trip to Round Island, bringing 12 of the adven-
turers, who were seafaring men, and who wege anxious to ship
into the naval service. They were good-looking men, and Ran-
dolph believed them to be Americans. He therefore determined
to let them sign the articles.” Furthermore, a deputation from the
band, in the persons of two of their officers, came to Randolph,
and pledged themselves that they would accept transportation to
New Orleans on the following day, provided Colonel White failed
to send a steamboat before that time, and provided also that
Randolph would feed them from his vessels in the meantime.
To these terms Randolph readily agreed, and instructed Lieutenant
Commander Farrand, of the Flirt, to corfvey on the morrow such of
the men as were willing to disperse, either to New Orleans or
Mobile, provided the number exceeded 50. When the time came,
however, the adventurers declined to leave. It seems that Colonel
White had arrived in Pascagoula, from New Orleans, and had
prevailed upon them to play false to their agreement. Randolph
had a talk with White, from which he gleaned that the adventurers
still hoped to gét to sea in the Fanny. He also learned that there
was a plan maturing all over the West and Southwest to revolu-
tionize Cuba.

"One of the men had died soon after being stabbed.

*Ibid. “

'Eight other Round lslanders subsequently shipped on board the Flir{
and Water Witch. !
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On September 4, the persons on Round Island renewed their
application to Lieutenant Farrand +for tran§portation to New
Orleans. They stated that they had intended availing themselves

of Randolph’s offer the day before, but that they were opposed by -

many of the officers or persons who had control. and-those who
wished to go were therefore kept scattered. But during the night
a large number of thern had taken their blankets and encamped on
the beach preparatory to embarking in the morning. Lieutenant
Farrand sent his boats on shore and had all who wished to leave
the island put on board the ¥ ater Witch. They numbered about
go persons. They were despatched to New Orleans in the steamer
General Taylor on the 5th of September.

On the 10th, the steamer Alleghany, Licutenant W. W, Hunter,
commanding, arrived from Pensacola. lLicutenanht Hunter was at
once sent by Randolph to New Orleans, for the purpose of obtain-
ing more certain information regarding the plans of those who

were directing the secret movements at Round Island, and also of

endeavoring to ascertain positively if the steamer Fanny had been
purchased by them and was still designed to take them upon the

secret expedition. . Hunter was a native of New Orleans, and

was expected to bring back important inteHigence.

Upon his arrival in New Orleans, Hunter learned from Mr.
Peters, the collector of the port, and Mr. Bradford, acting district
attorney, that in their opinion the energetic and prompt action of
the government, together with the apparent want of funds at the
disposition of the leaders. had so paralyzed the entire operations,
as speedily to bring about a dispersion of the people assembled
at Round Island. The steamer Fanny had already been pur-
chased. One-half of the purchase price had been paid, but the
leaders were unable to pay the remainder. Collector Peters held
the register of the Fanny. Deters also declared that he could
prove the connection between the parties concerned in the pur-
chase of the Fanny and persons in New York implicated in similar
illegal acts at that place. It was highly improbable, therefore, that
any further effort would be made to send abroad the remnant of
the band assembled at Round Island. Yet, in order to guard
against the possibility of such an event. it was agreed that Col-
lector Peters should give Randolph timely notice of any ineasures

looking to the despatch of the Fanny or any other swift light-draft
vessel,

I3
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At New York, on September 8, District Attorney J. Prescott
Hall caused the Sea Gull and New Orleans to be detained by the
naval forces of the United States, as being vessels engaged in the’
military expedition-against Cuba. Hall called upon Captain Isaac
McKeever, commandant of the navy yard at Brooklyn, for a force
adequate to make the seizures, McKeever detailed four officers
and 50 men for this service. With this force, the marshal of the
district proceeded to the quarantine grounds in a steamer, took
possession of the Sca Gull (a vessel of considerable size, having a
propeller as auxiliary to her sails), brought her up to the navy
yard, and placed her under the guns of the ship-of-the-line Nort/;
Carolina. He then placed ant-officer with a small body of marines
on board the N'ezww Orlean large sea-going steamer), which was
lying at Corlears Hook, and detained her in the harbor. The
Florida, another suspected vessel, was not seized, as she was in
no respect readyv for sea, and also because the district attorney
thought the seizures already made would be sufficient to accom-

. plish all of the government's purposes. These seizlires effectually

broke up all the plans of the filibusters. The President highly
approved all of these prompt, energetic, and judicious actions.
Meanwhile, events occurring in Cuba itself were such as to
induce a feeling of insccurity in the greater part of our country- -
men in Havana. Several towns issued revolutionary pronuncia-
mentos, a Spanish regiment had passed over to the pronunciados,
and the breaking out of a civil war was imminent. The Spanish
Government, at the same time, was despatching troops in all di-
rections, and ordering the militia into active service. Commodore
Parker, with the Raritan and Saratoga, of the home squadron,
had touched at Havana about the middle of August, but had de-
parted again before the situation became at all tense. The En-
glish consul at Havana. deemed it prudent ito_request the British
admiral in those waters to send a squadron to the place immedi-
ately; and our own consul, Robert B. C pbell, on August 28,
followed this up by requesting Commander Randolph to send as
large a force as possible to protect American interests. But the

" breaking up of the expedition at its sources in New Orleans and

New York, as narrated above, obviated the necessity of exposing
the officers and seamen of our navy to the diseases then prevailing
in Havana.

In his reports to the Navy Department, Commander Randolph
was careful to justify his conduct with sound reasoning, and suc-
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ceeded thereby in gaining the undivided approval of all his actions
by the department. His justification was couched in these words:
I was sent here [to Round Island], as I conceive, to defeat the machina.
tions of a large body of reckless and abandoned adventurers; and after

obtaining the opinions of those whose position and intelligence enabled " - §

them to know best the character of these people, and what they purposed
doing, I determined to break up the expedition and disperse the band
before transports should be sent to convey them beyond our reach, |
saw, as I thought, but one way of doing this, and that one I have adopted.
Had I waited until the Fanny arrived in these waters, and had I per-
mitted that fast steamer to have communicated with the four or five hun-
dred desperadoes on Round Island, and allowed her to receive them on
board, I should indeed have been most blamable. But I warned Coloned
White against bringing the Fanny within reach of our vessels, and I am
well pleased that no attempt was made to anchor her off the island.

When I inform you that we had no vessel in the gulf squidron which would -

stand the slightest chance of overtaking the steamer Fanny, you will not
be surprised that I positively forbid her coming to Round Island. But I
beg leave to make another staLC/Z::nt. When I issued the summons to the
people on Round Island, thery/ was only this ship [the Albany] and the
little steamer IV ater Witch at hand. The Albany cannot approach nearer
than ten miles to Round Island, so that in fact the Water I¥itch and the
Albany’s boats were all we had to keep off the sea-steamers and to guard
the island. The IWater I itch is exceedingly dull, and rarely ever reaches
six knots; and the steamer Fanny is a large and swift sca-going steamer,
and runs at the rate of tuwclee knots the hour. What possible chance would
there be for this ship {the .4lbany], anchored ten miles off, and the little
dull Water Witch to prevent the Fanny from taking the men to sea and
going to their place of destination, supposing I had allowed her to approach
the island? And how should I have known schere to give chase? I might
have shaped my course for the south of Cuba, and in three days the Fanny
might have landed the adventurers in Tampico! Or I might have made
sail for Tampico, and in five days the Fanny might have landed the men
on the south side of Cuba, or on the Island of Cozamel, east coast of
Yucatan! =

I must most respectfully beg leave to repeat—I was sent here, as [
conceive, to maintain untarnished the honor of the nation, by using ali
proper means to keep the Round Islanders from leaving our waters to
wage' war against powers with whom we are at peace and amity. [ have
protected our country from this disgrace, and I cannot ber
will blame me for what I have done. I'had no other alterlti
their ‘sea-going steamship Fanny must have been allowed to anchor off
Round Island, and so take the adventurers off to sea, or else she was
to be warned to keep away, and the adventurers starved out, and thus
made to disperse. I have taken the latter alternative™

[To Be CoNTINUED]

that you

** Senate Exec. Doc. No. 57, 31st Cong., 1st Sess.
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DIVING AND THE DIVING SCHOOL

By LiecTENANT CoMMANDER E. W. StroTHER, U. S. Navy

There are three books on diving that cover the subject as com-
pletely as possible at the present stage of development of diving.
These books are: * Diving Manual 1916,” * Report on Diving
Tests 1915,” and a * Report of a committee on Deep Water Div-
ing to the British Admiralty ” published in 1907. The purpose of -
this article is not to try to cover the subject of deep water diving,
but to bring to the attention of the service the fact that a diving
school has been established at the torpedo station, to outline the
work that the diving school is doing, and to touch on the most
important parts of diving, which are all more thoroughly treated
in the above-mentioned books.

The knowledge of diving, which includes the reasons why
deep water diving is dangerous, the precautions which are neces-
sary to take in deep water diving, and the remedy for the bends or
caissons disease, has not been taught the commissioned personnel.
The better an officer in charge of a diving party realizes the limi-
tations of a diver, and in case of emergency what to do, the better
it will be for the diver; fewer accidents will then occur, and more
will be accomplished. After four years’ experience as a torpedo
officer, without any experience or training in diving, it is my belief
that every torpedo officer should have at least a month's instruction
at the diving school.

On November 1, 1913, by orders from the Navy Department,
the diving school was established at the torpedo station with the
inspector of ordnance as the inspector of diving. At the same
time or shortly after, several gunners and chief gunners mates of
diving experience were ordered to the torpedo station for duty in
connection with the diving school. At that time the diving equip-
ment for a school at the torpedo station was insufficient and there
was no building adequately equipped. The winter months of the
first year of the school’s existence were therefore~ spent by the
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This table shows that our merchant marine is able to supplyi

vessels suitable for colliers with a surplus of 175,000 tons. There :.

is a large excess of tankers, but such a vessel unfortunately cannot E
be used for any other purpose, so this excess cannot be employed -
to cut down the large deficiency that exists in the transports, -
Assuming that the excess in colliers, 175,000 tons, can be employed
as transports and supply vessels, the net deficiency in that class
is 212,000 tons, and it must be remembered that the miscellaneous
requisites of extra flect scouts, district scouts, etc., are not yet
provided. ,

It will also be noted that no surplus has been allowed to replace
the losses which will inevitably occur by stress of weather and
by hostile operations; neither is there any excess to permit of
the periodical repair and overhauling which all vessels need.

Then too we may well give thought to the economic condition
of the country if its entire merchant marine were suddenly
diverted to the use of the army and navy.

There is no exaggeration in these figures. Every effort has been
made to keep them down to the lowest terms consistent with the
assumptions, and the experience of Great Britain in the present
war gives point thereto. In 1914, her merchant marine totalled
a little over twenty million tons, and, according to recent accounts,
which are probably fairly accurate, about eight million tons is
heing uscd for strictly military purposes, and this huge amount
is needed notwithstanding the fact that the grand fleet is operating
from home bases, and that the bulk of England’s army is just
across the Channel, only 20 miles wide, while we have been calcu-
Iating on an offensive 7000 miles from our home ports.

So far as the logistics of our fleet and of an overseas expedi-
tion are concerned, the lessons I derive from this study are,
(1) the necessity for improving and fortifying bases in all probable
theatres of operations, and (2) the great importance of develop-
ing our merchant marine.”

We will refer to the example of England, a country which for
three hundred years has been supreme at sea. Her naval history
is an almost unbroken record of success. She has a chain of
bases round the world in almost every conceivable direction. There
is no part of the globe that does not possess a British naval base;
and 46 per cent of the world’s merchant marine is under her
flag. \Vhile it would be rash to draw the conclusion that her
naval success is due to these two facts, we can at least feel sure
that they made that success possible.
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Lopez, undaunted by this first mishap, travelled through thg
southern and southwestern states, secretly enlisting men and mak}
ing provision for another expedition to Cuba. In April, 1830
the first detachment under Colonel Theodore O'llara succeeded

Georgiana.'

The Susan Lound (also a sailing vessel), carrying a second de}
b
were joined at the island of Contoy, off the coast of Yucatan, by
Lopez with 450 followers, on board the steamer Creole. The
whole command then sailed away for the shores of Cuba.

Representations to this effect having been made to our governt
ment by the Spanish minister at Washington, the Secretary of the
Navy issued the following orders to Commodore Parker, com|
manding the Home Squadron, who was then in Washington:

{Con ﬁdent.ial.]

Navy DepartMENT, May 13, 1830

Swr: Though the government has no precise information, yet it ha
been informed from sources entitled to great respect and consideratior
that a military organization has been effected in the interior of the Unite
States, formidable both in numbers and from the character of thos
engaged in it, for the purpose of attacking the island of Cuba, and o
revolutionizing the government. This force is represented to consisr
b

T

=t R

of between 6ooo and 10.c00 troops, of thg best kigd and material t (

'The Georgiana seems to have been suspected by the United Statep
revenue cutter which was cruising in the offing, but the governmemt
vessel contented itself with sailing around the bark two or three timey,
and then went away.—Caldwell, * Lopez Expeditions,” p. 59. ) 1

\

New Orleans, on board the sailing vesse}
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render the assault formidable, and. as it is belicved. is sufficient, wit
other means and fresources at command, to emancipate Cuba from Spanish
rule,
is alleged, from the city of New Orleans, accompanied by Generals Lopez,
Gonzajes, and others.
landing upon the island ahout this time. All accounts concur in represent-
ing that it is a military expedition or enterprise begun and set on foot
within the territory or jurisdiction of the L"nitgd States, to be carried
on from thence against the island of Cuba and the government of Spain.

Any such invasion of that island i3 in violation of our obhlizations of
neutrality to the government of Spain.

The government of the United States is bound to respect the rights
of the inhabitants of Cuba and of the government of Spain. and “no
person is permitted, within the territory or jurisdiction of the United
States, to begin or set on foot, or provide or prepare the means for,
any military expedition or enterprise to be carried on from thence against
the territory of any forecign prince or 5tatc, or of any colony, distridt,
or people.”

You are therefore directed by the President of the United States to
despatch forthwith such of the vesscls of the Home Squadron under your
command, as may be within your redach, to the port of Havana. in the
island of Cuba, where they will vigilautly and actively, in co-operation
with Captain Tattnall, of R steamer Saranac, ohserve the movements
and operations of all vessels approaching the harber of Havana or the
island of Cuba, for the purpose of ascertaining whether any military
expedition or cnterprise has been begun or set on foot, or any means pro-
vided, to be carried on from the United States against the territory or
domains of Spain. / .

Should they ascertain l}mt such hostiémo\‘cmcm is on foot and is
proceeding against the island of Cuba, they will use all proper means
in their power to prevent a landing or the carrying out such cxpedition
or enterprise, so as to avert and prevent the violation of our obligations
of amity and peace with Spain.

Should the expedition from the United States have effected a landing.
and a revolution be in progress. they will prevent the landing of any
reinforcement or of any arms or provisions under the American flag.

To the citizens of the United States who may bhe there in the prosecu-
tion of their peaceful and lawful pursuits, and who may apprehend danger
either to their person or property. they will extend the protection and aid
to which they are entitled as American citizens.

Should they, upon their arrival at Havana, ascertain satisfactorily
that no such expedition is on foot, they will return to the Atlantic States

Large humbers of those engaged in the enterprise departed, as i

It is represented that they expect to effect a

to prosecute the future orders of the Commander-in-Chief of the Squadron, .

in the mean time keeping the Department fully informed of all occurrences
in connection with duty assigned to them.

I am very respectfully, Your ob't servant
»

Con. F. A. PARKER, W. BaLLARD PRrestoN.

Com. Home Squadron, Washington? >

* Senate Exec. Doc. No. 37, 31st Cong., 15t Sess.
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_Similar orders were sent to Captain Josiah Tattnall, command-
ing. the steam frigate Saranac; to Captain Isaac McKeever, of]
the frigate Congress; to Commander V. M. Randolph, of the sloop-
of:war Albany; to Commander Charles Lowndes, of the sloop-of-
war Germantown; and to Lieutenant James H. Ward, command-
ing the steamer F'iven. -

- Some 19 armed vessels of the Spanish \avy were at that timg
coasting around various parts of Cuba to intercept the reported
expedition. These vessels, according to the report of Consul
Campbell, at Havana, were regarded as lacking in efficiency, and
incapable of preventing the invaders, if coming in steamers, fron
effecting a landing. :

As we have seen, the expedition had already departed from thg

United States. The three vessels had on board 650 men, with
arms and ammunition. After getting to sea, the vessels proceeded
to the island of Contoy, off the coast of Yucatan, after which the
expedition was headed for Cardenas, on the coast of Cuba.. The
Creole reached Cardenas at 3 o'clock on the morning of thg
1gth of May, landed and took possession of the town, and burned

the governor's palace, taking him prisoner aftcr a battle in which -~

50 of the Spanish troops and 30 of the invaders were killed. Th¢
expedition then re-embarked and made for Key West, closely purt
sued by the Spanish armed steamer Pizarro. The Pizarro had 3
few days previously captured the two sailing vessels of the expedi}
tion off Contoy.
On the 21st of May, as the United States schooner Petrel
Lieutenant John Rodgers, commanding, was engaged in surveying
duty, and standing across the Florida Reef, near the West Sambd,
off Key West, she discovered the Pizarro with a signal flying fof
a pilot, while the Creole was in the distance hull down inside the
reef. As there was no pilot-boat in sight, &odgers determine
to send his own pilot on board the Pizarro to bring her into Key
West. When the Pizarro came near, the Petrel hove to, and a
officer from the Spanish man-of-war came alongside and informe
Rodgers that the other steamer (the Creole) was a pirate, an
that General Armero, who commanded the Pizarro, wanted a pilot,
in order to take the said pirate. Rodgers at once surmised th
the Creole was part of the {rustrated filibustering expedition. Bu
it was by no means clear to him that it was any part of his duty t
furnish a pilot to enable a foreign man-of-war to take America

. ‘t‘§
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citizens, in American waters and under the American flag, running
into one of our own ports. He even decided that if an opportunity
arose, it would rather be his duty to interpose the sides of the
Petrel to the Spaniard’s fire, and take possession himself of the
American steamer, to be delivered over for legal action to the

authorities having jurisdiction in the waters where she was found. |

Rodgers sent a pilot to bring the Pizarro into Key West, direct- ‘T

ing the pilot, however, on account of the quarantine regulations,
not to go on board, but to pilot the Pizarro from one of the Petrefs |

boats (as was the custom in foreign ports), and to take her :

nowhere except into Key West. The pilot could not understand
Spanish, nor the Spaniards. English. The pilot told them to

steer northwest, and they kept the Pizarro northeast, and were

soon running on a shoal with nine feet of water on it. The pilot
and the Spanish captain both became flurried, and finally the
pilot-boat was cast off and returned to the Petrel. At this juncture,
Rodgers himself went on board the Pizarro and offered to pilot
her i{\to Key West. The offer was refused, General Armero
declaring that by not furnishing him with a pilot, Rodgers had
prevented him from taking a pirate—that an officer had, under the
Spanish flag, assured Rodgers of the piratical character of the
Creole.

As Rodgers was departing, the genegal sent to ask the name
of the vessel which he commanded. Rgdgers replicd to the officer
that he had first sent a pilot, and the Spaniards not understanding
him, Rodgers had come on board himself to pilot the vessel: that
the general, in return, had not been entirely civil, and that lie must
find out the name of the vessel as best he could. Rodgers gave
this message successively to two officers, each of whom apparently
hesitated to deliver it; and the general, who had evidently heard
the conversation, came himself to where Rodgers stood. Witha
manner changed decidedly for the better, hie then said that he
would have to report the facts to the United States Government”
Rodgers thereupon gave his own name, as also that of the Petrel,
to the general, in writing. i

Meanwhile, the Creole ran into Key West, made fast to a wharf,
and her people delivered themselves over to the civil authorities.

*In tr:u}smitting these facts to the Navy Department, Rodgers reported
for official discourtesy to me while in the execution of a civility to his
flag, the Spanish General of Marine on board the Pizarro”

A B
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They were the only force, either military or naval, in the pla
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Rodgers proffered the services of the officers and crew of the
Petrel, numbering 18 men, for whatever aid they could furnish.

On the requisition of the United States marshal, the Petrel’s m n

aided him in taking possession of the Creole. Also, at the request

of the mayor of Key West, Rodgers seized, and received
Mrd the Petrel for safekeeping, 401 muskets and 700 sabers. T
600 men on board the Creole were assigned quarters in the vaca
United States barracks at Key West. General Lopez, the co
mander of the expedition, was among them. However; he w
soon set at liberty, in spite of instructions to the contrary given
the District Attorney of Savannah. Seven negro slaves, who h
been brought over in the Creole, were temporarily committed
jail by the mayor of Key West, to await the pleasure of t
President of the United States in the premises. They were su
sequently claimed by the Spanish vice-consul on behalf of th
owners—Spanish subjects resident in the island of Cuba—a
surrendered to him to be conveyed again to Cuba by the Pizarr
This expedition of 1830, and the attempts of the United Stat
Government to circumvent it, had already been a prolific source
embarrassment to the administration. On May 20, the newspape
had denounced the action taken by the President in sending w
vessels to try to prevent the expedition from landing, or at lea
to cut off supplies and reinforcements coming from the Unit
States. This action was likewise made the ground for a bitt
attack in Congress by Senator Yulee, of Florida. Yulee said
was doubtful whether any such expedition were contemplated.
it were, he did not believe it to be clearly illegal under the neutrali
act of 1818. He said that the administration showed a desire
usurp powers which the Constitution never gave it. It (t
administration) intended to deprive persons of life, liberty, a
property, without due process of law. In attempting to keep pr
visions from reaching the island, the President was himself brea
ing our laws of neutrality by taking the part, in a foreign territor
of one belligerent against the other. The President had ev
gone so far as to make war without the authority of Congres.
The government seemed to Yulee—as to a very large number ¢f
Americans—to be taking the side of despotism against liberal
progress. Senator Yulee defended the filibusters, saying that thgy

37
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were acting under !’ their perso;ml civil right of emigration and
expatriation.” *

This remarkable speech called forth a masterly reply from
Daniel Webster. The senator from Massachusetts reviewed oyr
promises to Spain, which had been repeated through the Executive
again and again ever since Jackson’s time. We were not o
bound by treaties of peace, amity, and good will, but we had
repeatedly promised that if Spain would abstain from surrendes-
ing Cuba to any other European power, she might be assured of
the good offices of the United States to maintain her in posses-
sion of the island. Webster held it to be an unquestionable law
that American jurisdiction followed the flag, whether that flag
floated on the sea, or even in a foreign port. This jurisdiction
imposed the duty of protection, not only for the benefit of the
United States, but also, in true justice, for the benefit of a foreign
country whose peace was threatened. Furthermore, the act of
1818 imposed it as a solemn duty on the President to preserve the
peace of the country by suppressing every unauthorized expedition
set on foot in the United States against any portion of a country
with which we were at peace. Mr. Webstet could not regard the
clause in the Constitution which safeguarded life, liberty, and
property as applying to armed insurrection., He expressed, more-
over, the highest confidence in the Prcsidsyt of the United States

The administration had also to deal %ih a very delicate and
important problem growing out of the Cardenas expedition. It
will be recalled tha{t’the two sailing vessels of the expedition (the
Georgiana and the Susan Loud) had been. seized by the Spanish
naval forces, on May 18, off the island of Contoy. The §2 men
on board these two vessels were taken to Havana for trial, the
vessels following with prize crews. But Contoy, lying near the
coast of Yucatan, was plainly within the jurisdiction of the republic
of Mexico, and therefore the prisoners were not properly amena-
ble to Spanish justice. Many of them, moreover, were doubt-
less American citizens. The President of the United States,
therefore, fearing that the Spanish authorities in Cuba, in their

*This view would have justified President Taylor's unfortunate threat,
made in his proclamation of 1849, to refuse protection to filibusters as
American citizens ; and these views also. tied the hands of the government
when Crittenden and his men were captured in 1831, and later proved
embarrassing in the famous case of the Virginius. (Caldwell, “ Lopez
Expeditions,” p. 73.) d ’

* Cong. Globe, May 21, 18350, Vol. XXI, pp. 1030-3.

a

. of the filibuster ships by the Spaniards, and thelx forcible recapture

e

excessive zeal to punish the invaders of that island, and all/can-
nected with them, while flushed with victory might possibly forget
the difference between crime and the intention to commit cri e,
and thus wreak their vengeance on innocent American citize s,

resolved that the American eagle must.and should protect them -

against any punishment except such as the tribunals of their own
mation might award. Our consul at Havana was accordin ly
instructed as follows: '

Telt the Count of Alcoy*® to send them home to encounter a punigh-
ment which, if they are honorable men, will be worse than any he conld
inflict, in the indignant frowns and denunciations of good men in their
own country, for an attempt to violate the faith and honor of a nat n
which holds its character for integrity of more value and higher wotth
than all the Antilles together. But warn him in the most friendly man
and in the true spirit of our ancient treaty, that if he unjustly éheds dne

drop of American blood at this exciting period, it may cost the tivo
countries a sanguinary war.’

call upon the frigates Congress and Saranac, and the sloops-
war Albany and Germantown, which had been ordered to thdse
waters."

The commanders of the American war vessels had received
instructions which compelled them to resist all attempts on the
part of the Spanish men-of-war to capture the filibuster ships.
Captain Tattnall, in the Saranac, as we have seen, had been placed
in command of all the American war vessé‘b\ in those waters ; ahd
the administration, apprehending the probable capture of so

by the American warships, had instructed Captain Tattnall to 4ct
according to circumstances.

On the 24th of May, Consul Campbell addressed a communida-
tion to the Captain General of Cuba, requesting that the two cap-
tured vessels, together with the persons who had been found bn
board, be immediately given up, in order that they might be sent
to the United States for trial, and the legality of their captyre
and detention be left to the governments of the United States apd

* Roncali, Count of Alcoy, |was at that time Governor General of Cupa.
"Senate Pxec. Doc. No. 37, 31st Cong., st Sess.
*The information received by the Executive Department relative to the
above revolutionary movements in Cuba, and the armed expeditions frém
the United States connected therewith, was called for by the Senate |of
the United States on May 23, 1850, duly transmitted, and printed |as
Senate Executive Document No. 57, 31st Cong., 1st Sess.
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Spain to be decided upon. The consul’s letter was written in the
morning, and was about to be sent, when Commander Randolph -

arrived at Havana in the Albany. An interview was at omge
arranged between Commander Randolph, the consul, and the
tain general; and in the hope that this interview would end in the
delivery of the ships and prisoners, the consul did not send the
letter, but placed it in his pocket, to be delivered m the event of his
and Randolph’s requests being refused.

At the interview which followed, Commander Randolph told

the captain gencral that he had understood that two vessels, re- -

ported to be American, had been captured by the general of marine,
together with about 100 men, of whom some 14 had been brought
to Havana. The captain general replied that two vessels, with
some men, had been captured, and that the Cuban Government had
in their possession proofs that those vessels and men were con-
nected with the expedition which left New Orleans for the invasion
of Cuba. Commander Randolph then desired to know whether
the captyred vessels had the American colors flying : whether they
were on neutral ground, or on the high seas. or in Spanish waters:
whether the men captured were Americans in whole or in part;
and whether any overt act had been committed by them upon
Spanish territory. The captain gcncr’nl replied that owing to
the general of marine’s short stay‘in lhc/Pn ort of Havana, he had
not received official information of the Grrcumstances connected
with the capture to enable him to give answers to the questions
propounded to him, but observed that pirates could be captured
wherever found, whatever flag or papers they might have.

Commander Randolph thereupon said to the captain general that
vessels under American colors could not be stopped on the high
seas by a foreign force unless suspicions were entertained of their
being engaged in piracy; and then if proper papers were found
on board, the vessels and men had to be delivered up to the
authorities of the United States. In consequence of this, he accord-
ingly demanded the delivery to him of the two vessels and the
men captured by the general of marine, that they might be carried
to the United States for trial, which the captain general refused
to accede to, saying that he had no jurisdiction over the matter,
it being a case which was to be tried by the marine court, over
which he had no jurisdiction.

Upon bemg asked by Randolph for permissiop to see the pris-
oners then in the port of Havana, the captain general answered
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that he had no authority ; that the general of mmarine, being the

judge of the cause, would, if he could, let Randolph $ee the

ners. Randolph, thereupon, asked the captain general if he
was not the head and chief of the Cuban Government. e
answered, yes. He was then told that he was the source frgm
which information ought to be secured, and not from his sub-
ordinates. |

Commander Randolph and the consul explained to the captdin
general their views in regard to the policy theretofore pursupd
by the United States in relation to the right of visit and search,
and expressed their opinion that the affair they had been referripg
to was more serious than his excellency thought, for it might
mvolve the question of war. His excellency, ho“ ever, thou
differently, and said he was pcrconally willing to give all satjs-
faction, but that he could not give way to threats; and if war was
the consequence, he was prepared to meet it, using the expressign,
gue vengan (let it come). Commander Randolph and the consul
hastened to disclaim any intention of making threats. At the
same time, Randolph informed the captain genecral that inasmugh
as he had not been able to obtain any satisfactory informatign,
and was not permitted to see and converse with the prisonefs,
he would report to his government that two American vessels
and several American citizens had been captured on the high
seas, or on neutral ground, and brought to Havana as pnsoncﬁs.
and that, in consequence, war virtually existed between the Uni
States and Spain.  The captain general replied that Randol )h
might do as he pleased, but the report, would not be correct, for
the captured vessels and men formed part of the expeditipn
under Lopez were nothing but pirates, and therefore subject lto
the law of nations enforced by the power to which the cruiger
that captured them belonged.

Thereupon Commander Randolph observed that he “ould pér-
haps think proper to address his excellency a note on the subject,
and wished to know if it would be received. The captain genefal
answered that if Randolph’s letter was in proper terms, it woyld
be received, a copy thereof sent to the general of marine [to
obtain information, and when that was received, he (the cap
general) would be glad to answer Randolph’s communciation;
also, that he would forward to the Spanish minister at Washirlg-
ton a copy of the correspondence, as it was a subject which had
to be arranged by the representatives of the two governments,
who alone had diplomatic power.
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In the course of the conversation, Mr. Campbell took out &nd

presented to the captain general the letter which he had previ
prepared, which his excellency, upon learning the contents, refused '
to receive, asserting that the consul had merely commercial func.
tions, and therefore had no right to interfere in the matter, obserys
ing also that neither he himself, nor the consul, nor Commander
Randolph had any diplomatic powers. He moreover tried to per-
suade Randolph not to do anything more in the business, since
he had already done everything which his duty as an officer of
the United States required of him, more particularly so as it
was in favor of men undeserving of his sympathy, who the year
before had abused him for the affair at Round Island. i
Immediately after this interview, Commander Randolph and
the consul waited upon the gencral of marine. . From him they
learned that he had captured the two vesscls and some men: that
the vessels had no colors flying, and that the men on board (some
60 or 70) were partly Americans: that the vessels and men
were on neutral ground, but that, having proofs in his possession
that they formed a part of the expedition which had tried to
invade his country, he had gone and capturcd them as pirates;
and that some of the men were then in the port of Havana,
The general was asked by Randolph what cvidence he had that
the vessels and men formed a part of. the expedition.  The
answer was that he had reliable inforfyation, corroborated by
papers found with the ships, and the men's own confessions.
Asked whether force or threats had been used to obtain those
confessions, he replied that that was a question which he could not
accept. To the question whether the vessels and men had any
papers, and avowed themselves to be Americans, the general
replied that they had not avowed anvthing: that when his steamer
was seen by them to be approaching, they understood their posi-
" tion and said nothing; that he had not examined the papers;
that his stay there was very short, merely long enough to put
the captured vessels and men in charge of a sailing vessel of war
to bring them into Havana; and that he picked out, and brought
in the steamer Pizarro, such as he considered leaders. ; ]
Commander Randolph then said to the general of marine that
he had been informed that two American vessels, having American
flags and papers, had been captured, with a number of men ot
the high seas and beyond Spanish jurisdiction and he therefore
demanded the immediate delivery of the captured vessels and

‘a2

" @’Enghien had nothing to lose but his life and his soul (if he

men to him, in order that he might take them to the United Statps
for trial by his government. The general answered that !38 had o
authority ; that the vessels and men had been captured as pirat
that he had proofs of it, and that the laws of Cuba would t
them. Randolph then requested permission to see and converge
with the prisoners who were in Havana, so as to obtain a fdfir
statement, which request was refused. Randolph then demand¢d

. it as a right. The géneral refused again, observing that as the

two captured vessels and the greater part of the men had npt
yet arrived in port, no declarations had been taken from the
that the summarial proceedings were not finished, and therefore the
laws of the country did not permit the prisoners to hold communi-
cation with anyone but the court that was to try them; but that
after that they would be allowed counsel and all facilities fpr
.making their defence. The general also contradicted the rumor
that confessions had been extracted from the men by putting the
rope to their necks, and added that no judicial investigation hhd
yet been begun, but that the men in conversation had acknowl-
edged that they formed a part of the expedition which, under the
command of lopez, was to have invaded the island. In the eid,
he admitted also that the captured vessels were American, and the
men in part Americans.

Thereupon Commander Randolph and the'cons'ul observed
the general that it would be better for him to deliver up the vess
and men; that the laws of nations were plain; that the capturipg
of the vessels and men on neutral ground was illegal. The cdse
of the Duke d’Enghien, under the empire, was cited by them las
‘aparallel, in order to bring to the general’s mind the intense excite-

. ment produced in Europe and the world by that outrage. The
general asseverated that the cases were not parallel, and that.

the duke was a gentleman. Campbell observed that the Duke
as
not prepared for death), and the Contoy prisoners were in the
same position.
duke belonged to the blood-royal, and that these men were
obscure citizens. But the general still thought as before, apd
appeared greatly astonished that the American officers shoyld
want to consider the two cases as parallel.

- The result of the interview was that the ge;lneral of marine
féfused to deliver up the vessels and memn;-and denied permission
to Commander Randolph to communicate with the prisoners then

Randolph said the only difference was that the -
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in Havana. He observed, however, that if Randolph would re.

main some days longer in port, he and the consul could then have A{ :
the opportunity to learn the result af the trial and te communicate -

with the prisoners. But Randolph proceeded to sea at

determined, if possible, to intercept and retake both the vessels

and the prisoners, should they be alone or under convoy of Spanish
,men-of-war. This the consul and he had agreed-he had a right to
do under the law of nations, in conformity with the policy of the
United States, as set forth by Daniel Webster in the Ashburton
correspondence, and under the act of Congress authorizing our
men-of-war to capture any vessel which should unnecessarily
detain an American merchant ship in the Gulf of Mexico, They
believed that these ships were being unnccessarily detained after
having been demanded to be sent home for trial and the demand
having been refused. T .

The Germantown joined the Albany on the following morning.
A Spanish frigate kept near the two American war vessels con.
tinually. Altogether, the Spanish Government had about 21 war-
ships onhe station at that time.  Ou the 25th of May, the Saranac,,
Captain Tattnall, arrived at Havana. Just before his arrival,
Tattnall had fallen in with the Albany, and had been informed of
Randolpl’s intention. While apprccintin_f'v}]c motives and spirited
conduct of Randolph, Captain Tattnall déemed it best, under the
circumstances, to atl()l)t a different course.

As soon as the Saranac came to anchor, Tattnall waited upon
the captain general, and informed him that while it was not his
desire or purpose to seck a meeting with the Spanish frigates,
nevertheless, if he did fall in with them at sca, while they were in
the act of gél1\’0yiﬂg the two American vessels, he would certainly
attempt the recapture of the ships. So impressed was the captain _
general with Tattnall's determination, that he immediately gave
orders that the captured vessels should not depart from the port
in which they then were. Thus was prevented the risk of a colli-
sion which might have caused a rupture between the two govern-
ments. - 7 .
Captain Tattnall's conduct was fully approved by the adminis-
tration at Washington. It is said that his letter, acquainting the
Navy Department with his action and the reasons upon which
it was based, was handsomely complimented at a Cabinet meet-

ing where it was read, and pronounced a model report. His i

T

—r

’
-

‘and could not there be molested by United States war vesselg.
- Should they be brought out of the port, however, and be foun
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reasoning was as follows: The two American vessels, detecte
in flagrant violation of international law and the President
proclamation, had been captured, were already in a Spanish por

upen the high seas under convoy of the Spanish frigate which ha
been ordered to bring them to Havana, Tattnall intended to re-
apture them. This placed the matter of peace or war practicall
within the determination of the Cuban captain general, If t
status quo remained unchanged, the capture of the vessels claimin
the protection of the United States would then form the subje
of negotiation between the two governments.

On May 30. Captain Tattnall, in company with consul, Judg
Marvin, and Collector Douglass, of Key West, called bn the captai
general and said that he was about to return to the United State
and should be highly gratified to be able to communicate to hi
government that he had been permitted to see and converse wit
the Contoy prisoners, as, under existing circumstances, it migh
do much good and tend to allay an$ excitement that might exi
at home. The captain general replied that personally he had n
objection to permit the prisoners to be seen and conversed wit
but the law would not permit it; that the prisoners were bein
treated well, and there was nothing of which they could complai
unless it was their not being permitted to go into the streets; an
that the marine court before which their trial was pending con
sisted of calm and inteiligent officers, who wouild dispassionatel
weigh the testimony and do full justice. The American officers di
not attempt to controvert these statements, and left. Consul Campt
bell then reported the result of the several interviews to the
Secretary of State, and concluded by saying: “ Your consuf,
your naval officers, can do nothing for the relief of the parties|
and it is left for the President to adopt such measures as his well
known firmness, patriotism, and devotion to the honor and interes
of his.country may dictate.”

President Taylor accordingly deemed it proper to transfer thJ:
duties in regard to the Contoy prisoners to Commodore Charles
Morris, of the navy. This officer was made the bearer of 4
special message from the President to the Governor and Captai
General of Cuba. His instructions from Secretary of State Clay
ton read as follows: '

$

SR
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DEPARTMENT OF STATE, WASHINGTON, June 29, xs,q,'
Sir: The President directs that you proceed, as soon as possible, to -
Havana, in the war-steamer Firen; that on your arrival there you reqne‘ .
an audience of the Governor and Captain General of Cuba, representing -
to him that you bear a-message to him from the President of the United -

States, of importance to his country as well as your own. On beq’
admitted to his presence, you will demand of him the immediate release
of all the grisoners taken at Contoy and without the Spanish jurisdiction,
When making this demand in the name and by the authority of the Pren-
dent of the United States, you will repeat to the Governor and Caphn
General of Cuba the assurance herctofore conveyed to him and his gov-
ernment, that the government of the United States has never ceased to
perform every duty enjoined upon it by our treaty with Spain, and that
it will faithfully continue in the discharge of those duties so long as
the peaccful relations of the two countries shall continue. That the
President expects, in return for this friendly disposition and condut,
the strictest observance of the rights of the United! States and their
citizens from Spain; that he recognizes no right on the part of the Spanish
authorities to try and punish the prisoncrs taken at Contoy; and that
he will view their punishment by the authoritics of Cuba as an oufrage
upon the rights of this country. Without enlarging upon the grounds
taken in’ making the demand through the consul, of which you are
fully informed, the President is satisfied, from the reports which he has
reccived of the evidence taken before Judge Marvin, at Key West, as well
as from other information which he deems cntirely reliable, that the mes
taken at Contoy had embarked to go to Chagres, and if any of them had
ever designed to invade Cuba, they had repented of that design, and
abandoned it. Under these circumstances, the President cannot consent
that the lives or liberties of citizens of the United States shall be forfeited,
or that the question of the truth of the evidence above mentioned shall
be referred to any foreign tribunal.

You will say to the Governor that your mission has been occasioned
by intelligence that the demand heretofore made by the consul, Mr. Camp-
bell, in regard to these prisoners, was refused on the ground, among
others, that the consul had no diplomatic powers. In reply to the demand
made by Mr. Campbell, we learn that he was referred to the Spanish
minister in Washington, Don A. Calderon de la Barcg, and to the court
of Madrid. The views of this government on the whole subject have beea
fully made known to the Spanish minister residing at Washington, of which

.
i i et B e

he has doubtless fully advised the government at Madrid and the Captain ’

General of Cuba. This government has no rea%on to suppose that a de-
mand so just and reasonable would not now he acceded to by that minister,
who i no less distinguished among us for his humanity than his justice,

and who, while zealously on all occasions maintaining and defending the ..

rights of Spain, has never shown Fim'self insensible to the importance of
preserving the amicable relations!which have so long. exxsted betwun
our respective countries.

t

L. goart of Madrid, you will say to that distinguished functionary that,
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; As'to the reference made by the Governor and Captain General to

m;udgment of the President of the United States, were he to aband
these pnsoncrs to the consequences of the confinement which they mudt
mdergo in prison, in such a climate as that of Havana' at this season
* the year, until a demand could be made upon the court of Madrid and
answer returned, it would amount to a probable sacrifice of the lives
many of them, and a desertion of the duty of this government to protedt
ns own citizens.

The owners cf the bark Georgiuna and the bng Susan Loud have e
hibited to this department statements to prove the innocence of the captai
who chartered those vessels; and you will inform the Governor and Ca
tain General of Cuba that this government expects those vessels to
returned to their owners, with damages for their capture and detentioy.
Those statements confirm the testimony taken before Judge Marvin o
the innocence of the prisoners of any intention to m\ade Cuba; which’
testimony has, we learn, been fully communicated to the Governor an
Captain General.

Should the Captain General refuse to release the prisoners upon you
demand, you will then inquire fully into the manner in which they hav
been treated; their present and past condition; whether any have die
or are sick, and what attention has been paid to them; and what is th
evidence upon which the Spanish authorities rely to establish their guil.
For this purpose you will demand admittance to all the prisoners in th
presence of the American consul, and upon your return you will make
full report on all these subjects.

You will also respectfully request of the Captain General all the testi
mony which he has obtained, to enable this government to prosecut
any person or persons in the United States who have been engaged eithe
in invading Cuba or in getting up an expedition for that purpose; an
you will say to him that I am encouraged to make this request by Do
A Qalderon de 1a Barca, who assures me that some such testimony is i
possession of the Spanish authorities and will be cheerfully tendered t
this government to enable it to maintain its treaty stipulations with Spain.

I am, sir, very respectfully, your obedient servant,
Joux M. CravroN.
CoMMopore CHarLEs Morris, &c., &c., &c*

Meantime, on June 30, Mr. Campbell, together with Commodor
McKeever, several officers of thé Congress, and Commande
Lowndes, of the Germantown, again waited upon the taptai
general. The captain general was, as always, polite and courteou
He spoke of the Contoy prisoners, and said, " Viven y vivirdn
(they live, and will live), from which it was inferred that n
cipital punishment was contemplated. The captain general alsi

'House Exec. Doc. No. 83, 32nd Cong., 1st Sess,, pp. 5-7; House Exe
Doc. No. 86, 33d Cong 1st Sess., pp. 353-4-

¢
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expressed the opinion that the summarial proceedmgs would be

concluded in a few days; that some of the prisoners were i truth

passengers for California; but that the masters of the vusdg g

were cognizant of the expedition, and had knowingly taken on
board men, arms, and munitions of war. )

On the 1st of July, Commodore Morris embarked in the Visen,
and arrived at HHavana on the 1oth. He immediately addressed a
note to the captain general, requesting an audience, and received
an oral message that he would be reccived the next day at noon.
There were at that time in the harbor of Havana, in addition to the
Viven, the frigate Congress and the sloop-of-war {lbany. From
Commodore McKeever, commanding the Congress, Morris leamed
that he had hceld several conversations with the captain general
respecting the Contoy prisoners, and had been assured by him
that a part of them would be released before the 12th of the
month. McKeever had intended sailing for Rio de Janeiro on
the 7th, but had agreed to postpone his departure for four days
upon reqgeiving the above assurance. FEarly in the morning of the
11th, he received a note from the captain gencral, dated the 10th,
informing him that 42 of the prisoners had been liberated, and
would be sent to any vessel that he might designate. McKeever
was accordingly instructed by Morris to receive them on hoard the
Congress™

At noon of the same day, Commodore Morris waited upon the
captain general. \When the main object of his visit, and the
authority under which he was acting, were stated, the captain
general declined to receive any communication as connng othcially

from the government of the United States. because Morris had no -

authority to act in any manner upon diplomatic subjects. At the
same time, he expressed his readiness to receive any communica-
tion Commodore Morris might make in his official capacity as an
officer of the navy, and to give to it the same consideration as
though it had cemanated from a higher authority. In reply, he

* This was a notable diplomatic victory for Se'cretary of State Clayton.
It is interesting to note, in this connection, that the Captain General of
Cuba, in a letter dated July o, 1830, complained bitterly to his home gov-
ernment of what he deemed the dehberate effort of Clayton to bring on 3
war between the United States and Spam (Caldwell, “Lopez Expedi-
tions,” p. 80.) Torrente, also (“ Bosquejo Economico Politico de la Isl
de Cuba,” Vol. I, p. 49), believes that war with Spain woula have resulted
if Clayton had remained Secretary of State, :

S
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_ completed.

was told that Morris could act only in . conformity with |his
instructions, and that any communications whlch he might
would have to be made as under thé authority and by direction
of the Pre51dent of the United States The consuderatlon nd

tions would, of coqrse depend upon his own views of his d ty.
In the coursenf ‘the conv ersanon whxch followed, all the ¢com-

captured persons who were still detained. Morris was ind
to defer this until he could communicate with those who had
released.

ceedings upon them (whicli were still in progress) shoul

modore Morris to the Albany, where they saw and conversed
the 42 persons who had been liberated the day before®

From the statements of these persons it appeared that from|the
time of their capture almost 1ip to thé time of their release tﬁhe'y
had been more or less confined by leg-shackles, and generally{ on
the lower gun-deck of the Spanish ship-of-the-line Soberano.| In
other respects none of them made any complaint of gross|ill-
treatment. Nane of the original number had died, and all wWere
then present. When any had been sick, they had been sent to
the hospital until they were well enough to return to the shrp.
All of them appeared to be in good health, excepting one wha
had returned from the hospital the day they were liberated.

The Albany sailed for Pensacola, with these men, on the mém-
ing of the 13th, with orders to hold them on board until Cbm-
mander Randolph should receive directions relative to them ffom
the administration at Washington. Upon the arrival of the Albany
at Pensacola, Randolph was instructed by Commodore Newtof to
proceed to Mobile and to deliver the men over to the United States
Marshal for the southern district of Alabama. After performing
this duty, Randolph returned to Pensacola.

On the 15th, Commodore Morris had another interview with
the captain general at which he made the formal demand |for

ith

' nThe men had been transferred from the Congress to the 4Ibany for
transportat)on to the United States. -

be
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the ten prisoners who were still detained. The captain general,

in reply, stated that these persons were then in the possession and ~

under the control of the judicial tribunals, and that until those
tribunals should decide on the guilt or innocence of the men, he
could not lawfully interfere with them. He stated also that the
master of the Georgiana, the mate of that vessel, and the mate of
the Susan Loud were all that were on trial, and that the seamen
were detained only as witnesses. He concluded by repeating
assurances of his great respect for the President of the United
States, and of his own desire to preserve friendly relations between
Spain and the United States by all means that were consistent
with his duties toward his own country.

By an arrangement with the general of marine, Commodore
Morris and Consul Campbell visited, on the morning of the 16th,
all the persons who were still detained. The two officers were told
that the master of the Georgiana (Mr. Benson) had been sent to
the hospital about the 14th of the month, in consequence of having
shown symptoms of insanity. They found him there, suffering
fromr mania of a violent character. Although he recognized
the consul and a Spanish officer, he was evidently unable to com-
prehend and did not notice anything that was said to him. His
mind appeared to dwell upon Lopez, whom he thought to be in the
company of his visitors, and on whom he was frequently calling.
The chief of the hospital promised to have him placed in the ward
for the insane, and that every attention would be given to alleviate
his condition. The two mates and the scamen, except one at the
hospital, were on board the Soberana. On being questioned as
to the treatment they had received, they said that they had no
complaint to make; that when any of gthem had been sick, they
had been sent to the hospital; and that none of them had died.

, The permission to visit the master and the mates had been
. granted to the commodore and the consul as a special favor; for,
by the Spanish laws, the prisoners were not allowed, at that
stage of their trial, to communicate with any”but the officers of
the law. The American officers were therefore requested not to
question the prisoners on the subject of their capture and trial,
but every liberty was granted to question' them about their
condition and treatment. Commodore Morris was also authorized
to inform the seamen that they were merely being held as witnesses,

and that they would be released as soon as their testimony should
be closed.

e Lo s
o

- sidered the capture of those vessels as authorized by the
- of nations and were regulating all their proceedings accordin ly.
- On being questioned by Morris, the Fiscal of Marine said that

- dated December 15, 1851, President Fillmore transmitted to that
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.. From the * dictamen ” of the Auditor of War and Navy, whjch
decided the case of the two captured vessels and the passen

the evidence to be used at the pending trials would be the testim ny
of the seamen, the declarations of the pafrties, and the pa
found in the vessels. Morris was also assured that the trials
would be closed without other delay than was due to their great
importance. Morris, believing that his longer stay at Havina

Eventually, all but three of the prisoners were found gu
by the Cuban maritime court. The master of the Georgiana
the mates of the two vessels were sentenced to long terms
penal servitude. The condemned men had already started
their destination, when the Queen of Spain, in October, 1
desiring to give a new proof of friendship to the United S
and of especial deference to our new Secretary of State, Dani
Webster, was pleased to exempt the master of the Georgiana £
all personal punishment, and also extended her royal cleme
to the other men. The Spanish Government accordipgly t
proper measures to set them at liberty the momwhz; reac
Spain.

It seemed to be the policy of Webster to try to conciliate Spain,
and the two sailing vessels were allowed to be confiscated by a
Spanish prize court, although it was in time of peace, withbut
any serious protest from the United States Government.”

Lopez made still another filibustering attempt in the summeg of
1851. On the 11th of August, he landed with 480 men on the
northern coast of Cuba, where he left Colonel Crittenden 3nd
100 men, and started to the interior, expecting to be joined by the

in the Vixen on the afternoon of the 16th of July.

dy
information respecting the seizure and confiscation of the Georgiana and
Susan Loud. The documents were printed as House Executive Dgcu-
ment No. 83, 32d Cong,, 1st Sess. In furtRer compliance with a resolutio_n
of the House, dated March 10, 1854, President Pierce transmltte.d afldi-
tional information in this connection. Thesé documents were printed as
House Executive Document No. 86, 33d [Cong,, 1st Sess.

7

S

®In compliance with a resolution of the House of Reprgsentatt'%es,
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people. He was again disappointed. His army was attacked and
dispersed. Crittenden and his party were captured and shot.

wards exe

Lopez andciix of his companions were also captured, and after- =

ed at Havana. Of 226 prisoners who remained alive,

135 were sent to Spain under sentence of hard labor. Those who °

were left in Havana were released through the action of Com-
modore F oxpall A. Parker, who had been named by the President
a special commissioner under the State Department to confer with
the captain general of C#ba in the matter. Those who had been
sent to Spain were also subsequently released at the earnest solici-
tation of the American minister at Madrid.”

France and England now issued orders to their naval com-
manders to prevent by force, if necessary, the landing of ad-
venturers from any nation on the island of Cuba with hostile
intent. This action led to a solemn warning in the presidential
message of 1851. President Fillmore said in this connection:

The maritime rights of the United States are founded on a firm,
secure, and well-defined basis; they stand upon the ground of national
independencd and public law, and will be maintained in all their full and
just extent. .. ... No American ship can be allowcd to be visited or
searched for th® purpose of ascertaining the character of individuals on
board, nor can there be allowed any watch by the vessels of any foreign
nation over American vessels on the coasts of the United States or the
seas adjacent thereto.™

The various demonstrations under Lopez, and the general tone

of encouragement accorded to those movements by the press

*and by public opinion, offered flattering inducements for the for-
-warding of other such enterprises. We find, accordingly, in July,
1853, William Walker organizing a force in San Francisco, for

the conquest of the department of Sonora, in northern Mexico.

The brig Arrow, in which the party were about to embark, was

seized by the federal authorities, and the expedition frustrated.

Opposition, however, only added to the number of \Walker’s re-

N>
® Chadwick, Relations of the United States and Spain (Diplomacy),

pPp. 236-8. -
" Fillmore, Message, Dec. 2, 1851. The American position was later
stated most clearly as follows: “ American vessels on the high seas, in

time of peace, bearing the American flag, remain under the jurisdiction
of the country to which they belong, and therefore any visitation, molesta-
tion, or detention of such vessel by force, or by the exhibition of force,
on the part of a foreign power, is in derogation of the sovereignty of the
United States.” (Senate Resolution, June 16, 1858.)

>
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"cruits, and on the 15th of October he left San Francisco, in the

tark Caroline, and landed in La Paz, Lower California.”

By February, 1854, desertions, wounds, and sickness had re-|

duced Walker’s effective force to 130 men. A Mexican brig-of-
war blockaded the mouth of the harbor of Ensenada to prevent
reinforcements from reaching him and on February 11 the United

" States sloop-of-war Portsmouth arrived in the harbor. The officers
of the Portsmouth visited Walker at his headquarters. The visit|.

boded no good to the filibuster cause, and Walker hastened his
departure, spiking and burying all his guns but one, which he

took with him, and leaving behind eight sick and wounded men.|

These were taken care of by Captain Dornin, of the Portsmouth,
and carried to San Diego.”

*Wells, Walker's Expedition, pp. 23-24.
* Scroges,  Filibusters and Financiers, pp. 43-44.
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HI. Tue DoMusARDMENT OF GREYTOWN, NICARAGUA, i8§4

In 1853, the scenc of American filibustering shifted to ¢ex;ar/,
America, and in particular to the republic of Nicaragua. Events
had been leading up to this ever since the year 1848. A few days
after the conclusion of the treaty of Guadalupe Hidalgo, by
which the United States became the rightful owners of Cali-
fornia, and thus invested with augmented special interest in the
political condition of Central America, the American Gov erhment
learned that a military expedition, under the authority &f the
British Government, had landed at Greytown, (or San Juan del
Norte, as it was then called), in the state of Nicaragua, and taken
forcible possession of that port, which was the necessary tcrmmus
of any canal or railway to be constructed across the isthmus within
the territories of Nicaragua. It did not diminish the unw eicome-
COMMANDER G. N. HOLLINS. U. 5. . ness to us of this act on the part of Great Britain to find that she

' assumed to justify it on the ground of an alleged protectorshlp of ¢

a small and obscure band of uncivilized Indians, whose proper
name even had become lost to history, who did not constjtute a
state capable of territorial sovereignty, either in fact or of: right,
and all political interest in whom, and in the territory they occu-
pied, Great Britain had previously renounced by successive treaties
with Spain, when Spain was sovereign of the country, and sub-
v sequently with independent Spanish America. i

Nevertheless, and injuriously affected as the United States con-
ceived itself to be by this act of the British. Government, and by
its occupation about the same time of insular and of continental
portions of the territory of Honduras, we remembered the many

¥
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and powerful ties and mutual interests by which Great Britain
and the United States were associated, and we proceeded in earnest
good faith, and with a sincere desire to do whatever might
strengthen the bonds of peace between us, to negotiate with Great
Britain a convention to assure.the perfect neutrality of all inter-
oceanic communications across the isthmus, and, as the indis-
pensable condition of such neutrality, the absolute independence
of the states of Central America and their complete sovereignty
within the limits of their own territory, as well against Great
3ritain as against the United States. That object was supposed
to have been accomplished by the convention of April 19, 185
(the Clayton-Bulwer treaty), which would never have been signed
or ratified on the part of the United States but for the conyiction
that, in virtue of its provisions, neither Great Britain nor the
United States wasthereafter to exercise any territorial sovereignty,
in fact or in name, in any part of Central America, however or
whensoever acquired, either before or afterwards. The essential
object of the convention—the neutralization of the isthmus—
would, of course, become a nullity if either Great Britain or the
United States were to continue to hold exclusively islands or main-
land of the isthmus, and more especially if, under any claim of
protectorship of Indians, either government were to remain forever
sovereign 'in ‘fact of the Atlantic shores of the three states of
Costa Rica, Nicaragua, and Honduras.

But in August, 1831, more than a year after the Clayton-Bulwer

treaty had-been perfected, a British vessel-of-war appeared iz -

the fine_ and commanding harbor of Ruatan, an island belonging

to the repubhc of Honduras. The captain of this vessel, an officer :

named Jolley, then proceeded to organize the island as a dependency
of Belize (sometimes called British Honduras); and in July,
1852, a proclamation was made from Belize as follows:

OFFICE OF THE COLONIAL SECRETARY,

BenizE, ]LYLY 17, 1852
This is to give notice that Her most Gracious Majesty our Queen has
been pleased to constitute and make the islands of Ruatan, Bonacca, Utila,
Barbarat, Helene, and Morat, to be a colony. to be known and designated
s “The Colony of the Bay Islands.”
By command of Her Majesty’s Superintendent,

X Auvcustus Fren. Goke, Colonial Secretary.
God save the Queen!

»
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The British continued to hold possession of the Ruatan Islands
up to 1856, and by the occasional presence of an English man-
of-war at Greytown, continued their old pretensions to the Mos-
quito Coast. The threatened abrogation of the Clayton-Bulwer
treaty restored matters to their old footing, except that the course
of manifest destiny, during the intervening five years of drivelling

i cy, ordained the occupation of the country by another
race, in whom Great Britain found more energetic sticklers for
the rights of their adopted soil than the dreamy and enfeebled
ceatures who for the preceding three centuries had claimed'it
as a home.

In March, 18352, Greytown was constituted a “ free city,” sub-
ject to the paramount authority of any power which might be
decided to hold the government of the country to which Greytown
belonged. All of its municipal regulations, port charges, and
castoms duties were determined by a mayor and council, who
were, however, mere creatures of the DBritish consul, the lat(’er
being virtually a dictator. The authorities of Greytown were
formally acknowledged by the government of Great Britain, and
Vice Admiral Sir George Seymour withdrew his ships from tl‘gat
station, as being no longer necded, thereby virtually confirming
in the hands of, and ackowledging the ability of, the new govern-
ment to maintain its laws. The people of Greytown looked with
confidence for a similar recognition on the part of the Unit;ed
States. ;

At the time of which we are speaking, citizens of the United
States had already established in the territory of Nicaragua a
regular interoceamic transit route (the Accessory Transit Com-
pany), second in utility and value only to the one previously
established in the territory of New Granada. By the year 1853,
the Nicaragua route was doing a good business between New
York and San Francisco. The trip between the two places was
sometimes made in 19 days, which was shorter than by way of
Panama. The steamer from New York went to Greytown, and
there the passengers were put on board light-draft stern-wheel
steamboats, which went up the San Juan River to Lake \ma-
ragua. There, at a village called Fort San Carlos, the passeng\ers
were transferred to commodious side-wheel steamboats, in which
they crossed the lake to Virgin Bay, and from Virgin Bay they
crossed in a conveyance of some kind to San Juan del Sur. a
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distance of 10 miles, and then went on board the ocean Stﬁmer

for San Francisco. S

The condition of Nicaragua would doubtless have been. much
more prosperous at this time, but for the occupation of Grcyto“
by Great Britain and the disturbing authority set up and sustained
by that power in the Mosquito Coast, by means of which the
domestic sovereignty of Nicaragua became impaired, its public
lands withheld from settlement, and itself deprived of all the
revenue which it would otherwise have collected o
important merchandise at Greytown. The United States Govern-
ment had never recognized the sovereignty of a King of Mosquito,
or the protectorate of Great Britain over Grevtown. Danid
Webster, as Secretary of State, had, however, declared, iy a letter
to Commodore Foxhall A. Parker, dated March 13, 1852, that
“a temporary recognition of the existing authority of the place

JLAay ‘.;‘Ji’:

(San Juan de Nicaragua, or Greytown), sufficient to countenance -

any well-intended endeavors on its part to preserve the public
peace and punish wrong-doers, would not be inconsistent with
the Pplicy and honor of the United States ”; and he accordingly
directed the commodore, in the name of the President of the
United States, * to repair to Greytown, and, in conjunction with
Her Britannic Majesty's admiral on the West India Station, to
see that all reasonable municipal and other regulations in foree
there were respected by the vessels and citizens of the United
States resorting thither.”. Webster, also, learning that in an a»
semblage of persons styling themselves citizens of Greytown, held
there on the 28th of February, 1852, resolutions had been passed
to send a deputation to the capital of the republic of Nicaragm
for the purpose of soliciting a charter for their city, requested,
on the 18th of March following, Secretary of the Navy Graham
to give to the American citizens, believed to have formed a majority
of said assemblage, timely warning * that they would not b¢
countenanced by his government in any attempt, ‘forcibly or other-
wise, to subvert the acting authorities.”
election of new municipal authorities at Greytown, in conformity
with the constitution of March 29, 1852, and after the conclusion
of the new treaty between the United States and Great Britajn
signed on the 3oth of April of the same year, Lord Clarendon
stated, in a despatch to the British minister at Washington, dated
July 22, 1853, that both the British and American govgrnments

Qubsequent]) , after the’

1
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had ordered their naval commanders to support the governnjent
de facto of Greytown ; and Secretary of State Marcy, ina despitch
to Mr. Ingersoll, the American minister at London, dated June 9,
1853, referring to said joint order, says that its purpose \\as to
preserve the public peace at Greytown, and to punish wréng-
doers. |

The harbor of Greytown was formed by an island at the mouth
of the San Juan River, and lying opposite to the town. On 'this
istand (called Punta Arenas) the Transit Company had its store-
houses, and as long as the California passengers were detained
occasionally and sent ashore to the town to pass a night or two,
everything went smoothly. Finally, however, the company: de-
cided to build a hotel on the island, to keep the passengers or its
side of the river during the transit, and to prevent their landing
at Greytown at all—in short, to do all the “ skinning” itself.
This was more than the Greytowners could stand, and they accord-
ingly declared war to the knife.' .

On February 3, 1853, the ““council” of Greytown passed a-
resolution ordering the Accessory Transit Company to remove
within five days the buildings which it had just completed: on
Punta Arenas, and also to vacate the entire tract within 30 days.
The company naturally ignored the demand ; and the agent of!the
company, agreeable to instructions received from his principal? in
New York, proceeded to call on the British warship Geyser for
protection. Captain Wilson, of the Geyser, how ever, mformed
the agent that he could render him no assistance. ~ Getting wind
of this state of affairs, the American sloop-of-war Cyane, Com-
mander George- N. Hollins, repaired to Greytown in order: to
keep the peace. The Cyane arrived on the 10th of February, and
the agent of the company at once appealed to Commander Hollins
for protection. ;

A portion of the property had already been destroyed, and &he
authorities of Greytown were proceeding to destroy the rest, when -
Hollins decided to dispatch his first lieutenant, Theodore P. Grei;n,
to the mayor of Greytown, with orders to state that infomatpn
had been lodged with the American commander that on the suc-
ceeding day (February 11) a writ of ejectment would be serv;ed
by the Greytown authorities upon the Transit Company, and'in

PN

f

! Parker, “ Recollections of a Naval Officer,” 165.
" .
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case of the company’s refusal to remove the property, force would

be used to compel them. Lieutenant Green found the councll
~~assembled, the mayor presiding, made the statement, and requested

their answer. He was told to inform Commander Hollins that
the process was a legal one, and that they would carry it into eﬂ‘q;t
on the succeeding day, at 11 o'clock in the morning, unless’ pre-
vented by a stronger force. - ,

On the morning of the 11th, at 9 o’clock, Hollins went ashore
to pay his respects to the mayor, and was received in the councl
chamber, the council being assembled. Hollins again informed
them that in obedience to his orders he was compelled to put a
stop to any depredations upon the property of the Transit Com-
pany. The mayor replied that “ no depredations would be com-
mitted, they only intended to pull the building down.” The mayot
then requested a statement in writing of Hollins' intentions to
prevent the execution of the process, which Hollins acceded to,
and then withdrew to the ship.

Purser Charles C. Upham and Acting Licutenant Willam H.
Parker, of the Cyane, shortly afterwards returned from a visit to
the town, bringing information that the troops were under arms
and preparations making to procged against P'unta Arenas and
its occupants, and that threats were being made to destroy the
property by fire. Orders wére accordingly given to land a marine
guard on the Point, under the command of Licutenant William
Decatur Hurst, with instructions to inform the marshal that the
property could not be molested, to warn off all suspected persons,
and to prevent the execution of the threats. The marshal, upon
being asked his business by Licutenant Hurst, replied, “ to tear
down the buildings.” Lieutenant Hurst then informed the mar-
shal of his orders to protect the property of the company, and
that he intended to obey and carry them out, whereupon the mar-
‘shal immediately mustered his “ posse of carpenters” 'and re-
turned to Greytown.

From the many threats and the manifest excjtement among
the inhabitants of Greytown, Holling deemed it necessary to con-
tinue the guard on Punta Arenas, about the property of the

Transit Company, pgrticularly at night. He also thought it

proper to warn the citizens of Greytown of his intentions as t0

the persons and property of citizens of the United States who -

might be molested. One such instance had indeed already occurred
An American physician, named H. W. Wagner, was assaulted, on

" Nicaragua will pass within hail of the ship under my command.f
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March 14, in the most gross and indecent manner by three perso"ns
belonging to the militia of the town, who alleged, as an excuse,
that Wagner had made false statements about the authont es
havmg destroyed property belonging to another American cmzcn
Aocordmgly Hollins issued the following notice : i_

Inasmuch as no competent authority is in existence in the town of San
]nan de Nicaragua to protect the property or persons of American or otfxer
dtirens, and information having been lodged with me that an assault was
committed upon the person of an American citizen by some person or pkr-
sons in said town, I hereby warn all persons in said town that in case 'of
any further molestation of any citizen or property, I shall take such stéps
as to bring the offender to punishment.

And further, that all boats to and from Point Arenas and Sa

Hollins was soundly abused by the Greytowners for th H t
he bore it philosophically, especially as the proclamation whs
heeded” |

Shortly afterwards, the Geyser again arrived off Greytoﬁih,
under orders from Commodore McQuhae, who, it seems, had
received a dispatch irom the mayor of Greytown, informing hjm
that Hollins had landed the marines of the Cyane, hauled down
the Mosquito flag, taken charge of the town, and blockaded the
harbor. Under this false impression the commodofe had sent
the commander of the Geyser to inquire into the facts of the
case. It was plain that Commodore McQuhae had assumed to"
himself the right to district the limits of the city of Greytown.
He included Punta Arenas within the jurisdiction of the city of
Greytovm thus giving that city the right to execute any dccrce
of their court, no matter how unjust to cither persons or property.
Hollins was fully corivinced, from all that he saw and heard, that
the whole cause of the hostility of Greytown towards the Tran%it
Company procceded from the company’s refusing to move thar
depot and steamers to the city of Greytown, which would have
been detrimental to their best interests. :

In his official report to the \'avy Department, Hollins justifi d'
his actions in the following terms: : T

Iobe)ed strictly the orders from the Navy Department to protect
Pl’Operty of the Accessory Transit Company, and also took for my guide
instructions of the late honorable Daniel Webster, which prescribes }10

On my arrival here, not having any authority by which I could be guidé;li; i

!Senate Exec. Doc. No. 8, 33d Cong 1st Sess .
* Parker, “ Recollections of a \1\3\1 Officer,” 103.
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special limits to this town, nor recognizes any jurisdiction of its court other
than for its own police purposes, but at the same time gives to commanders
of both American and English vessels of war full power to correct abuses
and settle all difficulties.®

The Navy Department approved the prompt and prudent acti&n
of Hollins, and under date of April 4, 1853, instructed him to

remain in the vicinity of Greytown as long as his presence might

be deemed necessary to protect the property and persons of Arheri-
can citizens. The Secretary of the Navy added:

It is, of course, very important, in order to avoid collision, that your
course should be marked with caution;; but, at the same time, the impression
should be distinctly made that the United States are both able and deter-
mined to protect the property and rights of American citizens. Of course,
you will confine yourself to that one duty, carefully avoiding any act com-
mitting your government in any of the contested questions of jutisdiction
at present disturbing that country.®

In giving its approval ‘to Hollins’ conduct, the Secretary of
the Navy deemed it proper, also, to state to him the real grounds
on which that approval was based.

Your coniduct in affording protection, and saving from destruction the
property of that company, is commended not because of any supposed stipu-
lation for that purpose by convention between Great Britain and the United
States, but because American citizens are largely and chiefly interested in
said company, the charter of which was granted and guaranteed by the State
of Nicaragua, within the limits of which state the town of San Juan is situ-
ated, and which charter was granted even long before any attempt was made
to convert Greytown into what is now alleged to be an independent city.
The authorities of Greytown have no right to interfere with rights and
privileges thus granted by the State of Nicaragua. When they therefore
attempted to destroy the property of the company, your interference is
justified and approved solely because it is regarded as an unauthorized
attempt to disturb the rights of American citizens, and the United States
desire that the American citizen “shall realize that, upon every sea and on
every soil where our enterprise may rightfully seek the protection of our
flag, American citizenship is an inviolable panoply for the security of

American rights.’*

Meanwhile, however, on February 13, 1853  Commander
Hollins received a visit from the British vice consul, Henry Grant
Foot, who had just returned from Bluefields. He brought with
him dispatches from Vice Admiral Seymour and Commodore

McQuhae, of Her Britannic Majesty’s naval forces in the West

Indies, directed to Commodore Parker, with directions to place

* Ibid. ' Ibid, ‘Ibid. .

.
1
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them in the hands of the senior American officer in command, {n
case Commodore Parker should be absent. These dispatches ha,d
reference to the concerting and concluding of such arrangements
between Commodore Parker and Commodore McQuhae as. should
appear to both, conjointly, best suited to carry out the views qf
the British and American governments for the recognition of the
de facto governing authorities of the port of Greytown, until
some permanent arrangement should be concluded for the general
and final settlement of the Mosquito and Central American queq- .
tion then pending between Great Britain, the United States, and
certain of the Central American States.'

By the 16th of April, all was quiet again around Gre.ytowri.
Hollins, however, soon heard rumors that the authorities of Grey-
town threatened the destruction of the Transit Company’s propr
erty as soon as ever he left the harbor. Under these circumstances
he did not deem it advisable to leave the place before being relieved,
or before some positive arrangements could be made with thé
authoritics, by which the property of the company would be
respected. The English commanders in that region also received
orders from their minister at \Washington not to permit thc
property of the company to be molested, but at the same time theiy
orders from the commodore of the station were for them not to
remain in port over 48 hours, on account of preserving the health
of their crews. The Cyane remained at Greytown for 70 day
“The dreariest time,” as one of her officers subsequently wrote,
“1 egr passed in any foreign port, and that is saying a great deal.

‘Our bnly excitement was caused by the arrival of the steamers

from New York and New Orleans, which made fortnightly trip‘é
and brought us our mails, and the arrival of the steamers fron{n

Lake Nicaragua with the San Francisco passengers. 1

On May 30, 1853, the sloop-of-war Albany, Commander ]ams
T. Gerry, arrived at Greytown. The authorities of the place, a's
well as the agents of the Transit Company, immediately called
on Commander Gerry, who soon perceived from their accounts
that a mediator was required to bring the two parties to a mutual

" Ibid, l

* Parker, “ Recollections of a Naval Officer,” 165. The documents bea-
ing upon these transactions between Hollins and the authorities of Grey-

town were called for by the Senate on the 6th of April, 1853, and printed
as Senate Executive Document No. 8, of the 33d Congress, 1st Session. !
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friendly intercourse and a better understanding of each others -

rights and views of subjects in dispute. Commander Gerry ex.
pressed his readiness to intercede and bring about a better feeling,
provided each party should state to him all its grievances, and
provided they consented to be influenced by his advice and opinion,
The scquel showed that both parties had acted under strongly
excited feelings, and that the one was quite as much at Tault 25
the other. But in Commander Gerry’s opinion, the inhabitants
. of Greytown were certainly entitled to more consideration than
the Transit Company had extended to them, inasmuch as many
of them had, at the company’s invitation and through inducements
held out to them, made large investments for accommodating the
passengers of the company when the latter was unable to do so
and depended solely upon the conveniences to be found in Grey-
town. The results of Gerry's investigations were attended with
the most favorable consequences. On the sth of June, he sailed
from Greytown, leaving all parties apparently friends and deter-
mined to settle every point of controversy between them in future
by arbitratign, and not by violence.

Shortly after the arrival of Gerry at Greytown, also, the mayor
informed him that if he wanted a marine who had deserted from
the C'yane to be apprehended, he (the mayor) would order himin
custody of an officer on board the //lbany the following morning,
which was promptly complied with as sct forth.'

About a year later, events again occurred by reason of which
the government of the United States considered itscli justified in
treating Greytown as a hostile city. In March, 1834, new differ-
ences arose between the people of Greytown and the Transit
Company over the question of jurisdiction in Punta Arenas. Mr.
Joseph L. White, agent of the company, left the place on the 17th
of March, without having effected any settlement of the difficulties.
Before leaving, he gave instructions to the captains and pursers
of the steamships to pay no more port charges at Greytown, and
to take no letters or other packages or freight for, ind have no
communication of any nature whatever with, the people of the
town. This proceeding on the part of the company greatly
exasperate] the townspeople. Also, during the month of May,
certain effects belonging to the company were feloniously taken

* House Exec. Doc. No. 86, 33d Cong., 1st Sess., p. 230.

-
i
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£ "authorities.
5‘4,“oocurrence two of the employees of the company were arrested
-t warrants emanating from the town authorities, charged with
‘f'h;mng resisted a legal process and committing an assault, and

- to Wiedemann:
- ..On the evening of the 16th, the Routh arrived at Punta Arenas

. her passengers.
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< away by a servant of the company and conveyed to Greytown,

where they. were withheld from the company by the corporate
And at the same time, and in connection with this

~ were placed under bonds to keep the peace towards the authormes
and citizens of Greytown.

; Moreover, about the middle of May, the United States minister
to Central America, Mr. Solon Borland, was about to leave Nica-
, fagua, and took passage on board the Routh, one of the San Juan
River steamers. Nothing particular occurred during the passage
down the river, until the stcamer was within a few miles of Grey-
town. There Captain T. T. Smith, who was in command of the
Routh, in turning a bend of the river, ran against a bungo freighted
with merchandise which was lying near the shore, and damaged
her by the collision. The master of the bungo began to abuse

: Captain Smith in Spanish, to which the latter retorted fully in

English. \While the steamer was heing extricated from the brush-

= wood, Captain Smith went and got his rifle from the cabin,

vociferating repeatedly, “ I must shoot the fellow; he has used
threatening language that shall cost him his life.”” Shortly after-
wards the master of the bungo was shot down by Captain Smith

- from the upper deck of the stecamer, and the latter then proceeded
v on her way down the river.

Mr. Borland had witnessed, if not the bcgmmng, at least the

greater part of this shooting, from the upper deck, but apparently

made no interference. Another passenger, however, a Mr. H.

* Wiedemann, tried to persuade Captain Smith not to carry out his
_ design. Wiedemann even went so far as twice to prevent Smith

from firing. The third time, Smith exclaimed, “ I am captain of

- this boat, and I will not permit even my best friend to interfere.”

After having committed the deed, he made the following remark
“ I am sorry for this, but I could not help it.”

and went alongside the steamer Northern Light to disembark
About dusk, while the passengers were going
“from one steamer to the other, a bungo, having on board some

- 2§0r 30 armed men, mostly Jamaica negroes, headed by a mulatto
- man calling himself the *

marshal,” came over from Greytown

N
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and ranged up alongside the Routh. The so-called marshal, accom.

panied by several of his armed men, jumped on board the steamer,
and announced his purpose of arresting Captain Smith, by virtue

of a warrant from the mayor of Greytown, on the charge of -

murder. Captain Smith, however, refused to be arrested and
armed himself for resistance. .

At this stage of the proceedings, Minister Borland, who was at
the time on board the Northern Light, was informed of what was
going on. He immediately went on board the Routh, where he
found a crowd of persons, among them a number of the armed
men from the bungo, in a high state of excitement. The marshal,
with his men, was attempting to arrest Captain Smith; and the
latter, standing at the cabin door, was keeping them at bay. Mr.
Borland at once interposed, telling the marshal that no aurhority
recognized by the United States existed at Greytown to arrest
or in any way to interfere with an American citizen, and ordered
him to withdraw his men from the steamer and go away. The
marshal proposedMo exhibit the mayor’s warrant under which he
was acting, but this Mr. Borland declined to examine.

After some hesitation, the marshal announced his purpose of
withdrawing, as advised by Mr. Borland. Dut while this was
going on, and before the marshal and his men had left the steamer,
much excitement was manifested among the men who had re-
mained on board the bungo. Loud, threatening language was used
by them, and, brandishing their weapons, several at once rushed
on board the steamer. At this moment, Mr. Borland, taking a rifle
from the hands of a bystander, stepped over the railing upon the
guards, and warned thie men in the bungo to keep off, and at
their peril not to put a foot on the steamer. Upon this, the
movement towards boarding the steamer ceased, and in a few
minutes the marshal and his men returned to the bungo, and she
returned to Greytown.

About dark, Mr. Borland, accompanied by Mr. Scott, a son of
- the agent of the Transit Company, boarded one of the boats of

the Northern Light and went across the harbor to Greytown, in -

order to visit Mr. Fabens, our commercial agent. Soon after
arriving there, Mr. Borland heard that at a meeting of the people
of the town, held at the station-house, and presided over by the
mayor, it had been proposed, and seemingly agreed to, that he
(Mr. Borland) should be arrested. In a few minutes the execu-
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tion of this act was attempted. A loud knocking was heard ht
the lower doors of Mr. Fabens’ house, and upon his going fo
ascertain the cause, a body of men, armed with muskets, coh-
sisting in part of the regular police of the town, and headed by|a
Jamaica negro, inquired for Mr. Borland, and declared their p
pose of arresting him. )

the arrest of Captain Smith. Mr. Borland then repeated to th
what he had said to the marshal about their want of authori
and inquired of them if they were not aware of his exemption
from arrest in his capacity of minister of the United States.
this they replied that they cared nothing for all that, but that thpy
had come to arrest him, and meant to do it. He then warned th
of the serious consequences to themselves and to all concernéd
with them, if they proceeded to the extremities they proposed.
They replicd that they knew the consequences and were prepared
to mect them. Mr. Borland then declared that they must proceed
at their peril, and called several gentlemen, who were in an up
room, to come down and be witness of the threatened assault upén
him. Thereupon the leader of the armed force called a Mr. Mart
who was ex-mayor, as if for the purpose of consultation, and
Martin not answering, they went off a little from the door,
the direction where, from their manner, they expected to find hitn.

About this time, Mr. Borland still standing at the door, the
mayor (a Frenchman) came up and said that these proceedings
had been without his order and authority. To his propositipn
whether the minister would be satisfied with an address signed
by all the respectable inhabitants of the place, expressing thgir
indignation at the insult, Mr. Borland replied: “ It is not I who
have been insulted, but the government of the United States fin
my person.” This naturally cut off all further endeavors on the
part of the inhabitants to redress the matter. While this
versation was going on, some one from the crowd threw a brokgn
bottle which struck Mr. Borland and slightly wounded him [in
the face. The particular person who threw the missile was
recognized, as the night was dark and there was a crowd on the
porch abo_* the door. Soon after this, the crowd dispersed.
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Mr. Fabens, the commercial agent, then procured a canoe ang
crossed the harbor to the Northern Light, to make known the stage
of affairs on the other side. A meeting was held, at which it was
agreed to'send a committee of three gentlemen to consult with
Mr. Boland as to the best steps to be taken. These gentlemen,

“with Mr. Fabens, proceeded in one of the steamer’s boats to the
town ; but upon approaching the shore, they were hailed by 2 num-
ber of armed men, who fired one gun over the hoat, and threatened
to fire into them it they attempted to land, and this although
informed that Mr. Fabens was on board and desired to go to his
consulate. Thus forcibly prevented from landing, the boat re-
turned to the Northern Light. During the night, Greytown was
occupied by armed men, whose scntinels were stationed between
the American consulate (where Mr. Dorland still was) and _the
harbor, challenging all who attempted to pass, preventing boats
from landing or leaving, and thus keeping Mr. Borland a prisoner
all night.

The next mornigg, Mr. Borland procured a hoat and returned
on board the Northern Light, where he was informed by Mr.
Fabens of the violent and lawless disposition manifested by the
people of Greytown. The persons and property of our citizens
were not deemed safe from aggression, or from destruction, in
the ‘absence of force sufficient to protect them. A meeting of
the passengers was accordingly held, at which Mr. Borland pro-
posed to engage the services of 50 men to remain and afford
the necessary protection, until our government, informed of the
state of affairs, should send a proper force for the purpose. The
requisite number of men volunteered, and were organized under
the command of Crawford Fletcher. Mr. Fabens took up his
abode under their protection, while Mr. Borland embarked in
the Northern Light to proceed forthwith to Washington and lay
the matter before the government.

The Northern Light sailed on the evening of the 17th, The
next marning the British war-steamer Argus arrived. _The people
of Greytown at once applied to her commander for an order to
disperse the force of Americans at Punta Arenas, which he
declined giving. The Argus remained four days in port, and
sailed for Port Royal, Jamaica. On the morning of the arrival
of the Argus, all the authorities of Greytown resigned their offices.

_ The station-house, with the arm's and ammunition belonging to

»
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the town, continued in the possession of the Jamaica negraes,
the same who had committed the outrage related above. .
,_With respect to the existing controversy between the authdri-
;tia of Greytown and the Transit Company, it was alleged by the
residents of Greytown that the agents of the company. wished|to

overthrow the authorities for. two reasons: first, to relieve the

company from port charges; and, secondly, to secure to certain
employees of the company possession and title to lands within the
jurisdiction of Greytown, acquired under an imperfect title. |In
order to carry out their object, it was alleged that the President
of the United States was informed that it was due to the pfo-
tection of American property there located, and in transit acréss
the territory occupied by them, that Greytown should be destroyed
and the inhabitants thereof dispersed. Accordingly, the Presi-
dent sent the sloop-of-war Cyane to the harbor of Greytown,
with instructions to demand that immediate indemnity in a large
amount should be made to the Transit Company, with prompt
apology for the insult offered the United States minister,
satisfactory assurance for the future good behavior of the com-
munity.”

On June 10, the Cyane, which was then in New York, was

ordered to proceed to Greytown. The orders to Commander -

Hollins included the following admonition:

It is very desirable that these people should be taught that the United

States will not tolerate these outrages, and that they have the power and the
determingtion to check them. It is, however, very much to be hop;d that
you can effect the purposes of your visit without a resort to violence
destruction of property and loss of life. The presence of your vessel
no-doubt, work much good. The department reposes much in your prudefice
and good sense.

Meanwhile, on June 24, our consul, Mr. Fabens, notified
late “acting authorities and the people of the town” that
United States Government would require of them reparation
the wrongs they had committed against our citizens. He recei
no official reply, the town being, as has been said, without politi
organization. But the information which reached Fabens thtod
private sources was to the effect that the people of the town w
fullj determined to make no pecuniary redress, either to t
Transit Cempany or to the government of the United States,

a0 0 A o o

”House Rept. No. 281, 36th Cong., 1st Sess.
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any obnoxious acts they might have committed. In the matter

of the personal.assault upon Mr. Borland, they were especally

insulting in their remarks, and regretted, to use their own langu'age'
that they had not kept him a prisoner at Greytown and made him
answerable for the act alleged to have been committed by Captain
Smith. :

The Cyane arrived at Greytown on July 11. After conferring
on the situation, it was decided by Mr. Fabens and Commander
Hollins that it would be expedient to renew the demand already
made for reparation, and in such a manner as to impress the
people of the town with the idea that satisfaction for their past
injuries and insults towards American citizens- must and would
be had. Thereupon Fabens proceeded at once to Punta Arenas,
to agree with Mr. Scott, agent of the Transit Company, as to
the sum of money proper to be demanded for the losses and
damages suffered by the company. Mr. Scott placed the sum at
six thousand dollars. This amount being fully approved by Com-
mander Hollins, oh the same evening the demand was made, as
follows:

CoMMERCIAL AGENCY, UNITED STATES oF AMERICA,
Sax JUAN pEL NORTE, Ni1cArRAGUA, July 11, 1854,
To those now or lately pretending to and exercising authority {n, and to
the people of, Sas Juan del Norte:

GENTLEMEN: On the 24th ultimo, in accordance with the instructions
of the government of the United States of America, I notified you that the
said government would require of you immediate reparation for the prop-
erty belonging to the Accessory Transit Company, which was stolen from
the said company and received by you, as specified in my letter of that date,
as well as for all damages suffered by their agents and employés while
endeavoring to repossess themselves of the same. I have now, acting in
concert with Commander Hollins, of the United States ship Cyane, at pres-
ent in this harbor, to demand of you immediate payment of the sum of
sixteen thousand dollars, which has been adjudged to be the proper sum
for you to pay for the said property and the gross outrages perpetrated by
you upon the persons of American citizens, as set forth in protests of Mr.
Scott of the 12th May last, copies of which have already been served upon
you. R )
There is likewise a claim of the Accessory Transit Company versus the
acting authorities of San Juan del Norte for the sum of eight thousand
* dollars, as specified in my letter to you of the 24th ultimo. This you will
be likewise expected to pay forthwith.

For the indignity offered to the United States of America in the conduct

of the authorities and people of this town towards their minister, Mr. Bor-
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land, while recently in this place, nothing short of an apology, promptl
made, and satisfactory assurances given to Commander Hollins of futur
good behavior on the part of said authorities and people towards the Unite
States and her public functionafies, who may in future be here, will sav
the place from the infliction which its late acts justly merit.
' Your obedient servant, :
Josern W, FaBENS,
United States Commerciol Agent.

¢

To this demand, the sarhe reply, substantially, was given as t

the previous one, only it was couched in more insolent languags. -

But the presence in the harbor, at the time, of the British wa
schooner Bermuda may have had some influence on the condu
of the people of Greytown on this occasion.

On the 12th of July, Hollins decided to give the offenders 2
hours’ further notice to render satisfaction, and if this was no#
offered at the expiration of that time, to bombard the town. H
accordingly, on the morning of that day, issued the following
proclamation : g

A A e g

PROCLAMATION

To all men to whom these presents shall come, or to whopt they may con
cern, greeting: .
Know ye, that whereas certain gross outrages have, at sundry times, beeh
perpetrated by the *authorities” (so called) and people of San Juan del
Norte upon the persons and property of American citizens at that place anl
vicinity, and whereas a serious insult and indignity has been offered to the
United States in the conduct of the said authorities and people towards MF.
d

o

Borland, United States minister to Central America, for which outrage an
insult no indemnity has been given, and no satisfactory reply retprned {
demands already made: )

Now, therefore, I, George N. Hollins, commander of the United State
ship of war Cyane, by virtue of my instructions from the United States Goy
ernment at Washington, do hereby solemnly proclaim and declare, that |f
the demands for satisfaction in the matters above-named, specified in the
letter of Mr. Fabens, United States commercial agent, dated 11th instant
are not forthwith complied with, I shall, at 9 o'clock a. m., of to-morrm;

w

13th instant, proceed to bombard the town of San Juan del Norte_aforesai
to the end that the rights of our country and citizens may be vindicated, ar
as a guarantee for future protection. 4

Georce N. HoLLixs, Commander.

U.S. SHIP “ Cyang”
HaRBOR OF SAN JUAN DEL NORTE, NICARAGUA, 9 a. m., July 12, 1854,

Copies of this proclamation Fabens caused to be posted in the
three most conspicuous parts of the town, where they wete

|
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\

universally read. The British man-of-war Bermuda was still ly

in the &arbor, right between the Cyane and the shore. The British
captain, W. D. Jolley, refused to move out of range until the
guns of the Cyane had been trained so as to rake his decks, wbq;
he reluctantly dropped astern. At the same time, he entered

a protest against this course of conduct on the part of the-Ameri-
can commander. He wrote to Hollins as follows:

The inhabitants of this city, as well as the houses and propirty, are
entirely defenceless and quite at your mercy. I do therefore notify yon that
such an act will be without precedent among civilized nations; and I beg to
call your attention to the fact that a large amount of property of British
subjects, as well as others, which it is my duty to protect, will be destroyed;
but the force under my command is so totally inadequate for this protection
against the Cyane, 1 can only enter this my protest. '

To which Commander Iollins at once replied:

The people of San Juan del Norte have seen fit to commit outrages upon
the property and persons of citizens of the United States after a manner
only to be regarded ag piratical, and I am dirccted to enforce that reparatios
demanded by my government. Be assured I sympathize with yourself in the

risk of English subjects and property under the circumstances, and regret
" exceedingly the force under your command is not doubly equal to that of

the Cyane

_This disparity in force, as one chronicler has it, “is to be
regretted, in view of the wearisome and vain diplomacy afterwards
spent upon a question which force alone, or the show of it, could
finally settle.” * :

On the morning of the 12th, as an carnest of his intentions as
set forth in the proclamation, Commander Hollins dispatched a
guard of marines and seamen, under the command of Lieutenants
Pickering and Fauntleroy, to secure the arms and ammunition’in
the town, as an evident disposition was manifest among the people
to make an improper use of them; and also to assist and protect
Mr. Fabens and others in the removal of their property. This
duty was quickly performed, and the arms and other things
deposited on Punta Arenas, in charge of the agent of the Transit
Company, to await further disposition. At the same time, for-
eigners generally; and those favorable to the United States, were
notified that a steamer would be in readiness on the morning of

* Senate Exec, Doc. No. 83, and House Exec. Doc. No. 126, 33d Cong,, 1st
Sess.

" Roche, “ Story of the Filibusters,” 68, -
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the day of the bombardment, to convey such as were disposed
to a place of safety. .
~~ Agreeable to promise, a steamer was sent to the to“n at day
light on the morning of the 13th. Ounly a few of the inhabitant
accepted the proffered assistance, and were conveyed to Puntg
Arenas. The majority of the inhabitants either from fnght of
from a wish to set at defiance the threats made agamst the town,
had left, or were willing to remain and risk the consequenced
Hollins had hoped that the show of determination on the part of
his ship would, at this stage of the proceedings, have broughk
about a satisfactory adjustment of the differences; but this totg
disregard for and contempt toward the government of the United
States determined him to execute his threats to the letter.
At g o'clock, on the morning of the 13th of July, the Cyane’s
batteries were opened on the town with shot and shell for thred
quarters of an hour, followed by an intermission of equal duratioy
after which the batteries were opened again for half an houf
followed by a second intermission of three hours. At the expira
tion of this time, the firing was recommenced and continued f
20 minutes, when the bombardment ceased. The object of thege
several intervals in the bombardment was, that an opportunity
treat and satisfactorily arrange matters might be furnished tHe
inhabitants of the town. No advantage was taken of this con-
sideration, and at 4 p. m., a command, under Lieutenants Pickeri
and Fauntleroy, was sent on shore with orders to complete tll‘
destruction of the town by fire. The property of Mr. De Barwell,
a Frenchman, was directed to be exempted from destruction,
possible, as Hollins had learned that he had protested agains
and had held himself aloof from, any co-operation with the towns
people or pretended authorities of Greytown. The town was thus
destroyed, for the greater part, in the short space of two hours.
No lives were lost, although an attack was made by an armed
party on the command of Lieutenants Pickering and Fauntleroy;
but on the volley being returned, the attacking party fled. The
shots were returned more for the purpose of frightening than
to destroy life, and had the desired effect.
The execution done by shot and shell amounted almost to the
total destruction of the buildings. But it was thought best to
make the punishment of such a character as to,inculcate a lessgn
never to be forgotten by those who had for so long a time st
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at defiance all warnings, as well as to satisfy the whole world that

the United States had the power and determination to enforce
that reparation and respect due them as a government, in what-
ever quarter the outrage might be committed. The property
destroyed was valued by the inhabitants at $1,200,000* :

The Royal Mail-Packet Dee arrived in the harbor during the
conflagration, but left immediately, taking in tow the BZrm'uda,
thus leaving the English subjects referred to in Lieutenant Jolley’s
S e o] L el Ly Bisldalad. Dvo Soinibabication from
Lieutenant Jolley was made with the Cyane prior to his departure,
But Hollins learned that Jolley carried with him a number of the
principal participators in the outrages that had been committed
by the town of San Juan, and among them was the former mayor,
Mr. Martin. On the 14th, Mr. Fabens and his effects) were
removed to the Cyane for safe-keeping, and shortly afterwards
the vessel departed for Boston.”

At the time these events took place, Greytown numbered about
300 inhabitants, f all sorts, consisting of a few Englishmen,
Frenchmen, Germans, and men from the United States, but mainly
of negroes from Jamaica and some natives of the Mosquito Shore,
There were also two or three natives from the interior of Nica-
ragua. The Jamaica negroes constituted the majority, and exer-
cised the greatest influence. At the last election and corporate
organization, no American (except one mulatto man from New
Orleans) was included. Of these people, some 75 to 100 could
be mustered for military service, and they had in their possession
three brass cannons—one 18-pounder and two 12-pounders—and
about 200 muskets. \With the exception of a few persons, these
people owned no property, and had no ostensible means of liveli-
hood. In their anomalous condition, without a government which
any civilized nation could recognize, and occupying, indeed, by
usurpation, territory which our government recognized as belong-
ing to’ Nicaragua, and being, moreover, persons almost without
exception of notoriously bad character, some of themr discharged
penitentiary convicts and refugees from justice, habitually mani-
festing evil dispositions towards our citizens, and indulging those
dispositions to the injury of persons and property whenever they

*House Rept. No. 281, 36th Cong., 1st Sess. :

* Senate Exec. Doc. No. 835, and House Exec, Doc. No. 126, 33d Cong,
Ist Sess. : ;

» *
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were not restrained by force, they could hardly be regarded in
other light than as pirates and outlaws, upon whom punishmen
to the extent of extermination might rightfully be inflicted b
any hand that had the power.” )

- In Mr. Borland’s opinion, at least, the interests of good gov
emment and humanity imposed the duty on any offended party
of inflicting such punishment in a manner at once summary an
effective. “ But it was a pitiable spectacle,” says one historian‘,

“to see a great republic wasting its powder on the miserable hutg

of these outlaws, while the real offenders against its dignity sa
quietly by under the protecting folds of the Union Jack._ Th
guns of the Cyane might with more justice have been turned upo

” 11

the instigators of all the trouble. .

The foregoing is believed to be the only full and connected
account of the bombardment and destruction of Greytown by th
paval forces of the United States. Even Commander Parkerl',
who served on board the Cyasne at the time, and who published hi
* Recollections of a Naval Officer ” in 1883, disposes of the episod
in about four lines. He writes: “ The Cyane returned to Grey,
town in 1854 and bombarded it. I have really forgotten on what
grounds Captain Hollins did this; but it was a nest of pirates,
and the pity is he did not destroy the inhabitants and spare thé
houses.” *

“W. H. Parker, who was an acting licutenant on board the Cyane, says|:
“The town at the time of our visit in the spring of 1853 was inhabited b
a lawless set of desperadoes, of all nations, who had organized some kind °
a city government. The mayor was said to have been an es‘caped convick
from Sing Sing, and I belicve it was so, for the others were ev{dently tan:e
with the same brush. They resembled the old buccaneers in everythin
save courage. These people made a living by preying upon the passen.ger'
passing to and from California, of whom large numbers were fictame?
at Greytown a day or two at a time on their passage—more by dcsngn thaz
by accident. Nearly every house was a hotel.”—Parker, * Recollections o
a Naval Officer,” 164-5. ;

¥ Senate Exec. Doc. No. 83 and House Exec. Doc. No. 126, 33d Cong!
1st Sess.

¥ Scroggs, “ Filibusters and Financiers,” 77-78.

® Parker, “ Recollections,” 170, On July 31, 1854, in compliance Wmv‘#;

joint resolution of both Houses of Congress, dated July 28, President Pierc
transmitted the official documents in regard to the destruction of Greyto
These documents were printed as Senate Executive Document No. 8s, a
also as House Executive Document No. 126, of the 33d Congress, Ist Sessio
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Through the British, French, and German ministers at Wash-
ington, the citizens of Great Britain, France, and the Hanse

Towns who sustained losses in the bombardment of Greytown

tried to secure indemnity from the United States, but without
success.” It remained, however, for certain citizens ‘of the
United States, some years later (in 1860) ,to petition Congress suc.
cessfully with regard to the injuries suffered by them through the
bombardment. These memorialists alleged that the criminaj
charges made against the community of Greytown were untrue
and had Dbeen fabricated by its enemies for the purpose of'
deceiving and misleading the United States Government; angd
they charged that the entire course of the naval and civil repre-
sentatives of the United States then at Greytown was irregular
and unwarrantable, and that they were entitled to indemnity for
the losses sustained in consequence of said destruction of their

. property. The House Committee on Forcign Affairs, regarding

it as the duty of a powerful nation to do exact justice to a
feeble and unprotéctcd people complaining of injury at its hands.
and especially to examine whether citizens of the United State;
had been injured by their own government acting upon false or

insufficient information, recommended the adoption of resolutions
for their relief.”

* See Senate Exec. Docs. Nos. ¢ and 10, 35th Cong., 1st Sess.
* Sce House Rept. No. 281, 36th Cong.. 15t Sess.
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LETTERS ON NAVAL STRATEGY
BASED ON THE NAVAL CAMPAIGN OF 1803
By LieGTEN ANT Hotroway 1. Frost, U. S. Navy

i

FIRST LETTER
1. INTRODUCTION

The German nultary writer Prince Kraft zu liohenlohe-
Ingelfingen in his well-known work *“ Letters on Stratégy " de-
scribes several military campaigns from the point of view of the
commanding generals. By careful and impartial criticism he
shows how leaders have in%ome cases correctly applied the prin-
ciples upon which the art lof strategy is based. In other cases,
where leaders have failed to apply correctly these principles, he
shows the causes which have been responsible for theix;' failure,
Prince Hohenlohe gives us in this way an excellent expdsition of
the principles of military strategy and the various ways in which
they should be applied in land warfare. As yet no one ha covered
the field of naval strategy in this way. It will be my object to
do this. : |

While there are a great number of campaigns on land which
could be used to illustrate the art of military strategy, there have
been comparatively few on the sea which can be used for a study
of naval strategy. ]

You must admit that the greatest naval campaign in hist:ory from
the strategical point of view was that of 1803 between(gx*apoleon
and England. This campaign had the whole Atlantic Ocean for
its stage, and it might well have spread into the Indian Qcean too
had Napoleon wished it. More great leaders played pa\its in this
campaign than in any other on the sea: on the Frenchiside was
the master, Napoleon; on the English side were Pitt} Barham
and Nelson. In addition, and this is most important| for our
purpose, it has been more carefully studied than any other cam-
paign, and in recent years not only the facts, but even thd detailed
plans of the opposing leaders have been set forth by careful
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THE NAVY AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES
(CONTINUED)
By Lotis N. FErpEL

IV, WALKER'S SURRENDER TO Davis IN 1857

While the foregoing events were taking place in and around
Gre:town, the republic of Nicaragua was being rent by revolution.
Two rival parties, the Legitimists and the Democrats, were con-
tending vigorously for the sovereignty. Neither party was strong
enough to overcome the other, or permanently to maintain internal
tranquithty. But in the midst of this political debility, and at a
time when *v.th partics were about exhausted, one of them (the
Democrats). late in the year 18354, accepted the proffered assistance
of a band nf American adventurers, from California, under the
leadership o f one Willam Walker.

The rezentment that had developed in the minds of the American
_people as a result of Great Britain’s occupation of Central Ameri-

A “ ean territory was not without its effect upon the attitude of large

“numbers of Americans toward the entrance of Walker into
;”";‘.\"fcar:wua, And when he contemplated entering the country, the
f “action of Great Dritain was still fresh in men’s minds, and any
- _movement tending to check her pretensions on the Isthmus was

© sure to meet with some favor in all parts of the United States.

From the Yeader of the Democrats; Walker had obtained a con-
tract to bring-to Nicaragua 300 Americans, who were each to
receive several hundred acres of land, and who were described
as *‘ colonists liable to military duty.” This contract Walker sub-
mitted to the Federal authorities in San Francisco, who saw noth-
ing in it that would warrant them in interfering. But the
“ colonists ” themselves undoubtedly knew that they were enlisting
in an enterprise that was clearlyv in violation of the neutrality laws
of the United States.

In June, 18335, Walker and his band, on board the brig Vesta,
arrived at Realejo, on the west coast of Nicaragua. There he
was met by representatives of the Provisional Director of the
Democrats, and warmly welcomed. The upshot of his activities
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was, that in June, 1836, he was elected President of Nicaragua.
But in this success the neighboring republics saw a menace of
their own independence, and soon Costa Rica, Guatemala, Salva-
dor, Honduras, and the malcontents of Nicaragua, declared war
against him. Fortune for a while favored \Walker, but finally,
through the machinations of the financiers who controlled the
Accessory Transit Company, and who were inimical to Walker,
he was forced to make a last stand in his capital, Rivas,
Shortly after Walker's entrance into Nicaragua, in 1853, orders
were issued for some of our warships to visit the Atlantic and
Pacific coasts of the republic. They were instructed to look to
and protect the persons and property of our citizens, but at the
same time, in order that there might be no misapprehensions as
to the extent to which they had a right to interfere, their com-
manders were informed that they had no right, except in very
extraordinary cases, to send forces to operate on land, and in no
case were they permitted to take any part in the conflicts of the
contending parties within the limits of the country. They could
and should, however, protect our merchant vessels from illegal
seizure and pillage, and afford an asylum to our citizens who
wished to escape from scenes of violence and bhloodshed, and secure
a depository for their property. “ Acts of war cannot be com-
mitted without the authority of Congress. Repelling threatened
outrage upon our citizens, or'shielding their property from unjust
seizure, or protecting their persons, are not acts of war. They are
exertions of power not inconsistent with the relations of peace.””!
yEarly in November, 1855, the steam frigate Massachusetts,
Lieutenant Commanding: S. Swartwout, arrived at San Juan del
Sur, on the Pacific side of Nicaragua. In December, Lieutenant
Swartwout visited Granada, the capital of Nicaragua, for the pur-
pose of inquiring after some of his men who had deserted from
the Massachusetts, as well as for certain deserters from an
American merchant ship lying at San Juan del Sur. Some of
these deserters had found their way into Walker’s army’ yet they
were all promptly given up on demand. On this occasion, it is said,
Lieutenant Swartwout and three of his officers remained three
days in Granada, fraternizing with the filibusters. This, together

* Secretary of State Marcy to John H. Wheeler, Chargé d'Affaires in

Nicaragua, November 8, 18355. See Senate Exec. Doc. No. 68, 31th (;ong.,
1st Sess.
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with the unauthorized recognition of the Walker-Rivas govern-
ment by our minister, Wheeler, only served to increase the
impudence and confidence of the filibusters.

The orders to Commodore Hiram Paulding, who had assumed
command of the Home Squadron in 1855, were likewise quite
explicit. Under date of November 16, 1855, the Secretary of the
Navy instructed him as follows:

The course of events occurring for a few years past, and the regula.r
transit of a number of American citizens across the Isthmus to and from
the Pacific and Atlantic States, constitute of themselves a sufficient reason
for at least an annual visit of a national vessel [to Central American
ports]. But recent events seem especially to demand the presence of a
part of the Home Squadron, and of an officer whose mature judgment and
expenence may guide him to proper action under the circumstances ‘which
inquiry may develop, and whose commanding position may exert influence
and inspire respect. I therefore desire that you, as commander-in-chief of '
the squadron, should immediately proceed with the flagship, the Potomac,
to San Juan del Norte [Greytown]. Intelligence has reached your govern- -
ment that citizens of the United States who were passengers on the
steamers of the Transit Company have been killed, and others wounded and
otherwise maltreated. It is said that they were merely availing themselves
of the usual facilities for travelling from one portion of their country to
another, and werc not engaging in or encouraging the revolutionary
movements distracting the pcople of Nicaragua.’

These orders were supplemented, in December, as follows :

Navy DePARTMENT, December 11, 1853,

Sm: The condition of affairs in Nicaragua, instead of assuming the
appearance incident to a stable and well-regulated government cheerfully
acquiesced in by the people, threatens to become more complicated.
Although the instructions already given may be entirely sufficient, it is
considered prudent to put you in possession of more recent intelligence,
and to advise you distinctly of the relations of your government to the
authorities claiming to be in the lawful exercise of the functions of govern-
ment of that state.

Mr. Wheeler, the U. S. minister to Nicaragua, had been instructed not
to recognize or have official intercourse with Mr. Walker, or those who
favor his revolutionary proceedings and claim to administer the affairs of
that republic. Previous, however, to receiving those instructions, our
minister had pursued a different course. I send you a copy of the latest
instructions to him, in order that you may distinctly understand the views
of your government. The President has called my attention to the fol-
lowing extract from Mr. Wheeler's despatch of the 12th ulto.:

“I hope that soon a ship of war will be at San Juan del Norte. In
which event, as I learn from good authority, the present government of
Nicaragua will assert its rights to the town and port of San Juan del Norte

*Ibid.
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by taking possession and hauling down the Mosquito flag and raising their .
own, it may be proper to give instructions to the commander of amy .
United States ship that may visit that port, since it is said and believed .
that this occupation by Nicaragua will be opposed by the English naval”

force, which is always present in that harbor.”

It is inferred from this statement that Mr. Wheeler is regulating his -
movements in regard to San Juan del Norte with the hope of receiving ..
countenance and assistance from the naval force of the United States, It .

is not, however, inferred that the opinion is entertained that the British
aval force will take possession of San Juan for the purpose of occupying

or colonizing it, or retaining it at all, but that they may possibly interfere '

simply to carry out the views of the British Government in the exercise
of a protectorate over the Mosquito territory, so far as to prevent any force
from “hauling down” the Mosquito flag, and no farther. If that be the
case, then I am directed by the President to instruct you to confine any
interference on your part exclusively to the protection of American citi-
zens. It is proper that I should add that official correspondence with the
British Government confirms the President in the opinion that there is no
intention on their part to take possession of San Juan.

You have already been advised that your government differs esscntially
from the government of Great Britain in its interpretation of the treaty of
1850, and that the President will not recede from or abandon his construe-
tion of it. It is proper, however, that T should inform you that the ques-
tions arising under the treaty are now the subject of investigation, and that
the hope of satisfactory adjustment has not as yet been entirely abandoned.

The instructions from the Secretary of State to Mr, Wheeler will inform
you of the views of your government toward Mr. Walker and the present
unstable government in Nicaragua, as yet unsanctioned by the people.

I am directed by the President to advise you that it is not expected of
you to afford aid or countenance to any force which may attempt to seize
San Juan del Norte under the party now assuming to be in power in
Nicaragua. You will, however, afford protection to American citizens if
there be any in that region who have not abandoned their own country and
forfeited claims to protection.

I am not aware of any necessity whatever for detaining the Fulton,
which bears you these despatches. You will, however, exercise your judg-
ment. I am informed that the machinery is by no means strong, and that
it would not be safe to tax her severely,

I am respectfully,
Your obedient servant, ¥

. J. C. Doseix.
CoMMopoRE HraM PauLbing,

Commanding Home Squadron,
SAN JUAN DEL NoRTE, NICARAGUA.

*Meade, “Life of Paulding,” 180-2. The instructions to Wheeler referred
to in the above are dated November 8 and December 7, 1855, and are
to be found in Sen. Exec. Doc. No. 68, 34th Cong., 1st-Sess. An extratt
from the earlier one is cited above (p. 1528). .

[
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-The Potomac arrived at Greytown on December 21, 1855. - On.

the following day, Paulding dispatched his fleet surgeon, Thomas:

Dillard, to visit Minister Wheeler at Granada, with dispatches
requesting the facts in connection with the outrages referred to
if his instructions. At Paulding’s request, also, Wheeler visited
Greytown and conferred with Paulding relative to various miat-
ters, one of which was the shooting of a sailor of the Potomac, at
Cistillo. While Wheeler was on board the Potomac, Commodore
Ogle, of the British sloop-of-war Arab, called on him, and during
the conversation he said that he would be happy to see Wheeler on
board his ship “ as a private individual, but not as minister of the

United States,” as he could not extend the salute due to Wheeler, .

since he [Wheeler] was not then in the country to which he was
accredited, namely, Nicaragua. Of course, the invitation was
declined. This incident is somewhat significant as to the feelings
of the English regarding Greytown at this time,

Paulding’s letter to Wheeler, about the shooting of one of the

Potomac’s men at Castillo, is likewise significant of the attitude of
Paulding toward Walker at this time, especially so in the light of
subsequent developments. Paulding wrote : : :
-The character of General Walker is a sufficient guarantee that such
conduct will not escape its merited chastisement, and having brought it to
his notice I am quite satisfied to leave the matter in his hands. Be pleased
to express to the general my profound acknowledgments, and my best
wishes for his success in giving to Central America security and repose.*

On December 28, Captain Hornsby, second in command to

General Walker, waited upon Paulding “ unofficially ” on board
the Potomac. He said, after Paulding had given him a friendly

greeting, that he had come on the part of Walker to invite Pauld-
ing to Granada. This, with a civil message to the general,
Paulding declined. Hornsby remained on board an hour or more,
recounting some of the extraordinary adventures of the fili-
busters. He also spoke of Greytown, and indicated a purpose of
taking it and hauling down the Mosquito flag, making some allu-
sion, at the same time, to the British warships lying in the harbor.®
Paulding advised Hornsby not to land in Greytown, saying the

time had not arrived for them to resist the British protectorate:

of the Mosquito territory. During the week following, several

*Sen. Exec. Doc. No. 68, 34th Cong., 1st Sess.

*The governor of Greytown, it should be remembered, still considered

himself under the protectorate of Great Britain.
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visitors to the ship gave conflicting accounts of the conditions
prevailing, but all of them apparently were anxious to stand well
with the commodore. On January 7, 1856, the squadron pro-
ceeded to Havana, and there Paulding succeeded in allaying the
fears of the authorities in regard to another rumored invasion
of the island by filibusters from the United States.*

About a month later,-namely, on the 18th of February, the
Rivas-Walker government issued a decree revoking and annull-
ing the charter and acts of incorporation of the Accessory Trarisit
Company, and directing “ all the property of said company to be
seized.” In obedience to this decree, all the property of the com-
pany on the Isthmus was seized. Its value was between $700,000
and $1,000,000. The interoceanic communication by way of
Nicaragua was thus effectually interrupted, and the persons and
property of unoffending private citizens of the United States in
that country again became jeopardized. Through its president,
Cornelius Vanderbilt, the company, on March 26, requested the
interposition of the United States Government, to wrest from the
aggressors their plunder, and to restore the company to the enjoy-
ment of its outraged rights.”

By the middle of September, 18350, the British had stationed off
Greytown a strong ficet, consisting of eight vessels, carryving
several hundred guns, and evidently with a view to influencing
the result of the war in Nicaragua. No United States vessels,
however, were sent thither to watch the movements or to ascer-
tain’ the intentions of the British fleet.®

On the 1stjof November, the President of Costa Rica issued a
decree, declaring, in its second article: ** The navigation of the
river San Juan del Norte is prohibited to all kinds of vessels while
hostilities against the invaders of the Central American soil con-

¢ Meade, “ Life of Paulding,” 146-50.

'On March 24, 1856, the Senate passed a resolution, supplemented on
May 8 by a similar measure in the House, calling on the Presiden to
transmit to Congress the reports of the Secretary of State, the Secretary
of the Navy, the Secretary of the Treasury, and the Attorney General, with
reference to the routes of transit between the Atlantic and Pacific oceans
through the republics of New Granada and Nicaragua, and to the condi-
tion of affairs in Central America. These documents were duly transmitted
by the President on May 15, and were printed as Senate Executive Docu-
ment No. 68, 34th Congress, 1st Session.

* Walker, “ The War in Nicaragua,” 352-3.
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tinue.” And. the fourth article declared: ““The officers. and '

..(_'miiitary forces of the republic will carry out this decree, using
f,i for that purpose every means within their reach.” This was, in
. fact, a public and explicit declaration to the United States that if
. they- desired to keep the Transit from being closed during the
hostilities between Nicaragua and Costa Rica, they must station
United States warships at Greytown to resist force with force.’
- But no warships were sent, and the decree was carried out. More-
over, the United States Government does not appear to have
taken any steps to re-establish the Transit, or to protect the fili-
busters who were aiming to re-open it, fronmi interference by the
British naval forces.? .

It was in December that the Costa Ricans, under the command
of one Spencer, took possession of the river steamers at Punta
Arenas. There being no American war-vessel near, the United
States commercial agent at Greytown called on Captain Erskine;
of the British warship Orion, to protect American interests from
the soldiers of Costa Rica. To this request Captain Erskine re-
plied that he had taken steps, by landing a party c3f marines, to
protect the persons and private property of all citizens of the
United States; but with regard to the capture of the steame.s, he
added:

To prevent'all misapprehension, [ think it, however, right to state that
the steamers and other property belonging to the Accessory Transit Com-
pany being at this moment the subject of a dispute between two different
companies, the representatives of which are on the spot, and one of them

authorizing the seizure, I do not feel justified in taking any steps which may
affect the interests of either party. With respect to the participation of a

force of Costa Ricans in the seizure and transfer of the steamers alluded to, .

I must observe that these stcamers having been for some months past
employed in embarking in this port, and conveying to the parti?s. with whom
Costa Rica is now carrying on active hostilities, men and munitions of war,
it appears that as a non-belligerent I am prohibited by the !aw of nation:
" from preventing the execution of such operations by a belligerent party.

A man named Lockridge was then appointed by the Nicaraguan
Transit Company’s agent to clear the San Juan River of the
Costa Ricans. Lockridge remained for some days at Punta
Arenas, engaged in fitting up one of the old disused river steamers
for purposes of transportation. But he was not allowe.d to work
without Interruption by the British naval officers. On ‘the morn-

*Ibid., 353-4.
" Ibid., 345.
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- ing of the 16th of January, 1857, Captain Cockburn, of the Brit-
ish ship Cossack, went ashore at Punta Arenas and inquired for
the commander of the armed men occupying the Point. On
meeting Lockridge, Captain Cockburn informed him that he had
received orders from Captain Erskine, of the Orion, to offer pro-
tection .to any British subjects who might be detained and com-
pelled to bear arms against their will. In accordance with these
instructions, Captain Cockburn demanded a list of all the men at
Punta Arenas, and required them to be paraded in his presence,
that he might read to them the orders of Captain Erskine. “The
men were accordingly drawn up on the beach, and Cockbum read
to them the order of Erskine. The concluding sentences of the
order were:

Should any of the party in question claim protection as British subjects,
and their claims appear to you to be well founded, you will acquaint the
officer commanding, that these men must be permitted to withdraw from
their present position; and you will (in the event of his acquiescence)
either give these men-a passage to Greytown, or take them on board
Her Majesty’s ship under your command, to await my decision as to their

- disposal, as they may desire. In the event of the aforesaid officer resisting
such a course as I have pointed out, you will inform him that, in the first
place, no person whatever under his command will be permitted to leave
their present position, to proceed up the river or elsewhere, until my
demands shall be complied with ; and, secondly, that 1 will adopt such mea-
sures to enforce the rights of British subjects as I may think best adapted
to the purpose.

Ten of Lockridge’s men claimed and recejved protection under
this order of Erskine, and were taken from the Point in Cock-
‘bum’s boat,

Walker’s comment on this proceeding is as follows:

The instructions of Her Majesty’s Government must have been indeed
stringent, when they induced honorable officers to degrade themselves to
the work of inciting men to desert a cause they had voluntarily embraced;
for Cockburn, not satisfied with reading Erskine’s orders, had also advised

the whole of Lockridge's command of the dangers they ran in attacking
the large force the Costa Ricans had concentrated on the river® .

On the 6th of February, the American sloop-of-war St. Mary's,
Commander Charles H. Davis, arrived at San Juan del Sur, on
the Pacific side._ Promptly in her wake came the British _war-
steamer Esk, Captain Sir Robert McClure. The day after his
arrival, Sir Robert sent a boat’s crew on board a small schooner

lying near ghe shore, to ask the meaning of the ensign which she
"Ibid., 356-7.
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- was flying at the masthead. It was a handsome ﬂag,"éomposed

. »of three horizontal stripes—blue, white, and blue. * In the middle

7 stripé, which was twice the width of either of the outer ones, was
4 five-pointed red star. The ensign was that of the riew filibuster
-republic of Nicaragua, and the vessel, as her commander—one
* Fayssoux—politely replied, was no other than the Nicaraguan
“'schooner-of-war Granads.*®* Sir Robert then ordered Fayssoux
to come on board the Esk, and to bnng his commission wi.th him;

~ to which the plucky Missourian replied that he would do nothing
-"of the kind. And when the English captain threatened a broad-
“side, the Nicaraguan commander beat to quarters—he had a
score of men—Iloaded his two 6-pound carronades, and awaited
destruction as calmly as if he had had the deck of a 74 under his
feet. But Sir Robert, either fearing to exceed his authority, or
“lboring under the delusion that Commander Davis, of ‘the
St. Mary’s, might not relish the idea of seeing his fellow country-

“men annihilated before his eyes, softened the demand into a -

‘i request for a friendly visit, which Fayssoux thereupon paid him.
“ When Sir Robert went to Rivas, some days afterwards, to de-

-mand an explanation of Fayssoux's conduct, he was met by
-Walker with the stern inquiry: “ I presume, sir, you have come

“to apologize for the outrage offered to my flag and the com-
mander of the Nicaraguan schooner-of-war Granada”” And the

- ‘gallant sailor is said actually to have forgotten his wrath in his

“ wonder, and to have made a suitable apology to the wounded
dignity of the chief of a thousand men and one .schooner. “If
they had [had] another schooner,” said he, *“ I believe they would
have declared war on Great Britain.” 1*

¥ Walker, having confiscated the Nicaraguan schooner San Jose for
.carrying a false register, had had her fitted out with. some guns, and had
blaced ber under the command of Fayssoux, renaming her the Granad'a.
Fayssoux, the only commander in the navy of Walker’s .ephemerafl repu.bhc,
was a splendid specimen of the sailor-filibuster. A native o.f Missouri, he
- had seen service in the Texan Navy, as well as in Cuba with Lop.ez and
Pickett. The first exploit of the Granada was an engagement with t].1e
-, Costa Rican brig Once de Abril, carrying three times the armament and six
times the crew of the Granada. The Costa Rican vcssgl was .blowp' out of
" the water after a two-hour fight, and the Granada remained mistress of the
*'Pacific Central American waters until the arrival of the St. B{ary'{.—Roche,:
+#Story of the Filibusters,” 116, and Walker, “ The War in Nicaragua,
- 233f
® Roche, 138; Walker, 385-6.

k-




- 1536 THE Navy AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES

. On the 1g9th, the Esk left for Punta Arenas. Commander
Davis, meanwhile; had paid the Granada an official visit, and soon
sent word to Walker that he wished to visit Rivas on business,
Walker promptly ordered an escort to conduct him to the town,
and on the 18th he arrived at headquarters. He spent the after-
noon and night in Rivas, and in his conversations with Walker
studiously addressed him as President. During his stay, the
officers who accompanied Davis passed freely through the camp.
Davis stated to Walker-that the captain of the Narraganmsctt, a
goal ship at Sap Juan, would require her, small boats (then in
Walker’s possession), before going to sea. These boats had been
brought from the Transit some wecks previously, with a view to
using them to regain possession of the lost river steamers: but as
they were now useless for this service, Walker told Davis he did
not object to returning them to the Narragansett. At the same
time, Walker mentioned to Davis that the lake and river steamers,
belonging to the American owners of the ocean steamships be-
tween Nicaragua and the United States, were precisely analogous
to the boats of ‘the Narragansett, and having asked for the latter,
it was only right that Davis should also demand the former from
the Costa Ricans. The Transit Company, he said, could no more
carry on their business of transporting passengers between the
Atlantic and Pacific ports of the United States without the prop-
erty then in the hands of the Central American allies, than the
Narragansett could go to sea without her small boats. Davis
appeared to see the analogy between the two cases, and said he
would visit San Jorge ‘after leaving Rivas, to speak with the gen-
eral of the allies on the subject. -
From Rivas, Davis went to San Jorge. He demanded to know
“from the generdl of the allies if the Americans on the small steam-
ers were held against their will, for such was the current report
through the country at the time. Being informed that these men
served the allies voluntarily, Davis was fully satisfied. He took
no further steps to ascertain the facts in relation to these Amer-
icans, and contented himself with the unreliable assurances of a
Spanish-American official. This apparent prepossession in favor
of the allies was strongly resented by Walker ; and so, when a lieu-
tenant from the St. Mary’s arrived to take possession of the
Narragansett’s boats, Walker told him he could not give them up
unless Davis treated both belligerents alike and pressed his *de-

IREERLY. ]
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mands against. the allies with as much vigor as those. he might -
make on the Nicaraguans.!* S . S

. Shortly afterwards, the allies asked Davis to prevent the further
la:nding of recruits for Walker at San Juan del Sur, alleging that
such an act would be in complete conformity with the policy of the
American Government, which on numerous occasions had. pre-.-
vented the departure of expeditions from the United States.
Davis replied that while the officers of his government were bound
to enforce the neutrality laws within the jurisdiction of the United
States, this did not mean that naval officers must enforce such
laws within the territory of foreign powers. He stated further
that his governiment recognized a condition of civil war in Nioa-
ragua, and was neutral as between the parties thereto. As.a .
neutral, he would lend his aid to neither party, but would see that .
the property and lives of American citizens were duly protected.

In protecting American lives, Davis showed commendable zeal. -
A band of Costa Ricans fired on a party of sailors:from the
steamer Oricaba. They had been sent ashore to obtain water, and
one of the sailors was made prisoner. Davis intervened ‘and
secured the man’s release. Furthermore, on April 24, Davis sent’
Lieutenant Huston and a corporal of marines into the filibuster
capital (Rivas), after securing the consent of the belligerents, in
order to remove the women and children to San Juan del Sur
under the protection of the American flag. Immediately after
Lieutenant Huston entered the Nicaraguan camp, he was told to
forbid his corporal to speak with the soldiers about facts or events.
at San Juan del Sur. In spite of this injunction, however, the

. corporal told exaggerated stories about the number of men the.

allies had at San Juan, and about their strength generally,
Lieutenant Huston remained in Rivas during the night of the
23d, and he frequently expressed his surprise at the (.:heerf.ul and
confident aspect of affairs in the place. Before leaving with the
women, he informed Walker that Commander Davis had ordered
him to say that any communication he had to make to Macdonald,
the agent of the Transit contractors at San Juan del Sur, should
be faithfully delivered. Walker replied, ‘““ he did not desire_ to
write to Mz‘lcdonéld ” .« but, added that Lieutenant Huston might
say to Commander Davis, and as a communication for Macdonald,

. “tie considered his position in Rivas impregnable to the force at

" Walker, 385-8. ' .
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‘

the disposal of the enemy so long as his provisions lasted; if: -
Lockridge did not join him in Rivas by the time his commissary -

stores were exhausted, he would abandon the place and join the

force on the San Juan; and he considered himself wholly able to"
carry out such a movement.” Macdonald afterwards told Walker-

that he never received this message. From this fact Walker in-

ferred that Davis’s offer was a mere effort to entrap Walker into-

writing something which might seem to justify Davis in the
course he subsequently took.'*

.On the morning of the 24th, the women and children left Rivas
in charge of Lieutenant Huston, and under the protection of the
United States flag. Their departure was a great relief to Walker,
as it removed one of the most serious obstacles to a movement
from Rivas; and it was reasonable to suppose that their absence
would inspire new spirit and resolution into the troops thus re-
lieved of an inconvenient burden. Far from this, however, deser-
tions, which had almost ceased since the 11th, recommenced after
the 24th*

While the situation at Rivas was growing more critical every
hour, Captain Fayssoux, at San Juan del Sur, was being ap-
proached with bribes to surrender the Granada. It has been said
that circumstances pointed strongly to the fact that Commander
Davis was not in ignorance of this corrupt overture. At the
special request of Davis, Captain Fayssoux had gone aboard the
St. Mary's to meet Colonel Garcia, a representative of the Costa
Rican general. Garcia made the proposal to Fayssoux, and the
latter indignantly spurned it, turning his back on the corrup-
tionist. Fayssoux being found to be impregnable to such sinister
offers, another man was paid $5000 to betray the Granada into
the hands of the enemy, but that scheme likewise failed.

The solicitude of Captain Davis for the success of the allies
seems to have been shown in other ways also. Colonel Estrada,
the allied commandant at San' Juan del Sur, and Captain Fayssoux
entered into a truce whereby each was to refrain from actiye hos-.
tilities for a certain period. Notwithstanding the fact that the:
agreement was honorably kept by Fayssoux, the enemy continued
their erection of barricades in the town in violation of the truce.
Though Commander Davis had suggested this truce, yet after--
wards: he held Captain Fayssoux strictly to its terms, while he

 Walker, 410-1. .
¥ Walker, 411. ’
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permitted Colonel Estrada to continue the building of fortifica-
tions.!” But on the 27th of April, Captain Fayssoux sent -word- .

to Davis that inasmuch as the enemy were acting in bad faith, he

would be compelled to fire upon them from the Granads. Davis
thereupon sent his first lieutenant, Maury, to Fayssoux to ask if :
he would not w,ait until Davis heard from Rivas. Fayssoux re-
plied that he would, if Davis would then go on shore and destroy
the barricades. Lieutenant Maury could not answer that.ques-
tion. Fayssoux then told him that if the enemy did not stop, he
would fire in half an hour. Lieutenant Maury then went to
Colonel Estrada and said that Commander Davis looked on the
truce as at an end, and that Fayssoux would fire in half an hour.
Colonel Estrada wished to debate the question, and again pleaded
ignorance; but Lieutenant Maury reiterated his statement that
Fayssoux would fire. Estrada then agreed to let the barricade
alone, and that the truce should be observed,

The first note was sent to Colonel C. J. Macdonald, and was’
shown by him to Commander Davis, who said that he would take
Fayssoux if he did fire, as he thought it would be his duty.
Mécdonald was also requested by Davis to go on board the
Grenada and transmit Davis’s threat. Macdonald asked for the
threat in writing, and Davis offered to give it, but after further
conversation on the subject, he sent the above message to Estrada.
Commander Davis acknowledged to Macdonald that it would be
Fayssoux’s duty to fire if the enemy did not desist. To Fayssoux,
this course of reasoning on the part of Davis was incompre-
hensible, on the supposition of Davis’s neutrality. Fayssoux
maintains that although he himself was perfectly aware of the
treachery of the enemy at all times, and of their violation of the
truce in building barricades in reach of his guns, he permitted
them to go on to a certain extent, hoping to turn the barricades
to his own advantage. And thinking it politic, he did not urge
upon Davis his duty to destroy those already begun or completed,
though he took occasion to let the officers of the St. Mary's know
his views on the subject, and that he thought Commander Davis
was easily satisfied with promises which were cc.m'stantly broken;
that he (Fayssoux) had had opportunities of gaining advantages,
but had scrupulously kept the truce.!®

;'Jamison,"‘ With Walker in Nicaragua,” 1909, 157-8; Walker, 414 ff.
® Walker, 418-0.
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By the end of April, Davis came to the coniclusion that Walker’s

position in Rivas was no longer tenable ; and he therefore visited -

the allies ffl the capacity of mediator, proposing to end the conflict
by removing Walker and his American associates from the

country. This proposition was readily assented to bv the allfes -

as it.achieved all that they were contending for, without further
fighting or expense. Davis thereupon communicated with Walker
Several messages were exchanged before negotiations were finall ,
undertaken. Early in the evening of April 30, the preliminarici
were arranged, and Walker sent two envoys to Davis in the ca
of the :'allifts. Davis told them' that he had full knowledgergl;
Walker’s situation, and that they could hold out only a few days
longer. -He knew that the Americans lacked food and were di-
serting in large numbers; and he proposed that the survivors
shoul.d surrender to him, and that Walker and 16 officers whom
he might select should g0 on board the S7. Mary’s and proceed to
Panama, while the other officers and the men were to be taken to
Panama by another route, accompanied by a United States officer
and protected by the American flag. Such an aétonishing demand
had doubtless never before been made by a subordinate naval
officer upon the President of a friendly government.
Hennn.xgsen, one of Walker's envoys, was inclined first to de-
mur, saying that it was not yet certain that reinforcements would
not arrive, in which event Walker could easily cut his way out of
Rivas and embark in the Granada at San Juan del Sur. Davis
then announced that he would not allow the Granada .to leave
por?, but intended to take .possession. of her before he left San
Juan.. The conference lasted until two o’clock in the mornin
we;; tpe envoys returned to Rivas, promising to give Dav?s:
no:b :.eorkse xiar;sﬁ\r\.er the next morning at ten, if negotiations were
Davis's announcement of his determination to seize the
Gr.anadtl, which would have cut off al] hope of escape for Walker
made-hl‘s Rroposition nothing less than an ultimatum, to \;hic};
Walke.r found that he must agree or perish, Accord'mg,l articles
of capitulation were drawn upat Walker’s headquarters,y’ :

: d
accepted by Davis. The text of the agreement was as f Mowss

ollows:

on the one part, and Commander C. H. Davis, of th i
on the other part, and of which the stipulations are a

1
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. Firstly: General William \Walker, with 16 officers of his staff, shall march
. out.of Rivas with their side-arms, pistols, horses, and.personal baggage,’
giih&er‘the guarantee of the said Captain Davis, of the United States Navy,
¥ihat they shall not be molested by, the enemy, and shall be allowed: to
z-embark on board the United States vessel-of-war, the St. Mary’s, in the
iz harbor of San Juan del Sur, the said Captain Davis undertaking to transport
_ them safely, on the St. Mary's, to Panama. - o
.. .Secondly: The officers of General \Walker's army.shall march out of
" Rivas with their side-arms, under the guarantee and protection of Captain
"' Davis, who undertakes to see them safely transported to Panama, in'charge
‘of a United States officer. o
Thirdly: The privates and non-commissioned officers, citizens, and
employees of departments, wounded or unwounded, shall be surrendered,.
with their arms, to Captain Davis, or one of his vofﬁce.rs,.apd placed under
his protection and control, he pledging himself to have them safely trans-
ported to Panama, in charge of a United States officer, in separate \}essc.ls
from the deserters from the ranks, and without being brought into contact
with them. o .
Fourthly: Captain Davis undertakes o obtain Buarantees, and hereby
does guarantee, that all natives of Nicaragua, or of Central Amerfca, now
in Rivas, and surrendered to the protection of Captain Dayis,_shall'be
allowed to reside in Nicaragua, and be protected in life and property.”
- Fifthly: It is agreed that all such officers as have wives and families in
" San Juan del Sur, shall be allowed to remain there under the protection of
the United States consul, till an opportunity offers of embarking for
Panama or San Francisco. .
" General Walker and Captain Davis mutually pledge themsclves to each
other that this agreement shall be executed in good faith*®

At five o'clock in the afternoon of May 1, Davis entered the
plaza of Rivas. After the text of the agreement between Walker
and Davis was read, Henningsen stepped forward and announced
to Walker's men that they were under the control of Commander
Davis and under the protection of the American flag, and that
they would be 'expected to yield to the naval officer the same
implicit obedience that they had rendered to their former
commander-in-chief. Henningsen then formally turned over the
garrison to Davis, and the latter also spoke to the men, asking

* The lenity, unheard of before in Central American warfare, which the
allies thus offered to the men whom they had vowed to exterminate, shows
how highly they valued the services of Commander Davis in removing them
from the country. That they did not keep their merciful promiises to the
native prisoners, but harried them in the good old-fashioned way as soon
as the St. Mary’s had sailed away, does not detract from the merit of their
.promise. They would doubtless have promised anything in order to be

rid of the troublesome Rlibusters.—Roche, “ Story of the Filibusters,” 149.

* Walker, 424-5; Jamison, 150-60; Roche, 148-9.
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them to assist him in cqrryiné‘ out his arduous task. Davis and”

Henningsen then repaired to Walker's headquarters, but found
them unoccupied. While the proceedings just narrated were

taking place, Walker and his chosen officers had procured horses -

and taken the road to San Juan del Sur, escorted by General
Zavala, of the allies.

Walker and his chosen staff of officers, with the exception of
Henningsen, took up their quarters on board the St. M ary’s on the
night following the surrender. Davis did not arrive until the
following moming, when he proposed that Walker should sur-
render the Granada to him without the necessity of using force.
The agreement had made no mention of this, and Walker accord-
ingly declined to surrender the vessel. Davis, however, would

"not listen to Walker’s arguments, and ordered his first lieutenant,
Maury, to seize the craft. Maury boarded the Granada, and
ordered Fayssoux to surrender. The doughty captain replied that
he would do so only in the face of a superior force. The guns of
the St. Mary's were then turned on the schooner, and the boats

of the war-ship manned with a hundred armed men and a-

howitzer. Maury now told Walker that if he desired to avoid
bloodshed, he should order Fayssoux to surrender. The fallen
filibuster thereupon wrote Fayssoux this note: “Deliver the
Granada to the United States.” Soon afterwards the Nicaraguan
flag came down and was replaced by that of the United States,
The Nicaraguan navy was no more. Finally, to make the filibus-
ter cup of bitterness full, Davis, on May 4, turned the Granada
over to the Costa Ricans. The officer who took charge of her
was a Jamaica negro. .

“ This act of Captain Davis,” says a participator in the events,
“ joined to his previous conduct, convinced me then, and time has
not changed my opinion, that it was merely the culmination of an
agreement made by the English naval officers, the allies, and-
Captain Davis, that General Walker and the Americans should
be expelled from Nicaragua.” # i

The suryjvors of the expedition, to the number of 364, were
sent’ to Panama, where they were cared for by Commodore
Mervine, commander of' the Pacific Squadron. The women and
children whom Davis had removed from Rivas during the hostili-
ties, had been placed in the house of the American consul at San

® Jamison, 161, >
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Juan del Sur, and the officers of the St. Mary's contributed be-.
tween $400 and $500 for their maintenance. - These, with the sick
and wounded, and the officers left behind by .\Yalker, were tak.en
to-Greytown,?® where surgeons from the British warship Orion
assisted in caring for the ill. The American. sloop:of-war Cyane .
then took the entire party, numbering 142, 1nc1.udmg 13 women
and five children, to Aspinwall, where they arrived on June 1.6.
A lét_ter from an officer on board the Cyane thus describes their
condition :

Most of them were in a horrible condition. Many of then.l were at .thg
point of death. Some were covered with wounfls, others with disgusting
sores, and all were lousy and dirty. . ... We did a}l we could for them;
bot as bad weather set in, on_ the way back to Aspinwall, all had a hafd
time. However, only two died on board.® ’

Commodore Paulding, commanding the Home Squadron, en-
deavored to obtain passage for them to New York on some regu-
lar steamer, but the steamship company would agree only to take.
the well ones as far as New,Orleans. The surgeons of the Orion
insisted that the sick should be taken to a more northerly climat.e,
and all were accordingly carried to New York and Boston in
Paulding’s flagship (the Wabash) and the Cyane. The sloop-of-
war Saratoga was left on duty at Greytown.? o

Meanwhile, Commodore Mervine, at Panama, t:ound himself
greatly encumbered with more than 300 of Walker’s men. They
were in great distress and a constant menace to the h?alth of
Mervine’s own command. He finally sent them,'by rail, from
Panama to Aspinwall, whence they also found their way eventu-
ally to the United States.?® . . o

The only apparent authority which Davis possessed .for his in-
tervention was his instructions from Commodo.rf_ Mervine to pro-
tect the persons and property of Americ“an citizens. .It is true,
the Secretary of the Navy had sent directlon's.to Mervine to give
Walker and such of his followers as were citizens of the’Umted
States an opportunity to retreat from Nicaragua, but Davis acted
before these instructions were received. At any rate, the Navy

2 The officer who escorted the 250 privates and non-commissioned officers
irgi is sai is job.—Roche, 150,
to Virgin Bay is said to have cursed his job » 15 .
® Midshipman George H. Perkins, U. S. N,, quoted in Alden’s George
Hamilton Perkins” (1914), 54.
® Meade, “ Life of Paulding,” 172 ff,
® Scroggs, 294-307, passim.
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’

Department approved all that Davis had done, except his seizure :

of the Granada and her delivery to one of-the belligerents. Some

persons have held that Davis’s secret orders were no other than -
that he should aid the allies in forcing Walker and his men out :

of Nicaragua.?®

Walker claims that these orders were given to Secretary of
State Marcy by Cornelius Vanderbilt, President of the Accessory
Transit Company, and that Marcy gave them to Commodore
Mervine, who was an intimate friend of Marcy's. Davis, how-
ever, claims that he acted on his own responsibility, and solely in
the interests of humanity, in order to save Walker in spite of
himself.

Davis’s son (and biographer) says: * He knew perfectly wcll
that Walker deserved his fate; but he could not lie still in the
St. Mary’s it San Juan del Sur and see American citizens butch-
ered in cold blood within reach of his arm, no matter how criminal
or misguided they might be.,” . . . . The fact is, Davis
saved Walker's life, and the lives of his officers and army; for
that there would. have been a general massacre at Rivas, follow-
ing capitulation, no person conversant with the situation and the
character of the people engaged ever doubted. 1t was admitted
by several of Walker’s own officers.  Davis himself wrote frem
Mare Island, in March, 1858, as follows:

Among the things which I put down to mention to you, is my having
received numerous calls from officers of the army in San Francisco and
here. . . .. They all spoke of the affair at Rivas, and adopted the view
that I saved Walker and his people from the terrible fate of Colonel Crabbe
and his party in Mexico. It was apparently the object of their call to express
their approval of my course, and sympathy with me in relation to Walker's
attacks. Gener7 Sanders sent me a note, of which the inclosed is a copy.
[The note was extremely flattering.] He was the third in command at
Rivas. Genci'al}rg by far the most respectable American officer Walker
had with him in character and talents, and a very pleasant gentleman, called
with a party of friends to pay his respects and offer his thanks and con-
gratulations. . . .. The right view of my conduct seems to have beeg taken
in San Francisco. . . . . I have no feeling now on the subject, but I shall
never cease to wonder at the delusion of the South in accepting Walker's
assertion that I forced him to leave Rivas. I will dismiss the subject by say-
ing . . that I have one feeling paramount to all others, and that is grati-
tude that I was relieved from the horror of witnessing the slaughter of my
countrymen, as it occurred in Havana and in Lower California, without the

® Roche, “ Story of the Filibusters.”

{
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ability to succér them. .This would have been a calamity as enduring as my
fife. I thank God that He permitted me to escape that.”

Posterity, however, is inclined to regard Davis’s conduct as
reprehensible. To quote the words ‘of one authority:

Never has the government of the United States lent itself to the designs
of predatory wealth so disgracefully and so flagrantly as it did w.hen, at
the dictation of Cornelius Vanderbilt, and without a shadow of right or
excuse, it used the American Navy to oust William Walker from the Presi-
dency to which he had been legally elected by a sovereign people. Its
unjustified persecution of Walker, to serve the spite of a money-lord, forms
one of the darkest stains on our national history.”

‘Walker's reception in New York, on his return to the United
States, was like that of a conqueror. He went to Washington
to lay before the State Department his complaint against Com-
mander Davis, ad was. received with diplomatic politeness; but
the case was referred to the consideration of Congress, where it
was effectually buried under a mountain of verbiage. Thence
Walker made a journey through the South, being welcomed and
féted with even more enthusiasm than he had received in the
North.?® He soon began fitting out an expedition to re-enter
Nicaragua and resume the rights and. powers of which he so
resolutely maintained he had been wrongfully deprived.?®

" Davis, “ Life of Davis,” 102-4.
® Powell, * Gentlemen Rovers” (1913), 207-8.
® Roche, 150.
* Jamison, 163-4.
[To e CoNTINUED]
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1R26 Yivearrs Goosvawy
either transcribing or translating is a little tedious, With Ihdh i
shrieking about one’s quarters, or exploding over one’s shoddé s |
transcribing or translating such messages would no doubt ben@: :

rather irksome, but doing such things with a clear head mﬁ
steady hand even under the most trying circumstances wasﬂu
and is now the task of a soldier. C -',

The ciphers of the Confederacy herewith described”af;:&?-
likely to be used or. be encountered by the American soldm-:o[
today in the course of their tour of duty. It is not improbable 2
however that the information conveyed may be of service tg m: ,
one of them, somewhere, sometime; that is, the basic idea in- B
volved may be of value. This is especiaily true of the dictiortary
'code employed by the Confederate Naval Department. Accord B
ing to Lincoln’s “ Revelations of an International Spy ” (19f6)
the dictionary code is still in use on the continent pretty muchu’ bl 3
Commander Semmes of the C. S. S. Swnter proposed to use, it— i
the first number representing the page, the second number the '}
column, and the third the word’s place in the column. A more .
recent writer on the subject of German plots, John R. Rathoa, .
h'as by the way had the Kaiser's government substituting fora :
dictionary the New York World Almanac. :

. So far as the general reader is concerned, this modest Jesson in
cipher dispatches may serve to heighten his appreciation of .the ‘i
‘nf:ﬁct. story he reads in which a crafty spy is cast as the be;vy 2
villain.

-

.
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% THE NAVY*AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES
T (CONTINUED).
By Louis N. FEIPEL

V. WALKER'S SURRENDER TO PavLpiNG 1IN 1857

: While the foregoing events were taking place, another move-
’me'qt"upon Nicaragua was being planned in the United States.
Various attempts had been made, from time to time, to found colo-
nies in the lands granted by His Mosquitian Majesty, but they had
uniformly failed. Finally, in 1852, the titles were purchased con-
ditionally by one Henry L. Kinney, who, relying on these titles,

; ‘turnéd up at Greytown toward the end of 1854. After Walker's |
£ eotrance into Nicaragua, in 1833, Kinney agreed to recognize him*
- as commander-in-chief of the Nicaraguan Army, if Walker in turn

-would recognize him as governor of the Mosquito Territory.
y\f{aﬂcer,'howe\'er, replied: * Tell Mr. Kenny, or Colonel Kenny,
‘or Governor Kenny, or whatever he likes to call himself, that if he

1 interferes in the affairs of Nicaragua, and [ get hold of him, I

il -will most assuredly hang him. -
. In 1856, Kinney was placed under arrest on a charge of

A'trgfson, and forced to surrender his governorship. But in 1857,
aftcr Walker had been arrested by Commander Davis, he man-

' .aged to interest some English Mormons in his grant, and one of
- their. agents agreed to buy one-half. of the territory.

On the
strength of this agreement, Kinney borrowed a sum of money

-. ‘from some Panama merchants, and with several companions
‘% ‘miled to Greytown, where he landed on April 19, 1858. They

attempted to take possession of the government, but were arrested
and placed in the guard-house. Captain C. H. Kennedy, of the

* United States sloop-of-war Jamestown, then intervened in their
bhgh@lf, and received the prisoners on board his vessel, after they
had given their solemn promise in writing not to return to Grey-

LT AN
3

: i'WrixalL Remarkable Adventurers (1863), ii, 271. ,




i450 - cie NAVY AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE Firres T

town except with peaceful intentions toward the local autho
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5. ;Pensacola; and San Francisco' The steamer Fulton, under the

Kinney then went to Aspinwall, and from there took passage to comnand of Lieutenant John J. Almy, was ordered to touch at

the United States.

In the fall of 1857, also, rumors of the new expedition againg.
Nicaragua, under the command of Walker, became current in the
United States. The two Central American r¢presentatives in
Washington—Irisarri and Molina—at once notified Secreﬁ}f of
State Cass of the enterprise, and begged the American Govern-

-

ment to prevent the landing of the expedition at any Central &

American port, in case its departure from the United States could
not be prevented. Cass immediately sent a circular letter to all
the United States marshals, district attorneys, and collectors of
the ports of the Southern and seaboard tates, notifying them of
the projected expedition, and urging them to be diligent in en-
forcing the law. This circular read as follows: ' '

DepartMENT OF StatE, .
' WasiinGrox, September 18, 18s;7.

Sie:. From information received at this Department, there is reason to
believe that lawless persons are now engaged within the limits of ‘ike
United States in setting on foot and preparing the means for military ex-
peditions to be carried on against the territories of Mexico, Nicaragm,
and Costa Rica, republics with whom the United States are at peace, i
direct violation of the sixth section of the act .of Congress, approved oth
April, 1818. And, under the eighth section of the said act, it is made lawful
for the President, or such person as he shall empower, to employ the h?l\!d
and naval forces of the United States, and the militia thereof, “for the
purpose of preventing the carrying on of any such expedition or enter-,
prise from the territories or jurisdiction of the United States.” [ am,
therefore, directed by the President to call your attention to the subject,
and to urge you to use all due diligence to avail yourself of all legitimate
means at your command to enforce these and all otheyﬁroyisions‘phhe

said act of 20th April, 1818, against those who may be-found to be engaged - i3

in setting on foot or preparing military expeditions against the territories
of Mexico, Costa Rica, and Nicaragua, so manifestly prejudicial to-the
national character and so injurious to the national interest. And you are
also hereby instructed promptly to communicate to This Departmcn_Mi_le
earliest information you may receive relative to such expeditions.’

I am, sir, your obedient servant, ‘

Lewis Cass..
Copies of-this circular were sent, at the same time, by Sepfr tary
of the Navy Toucey, to the commanders of vessels in Central
American waters, as well as to the commandants of the navy-
yards at Portsmouth, New York, Boston, Philadelphia, Norfolk,

BRA TSI

RO T SO

% Mobileand New Orleans, on her way to Central America. Alnzy
= -was instsucted to report to the Department what he could‘legrn in
-thosc cities concerning the probable departure of the filibusters.

-
*

the Caribbean with regard to the enforcement of the mneutrality
‘aws; - ) ) Fo
:+To every naval officer these instructions were ‘e.xceedmg!y
ﬁgue;' as they were originally intended only f(-)l.‘ civil officers in
- Amefican ports. Almy, accordingly, befpre sanlmg, ‘.w_rote'f.or a
" fuller explanation of his duties in carrying out hts mstnfcuons.
The questions he asked were doubtless uppermost in tﬁe mmd§ of
“aft his fellow officers stationed in Central Amenc.an ports.:: Since
the neutrality law applied only to ports of the United 'Sfates, or to
those under its jyrisdiction, were they to seize a suspicious vc‘:ssel
in a foreign port, or merely prevent its passengers from laang?
! Again, what were they to do if the passengers informed ‘them
'E. that they were travellers intending to cross tl}e Isthmus, or were
: R+ :foerely: peaceable settlers? The Secretary"s reply was not very
3 -enlightening. * Naval officers,” he wrote, “ were not to act E'l.l'bl-
" :trarily, or on mere suspicion, and they were to be careful not to
¢ -inferfere' with lawful commerce; but where a vessel was mani-
-festly engaged in filibustering, they were to use the forc?, fxt their
command to prevent men and arms from being landed.. As a
“tnatter of fact, the stationing of American rpen-of—war in foreign
: “ports: to enforce the laws of the United States was such
“an: anomalous proceeding, that cabinet- officer could have
‘given specific directions as to the €xact procedure that should be
followed. o .

" After reaching Mobile, Almy heard rumors of a ﬁhbus:ten.ng
*eéxpedition, but could learn nothing sqfﬁcnently tangible to justify
“official action. He found public sentiment very favorable to the
B “movement, and there was a general opinion that the \?Yashmgto.n
administration was disposed to ‘wink at such enterprises. This
' ;ilnpfession Almy strove to correct. He also found that the finan-

e
T b el ST R TR e Y

l.”Our war-vessels in Central American waters at that time were: The

st&n‘ﬁx;frigate Wabash, Commodore Hiram Paulding; the sloo;gof-\:'ar
A‘S:;r&t'oga, Commander Frederick Chatard; and the sloop-of-war Decatur,
Commander Henry K. Thatcher.

*Senate Doc. No. 13, 3sth Cong., 1st Sess.

3 . He likewise carried the instructions to the other naval officers in -
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cial.distress was then so acute that the contemplated

destination.

10, he informed Cominodore Paulding that filibusterism was
and that there was not the least possibility of W
the United States with his followers.*

The contemplated expedition did, however, manage to sil

shortly afterwards, and succeeded in reaching Nicaragua in spite

of the vigilance of the steam frigate Susquehanna, which had

been ordered to proceed from Key West to Honduras, and to

cruise’ along the coast from Cape Gracias to Greytown. - On

November 25, 1857, the ﬁlibti'stcrs. on board the steamer Faghion, 5

sailed boldly into the harbor of Greytown, and the greater portion
of the men (about 150) were landed on Punta Arenas. This

landing took place under the very eyes of the officers on the sloop- -
of-war Saratoga, which had been stationed in the harbor to pre-
vent just such an occurrence. It seems that Commander Chatards -

suspicions were entirely lulled when the filibuster steamer came
in so boldly and passed so near to him, showing only about 1§ men
on deck. Great was his chagrin, however, when he saw severl

hundred men, armed with rifles, being landed. He was now

confronted with the same problem which had puzzled Almy.
He did not wish to open fire on the vessel in a neutral port, and

so stop the disembarkation ; and he realized also ghat once the men --
had landed, he would have no jurisdiction over them.* In great -

‘Meade, “Life of Paulding” 105 .
It does not clearly appear whether the supplemental instructiond of

October 12 ‘to Lieutenant Almy were communicated to Co_tnmdgt:;
Paulding and Commander Chatard or not, but inasmuch as Almy repd

, to Commodore Paulding as early as the 10th of November, on his Wiy

to Chiriqui, it may be presumed they were.—Senate Rept.*No. 20, 35th
Cong., 1st Sess. v

mo'ﬂ!&«‘
was seriously hampered by a lack of funds. Similar conditions

prevailed at New Orleans, and Almy reported his findings' t6 the
Secretary of the Navy, after which the Fulton proceeded to her -

alker’s leaving

2]
i) 0
The visit of the’ Fulton to Mobile and New Orleans evidently

had the. effect of conveying the idea that the government wasfy &
earnest, and was exercising a watchful eye over these reported
expeditions ; in short, that it would make the filibusters extremely
cautious jn their proceedings. The leaders of the movement ac- |
cordingly managed their affairs in such a way as to deceive i}

Captain. Almy, and, after his arrival at Chiriqui, about November

o
ES
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;'g;nrbétion he wrote to Commodore Paulding, at Aspinwall,
reifig him to come to Greytown at once. He reported to Pauld-

' ingi in part, as follows: ‘

i‘éﬁw, as I told you, 1 consider too inefficient to do anything but
Hethé big guns. I might blow steamers and all to pieces, but I do not

i . feel'the circular gives me the authority; it is too obscure in its directions
- % admit of my proceeding to such an extreme—the only way.i'n, which
Lm}d interfere. The vessels come properly c[‘a:ared _for Greytyo}wq, and
pm;ouﬂced all right before sailing from the United Statef, and 1 cannot,
¢ i my opinion, pronounce them wrong and legally act against them.*

" Accompanying this official communication, Chatard sent Pauld-

8 ing a private letter bewailing his own stupidity in allowing :the
B filibusters to outwit him. * Somehow or other,” he wroté, I
* was spellbound, and so my officers seemed to be. oo« I beg

joil, sir, in the most earnest manner, to come here and advise me.

I am in a very cruel state of mind, and look gloomily to the’

future.”? _
" About the same time, General Walker sent a letter to Paulding

complaining that Commander Chatard was subjecting him to
4 r'ﬁeny annoyances. On the ground of protecting American prop-
- erty, Chatard had refused to allow the filibusters to occupy the
 buildings of the Transit Company on the Point. Some of the
¥ Sarslogd’s officers, not in uniform, he declared, had entered the
. ﬁlibuster camp without noticing the sentry’s challenge. Target
B practice with howitzers was carried on so close to Walker’s camp
- that a stray shot might have caused serious trouble. And, finally,
% Chatard had notified Walker that his camp was in the way of any
E- shot the Saratogs might have to fire in order to bring-to a suspi-
}" cious vessel, and that the camp must therefore be moved. Walker,
& it seems, had already moved part of his camp to avoid danger

from Chatard's target practice, and so he paid no attention to this
lst demand. Piqued at being foiled by the filibusters, Chatard
vented his spite in these petty ways, in the hope that he would

~ provoke them to commit some act that would justify him in inter-
. fering and breaking up the expedition, and thus retrieve to some

extent his blunder in allowing the filibusters to land.
”On the 30th of November, a brig bearing Sardinian colors, and

l having the Nicaraguan flag at the fore, entered the harbor of

*House Exec. Doc. No. 24, 35th Cong., 1st Ses‘s'.
*MS. Archives, Navy Dept, Home Squadron, ii, 58.
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Greytown. Soon after she rounded the Point, a number of armed,

boats pulled off from the Saratoga towards the brig, and an officey,
boarded her. It;was plain, therefore, that Chatard, by treating: °

vessels in the harbor precisely as if they were on the high seas,
was attempting to maintain the police of the port in derogz" icL .

of the territorial rights of Nicaragua. And on December 2, Chy. .
tard also notified Walker to the following effect: “1 am’ deter:

mined: to bring all vessels to, that I may fully inquire into thej
character.” o

In the meantime the Fulton arrived at Aspinwall, by way of
Chiriqui, and Lieutenant Almy reported to Paulding, .as ip.
structed., Paulding, resenting the fact that Almy, in the Fultbi,
had been ordered to Chiriqui, instead of being first sent to rcpon
to him at Aspinwall, wrote to Secretary Toucey, under date of
October 20, as follows: ‘

The Department will not fail to observe that my feelings as commander-
in-chief of. this squadron must be very much wounded when | say that the
service of the government could have heen better performed if Commander
Almy ha.d been sent to me, and some discretion had been given me by the
Department for employing the force nominally under my command, in-
stead of its being assigned to duties at a distance from home by the goy-.
ernment, whom [who] it is impossible should so well understand the
localities and the most proper measures to be taken for a given pur-

pose. . . .. In my judgment, it ‘would be better for the Department to
supersede an officer whenever it wants confidence in his capacity for
command. . ... It will be apparent to the Department that | must

feel that my prerogatives, as commander-in-chief of the squadron, are
turned aside with but little consideration, and that my presence here can
have but a slight appreciation. .. . . . Without presuming to intfude dis-
courteously upon the Departent, it is proper that 1 should present my
views, and, in doing so, to say that the duties of this command cannot be
discharged in a manner due to the good order and cfficiency of the naval
service unless the Department shall be observant, and exact of the officers a
strict conformity to its military character !

To this astot{nding letter, Secretary Toucey replied :

It was not the intention of the Department to intimate any doubt of:
your knowledge or capacity, or of your disposition promptly to discha‘rg)c'
any duty assigned to you. But the Department will reserve to itself the
right, under the immediate direction of the President, to despatch.ﬁa vessel’
to any point, upon any emergency, under specific instructions, dir ‘
its commanding officer to report to the flag officer of any squadron SEEFE
to those instructions.’

-:House Exec. Doc. No. 24, 35th Cong., 1st Sess. e !
{bid.
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sAs’soon as Paulding received the lettérs of Chatard and
wgﬁer,- he made ready to go to Greytown, where he arrived on
Décember 6. The ¥ abash, his flagship, anchored just outside the
marbor—which was too shallow for her draft—and directly op-
posite the filibuster camp. On the next day, the Fulton arrived,
making three American men-of-war off the Point. On the same
ddy, the British steam frigate Leopard and the monster ship-of-
war- Brusiswick anchored near the American men-of-war. The
arrival of so many war-vessels caused the filibusters no little
apprehension. But as the hours passed, and nothing untoward
happened, Walker believed that the American vessels were there
only to watch the British, and to prevent any interfergnce from
that quarter. During the day, séveral boats put out’ from the
Soratoga and proceeded up the river; but as these were supposed
to be watering parties, they attracted no particular attention,
except from the experienced filibusters, who noted that the boats
did not come back. Shortly after midnight, Walker quietly sent
Fayssoux up the river in a canoc to learn the object of the boat
expedition. He found that the boats were maintaining a block-
ade. This information was kept from the other filibusters, but the
pnext morning Fayssoux and Hornsby were sent to Paulding to
protest. .Paulding told them that the river had been blockaded
to prévent Walker's men from ascending if, and that he intended

"~ making all the men prisoners and carrying them back to the

United States. : :

- Preparations were at once made for landing a force on the
Point. On December 8, 300 marines and sailors were sent on
board the Fulton, the smallest of the American warships, to which
Paulding then transferred his flag, and she was taken into the
Transit Company’s wharf. There the men were landed, under
circurstances of great difficulty, while the ship, in a heavy sea-
way, was rolling her scuppers to the water. The work of getting
out the boats, and arming, was attended with great labor and
almost insuperable difficulty, yet everything was done in so sea-
manlike and skilful a manner, that it was accomplished in the
shortest possible time, without loss or accident.. Lieutenant Sin-
clair superintended the general duty of the ship, and when the
marines and seamen were embarked in the Fulton, toock command
and' direction of the howitzer barges, and deployed them in t!leir
pi)smon in the harbor on the left of Walker's camp. The marines
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of the squadron, commanded by Lieutenants Lewis and Pz

and three divisions of seamen from the Wabash, with small z¢me
and commanded by Lieutenants Fairfax, Beaumont, and: Paqjgi '3
ing, landed and deployed in order of battle on the right and rear; -
all exhibiting the skill and tactics of practiced troops. * The fores -
amounted in all to about 350. When“these arrangements had beeg - .°
made, and the broadside of the Saratoga sprung to bear on the
+ front, there was no chance of successful resistance on the partof

the filibusters. The demonstration of superior force was wel
managed, and Walker, familiar with the cvents of the preceding
night, was not surprised-at the movement. :

Before Paulding’s arfangements were altogether Sonfaleted,
Walker dismissed his guard and disbanded his

tion, telling some of his more impetuous followers, who were
spoiling for a fight, that resistance would be the height of folly,
Paulding next sent Captain Engle to Walker with a written de-
mand for his surrender. The two met and shook hands, and

Engle delivered his communication. The letter read, in part, as
follows:

The mistake he [Chatard) made was in not driving you from the Point
Arenas when you landed there in-defiance of his guns.

In occupying the Point Arenas and assuming it to be the headquarters
of the army of Nicaragua, and you its commander-in-chief, you and yous
associates being lawless adventurers, you deceive no one by the absurdity,

Lieutenant Cilley, of the Saratoga, informs me that he was in uniform,
and you say he was in plain clothes, when you threatened to shoot him.’

Whilst you use such threats, it may be of some importance for you to
know that if any person belonging to my command shall receive injury
from. your lawless violence, the penalty to you shall be a tribute to
humanity. .

Now, sir, you and your followers are here in violation of the laws of
the United States, and greatly to its dishonor, making war upon a people
with whom we are at peace; and for the sake of humanity, public and
private justice, as well as what js due to the honor and integrity of the
government of the United States, I command you, and the people associ-
ated here with you, to surrender your arms without delay, and embark
in such vessels as [ may provide for that purpose Ve .

“House Exec. Doc. No. 24, 3sth Cong., 1st Sess. The effect of this
letter upon the people of Washington, when it was first published in
United States, about December 27, 1857, is thus recorded by one of Piul-
ding’s friends: “As to your letter to Walker, its stern and terse An -
Saxon spirited phrases_ are in every one's mouth, especially the delicate
and new method of stating the hanging alternative.” (See Mchde, 199.)

LS

military organiz.

m e w¥ANL

ikt s (B Pl alLs 1o43

< -.Walker read the letter without changing a muscle of his' face,
andf théh reimarked: “ I surrender to the United States.” Engle
3. adsked him to lower his flag, and Walker-ordered one of his

. officers to'do 50, After further conversation, Englé ferqarked:

zscenen],l am sorry to see an officer of your ability employed in

F sach’a‘service.  Nothing would give me greater pleasure than to
seé'yoh at the head of regular troops.” * Engle then ordered the

k. mval forces back to the ships, and returned to the Fulton.

~ Several oral messages now passed between Paulding and

g Walker; and one of these, misunderstood by the bearer, greatly

Y some consideration, and had.sent him word that the officers and
¢. mén would have separate quarters. Walker replied that he was

asking no special benefits, and Paulding, regarding this as a piece
of impudence, ordered Walker’s immediate embarkation on the
- Fulton. What followed may best be told in Paulding’s own
words, as contained in a letter to his wife:

i gt
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Y . Upon this he came to sce me, and this lion-hearted devil, w:ho had §6
often destroyed the lives of other men, came to me, humbled himself, and
! wept like a child. You may suppose it made a woman of me, and I have
“J& bad him in the cabin since as my guest. We laugh and talk as though
‘3 sothing- had bappened, and you would think, to see him with the c:'iptam
a5 mdmysdf,' that he was one of us. He is a smart fellow, and requires a
“‘: sharp l:eht‘)w’to deal with him.® .
4 _“;I;h'ere was something almost dramatic in the meeting of these
tvfo men for the first time, and the officers and crew could barely
. conceal their excitement as the filibuster chieftain stepped on the
" deck of the Fulton. The gigantic frame of the commodore in
uniform contrasted strangely with the slight figure of the general
iix,sc;mber' civilian garb; and observers noted that Wa]ker’s-.eyes
\ were very red, an indication, as Paulding himself has testified,
L . that his emotions had gotten the better of him. .
It was the irony of fate that just as Walker surrendered to
MIe; and his red-starred flag was hauled down, a .belateq
x_iﬁ'ei' st'éamer, the Morgan, which had gone aground 12 miles up-
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% Another ‘version of this dialogne has it that Captain Engk.: said to
3 Walker: “ General, I am sorry to see you here. A man like you is worthy
E I_@:'comma.nd better men.” To which Walker is said to have grimly re-
. ﬁed. “If I had a third the number you have brought agal'nst mc,_I
 would show you which of us two commands the better men.” (Davis,
“Real Soldiers of Fortune.”)

?Meade, “Life of Paulding,” 190.
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. offended the commodore. [t seéms he had tried to skow Walker

A

4

" e

Rt




streany, came in sight, having 12 filibusters and 30 Costalh;.
prisoners on board.. A detachment of United Statés.
seized the, boat; liberated the prisoners, captured the
and placed the steamer in the keeping of the United States
mercial agent at Greytown.
Morgan and Garrison, who had accompanied Walkento Nica. -
ragua, claimed the Morgan on behalf of his principals, but. P;uu,

ing recognized him as one of the filibusters, and sent him o boqd
the Saratoga”

chaparral, intending to make their way up the river and join -
Colonel F. P. Anderson, one of Walker's lieutenants. - On lhg
following day, the marines beat around the dense undergrowth,
and by night had rounded up 32 of the men. The rest had taken
a boat and gone up the river. On the night after the surrender,
the denizens of Greytown came over and plundered the camp to
their heart’s content. A few stores that remained were placed
on board the Wabash to be turned over to the United States
authorities. .

The officers and men, with the exception of Walker and ope
other, were placed on board the Saratoga, and on the 12th of
December, less than a month after their departure from Mobile,
they were on their way back to the United States. Walker was
not placed on board the Saratoga, on account of the ill- feclmgb&
. tween him and Commander Chatard. The Saratoga took tht men
and officers to Nor{olk, while the !’ abash returned to her stahon
at Aspinwall,

* Walker gave his parole to Paulding to return to the Uniteﬁ
States on the regular miail steamer, and to surrender himself on
reaching New York to the United States marshal. His conduct
on the I¥abash was in complete contrast with his attitude toward
the officers of the St. Mary’s after his surrender to Davis. Ot -
that vessel he had been morose, insolent, and overbearing, whlle
he was now genial and conciliatory. As Paulding reached Aspm
wall five days before the scheduled departure of the New York

steamer, he endeavored to persuade Walker to remain on board

shore ; but Walker declined to remain even for another meal

the vessel cast anchor, and took a room at one of the town’s
ferent hotels.

the Wabash, where he would have had better quarters th1
if-

- l'\ ;o
L d o
e

¥ Meade, p. 197.
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Mr. C. J. McDonald, the age;;;ol

g
When Walker surrendered, some 40 of his men took 1o the

TuE NAVY AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES 1847
When the Wabash steamed away from Greytown, Colonel
3 ﬁqémm was still up the river. The Fulton was therefore sent’
. ﬁ'qg mquth of the ‘Colorado, and the Susquchanna, Captam
2 Toshua, R.. Sands, which had. just arrived, was stationed at the
Jmouth of the San Juan thereby preventing the escape of Ander-
-j“ qulus men, as well as the landing of any reinforcements for
* Walker that might be on their way from the United States.
On hurmg of Walker's capture, Andetson. abandoned his strong-
. hold and, placed his force on board the steamer Ogden. On
} December 20, he sent a letter to Captain Sands, stating that he
') . wished to disband his command, and inquiring whether they
'ouldbc permitted to enter Greytown. Most of them, he stated,
. wished - to return to the United States. Sands replied that he
i would send back to the United States any man who would sur-
; render to him on board his ship. On the 24th, Sands took his boat’s
" crews up the river and captured the remaining filibusters on the
; Ogden. Anderson surrendered under protest. The command,
mxmbenng 45, were taken to Aspinwall, in the Fulton, and there
: transferred to the I abash. Paulding set them ashore at Key
- West, and Walker's third filibustering expedition was likewise a
tfnng of the past.

The intelligence of the capture of Walker and his followers
m recewed by the government of Nicaragua with much satis-
( faction. "In the name of the Republic, Maximo Gerez, General of
the‘ Nlcaraguan forces, extended his thanks to Paulding on board
13 thé Wabash, in January, 1858. The Minister Plenipotentiary of
Nféangua in Washington was also expressly directed to make
; i, hlbwn to the government of the United States that Nicaragua
E . approved with full satisfaction the capture, on its own territory,
. of the filibusters by the naval forces under Pauldlng Directions
Y were further given that its assent to that incursion should be pub-
'3 hshed in all the journals of the United States; and .the (‘If:ntral
' American press republished it with the greatest enthusiasm. B
- ~Chatard, as we have seen, had held that it was not “ due dili-.
H 3 gence" or legitimate means to arrest the Fashion within a for-
elgn port In this construction of his orders he was not sustained,
- l;lt,wnth marked severity, was suspended from his command and
E~ordered to return to the United States, there to await the action.
¥ s of the Navy Department. The punishment of this officer, for his
: doubts was thus communicated to Commodore Paulding by the
Secgctary of the Navy, under date of December 18, 1857:
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stream, came in sight, having 12 filibusters and 30 Costa R, _{: »When the ¥ abash steamed away from Greytown, Colonel
prisoners on board. A detachment of United Smté‘#‘.%‘j ¢ ‘was still up the river. The Fulton was therefore sent’
seized the. boat; liberated the prisoners, captured the dilibpaeey, -, 32 i"’%‘“ mouth of the Colorado, and the Susquchanns, Captain
p and placed the steamer in the keeping of the United 5&?% ' é Igﬁugifkiilsmds, .which had. just arrived, was stationed at the

mercial agent at Greytown. Mr. C. J. McDonald, the ‘agent'o i mouth of the San Juan, thereby preventing the escape of Ander-
Morgan and Garrison, who had accompanied Walker,
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reaching New York to the United States marshal. His conduct
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Should the Saratoga not have left before you receive this
suspend Commander Chatard from his command, and order him to
to the United States to await the further action of the Department.’ Yoy

will then place Lieutenant George S. Sinclair in command of lheSaﬁ:i&"

with directions to carry out the instructions to Commandef Chatard:éf . ]

the 16th ultimo, to proceed to Norfolk.*

This suspension of Commander Chatard was accompanied by

new orders to Commodore Paulding, enjoining * particular vigi- )

lance.” These orders read, in part, as follows: ’

The three points which it is most important to guard are Aspinwalt’
Chiriqui, ahd San Juan del Norte, and with this [in] view you will s
pose of the forces under your command to the best advantage.. The
President directs me to inform you that he considers it all-important that
you should not leave the neighborhood of these points until further in-
structed by the Department, which you are hereby ordered not to do under

any circumstances.

The vessel hearing this despatch arrived at Aspinwall on the
31ist of December. But the communication, having been directed
to Greytown instead of Aspinwall, had been left at Kinkston,
Jamaica, thence forwarded to St. Thomas, thence to Greytown
and Aspinwall, finally reaching Paulding at his residence in Hunt.
ington, Long Island, on March 17, 1858, some time after he had
been relieved of command of the Home Squadron.  As it was,
Paulding arrived at Key West, on bbard the 1$’abash, on ]anda;j,

17, 1858. There the prisoners taken on the San Juan River b, :

Captain Sands were delivered over to the custody of the marshal

of that district, to undergo examination. On February g, the E

IVa_ba;h sailed for New. York, and on the 18th, Paulding was de-
tached from command of the Home Squadron." i
The first orders detaching Paulding fr::m the command of the Hon;e

Squadron read as follows: * You are hereby detached from the command

of the Home Squadron, and a leave of absence s granted to you for thrée
months, at the expiratién of which you will report to this department [the
Navy Department].”-. This order was subsequently withdrawn, howéver,
lest it might be misunderstood as a reprimand and Suspension; angd, the
following order, addressed * Flag Officer Hiram Paulding, Command’i.nl"
_Home- Squadron, New York,” was substituted: “ Having been over two,
years In command of the Home Squadron, you are hereby detached from

-

that command, and you will regard yourself as on leave of absencd for

thrée months.” . .

"1 e
HEIN

* Housé Exec. Doc. No. 24, 35th Cong., 1st Sess. P

-

:Senate Exec. Doc. No. 63, 35th Cong., 1st Sess.; also, Meade, 191"
Senate Exec. Doc. No. 63, 35th Cong., 1st Sess, ’

[To Be ConTiNUED]

, you wi .

Fruom.
But Chatard had already left, with the Saratoga, about Decety:
ber 12, and arrived at Norfolk on January 1, 1858, - * /% -
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" Announcements

' dre writing or who contemplate writing essays submit them at
-~ their earliest convenience, as the Institute is in pressing need of

o

~ :
i U. S. NAVAL INSTITUTE . - ™

SECRETARY'S NOTES

c;:r?;? as a member of the Board of Control by the Board
Control to fill the vacancy created by the resignation of

- Brigadier General John A. Lejeune, U. S. M. C, [

Ballots for Members are requested to return the signed

Election of  ballots for the election of officers of the U. S. Naval
Officers Institute, 1918-1919.

Regular and associate members of the U. S. Naval

“" Dues Institute are subject to.the payment of the annual dues

.

until the date of the refeipt of their resignation.

Routine Book, 1918, by Captain Reginald
Book R. Belknap, U. S. Navy, will be ready for
issue about August 1. The Routine Book
in a concise form comprises-the general fea-

% tures of organization, administration and ordinary station bills in
- the sérvice and is applicable to all classes of vessels. Unbound
. ‘copies of the Routine Book for bulletin board purposes may be
.. obtained if desired. The table of contents may be found in the

book list.

~:Seamanship Department Notes containing new Mooring Board

problems and The Landing Force Manual, U. S. Navy, 1918,
are now ready for issue. ‘ o

- The attention of all the members and the sub-
Prize Essays  scribers to the U. S. NavaL INSTITUTE PROCEED-

1919 INGS is invited to the new rules governing the
e Prize Essay'contest for 1919 under the heading
of Special Notice in this number. It is requested that authors who

“articles for publication in the PROCEEDINGS.
66 - »

Captain W. H. Standley, U. S. Navy, was selected _
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il LLETTERS ON NAVAL STRATEGY

On the 17th Villeneuve reached Cape St. Vincent. where he was
observed by two English cruisers. On the 2oth he arrived off
Cadiz, where Collingwood was lying with his four of the line.
Magon's light squadron drove him off and the combined fleet
went into port. Collingwood with rare courage resumed the
blockade. The fact that he was able with four of the line to hold
a position close up to 30 of the enemy chows the very superior
seamanship of the English and what a great advantage’it gave
to the English admirals. If French or Spanish <hips tried to do

such a thing they would have been overtaken and captured in
no time. -
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Tue WaLker-Pavrvine IMproOGLIO

Upon his return to the United States, Walker lost no time in
laying his case before the administration. It was the duty of the
American Government, he said, to return his men to the place
from which they had been forcibly removed, and to salute the
flag of Nicaragua for the insult it had received.'

Secretary of State Cass admitted that the government had no
right to detain Walker in custody, and he was accordingly released.
This act was regarded by Walker as the administration’s dis-
avowal of ["anlding’s act. But the arrest of the filibusters naturally
called forth a number of different opinions in the United States.
The, abolitionists loudly applauded the deed, and were fully

satisfied in stating that Paulding had acted in obedience to the

“higher law.” On the other hand, indignation meetings were
held in all the principal cities of the South, at which resolutions
were adopted remarkable chiefly for their fervid language.
Several Southern Congressmen also gave notice that they would
introduce a resolution that Walker be returned to Nicaragua in
a national vesscl. '

On January 4, 1838, the House of Representatives passed a
resolution, requesting the President to inform the House, “ if not
incompatible with the public interest, whether the government of
Nicaragua has made any complaint against our government on
account of the act of Captain Paulding in arresting William
Walker and his followers within the territory of Nicaragua.”
Secretary of State Cass, to whom this resolution was referred by
President Buchanan, replied, on January 7, that no such complaint
had up to that time reached his department. Also, on January 4,

'New York Herald, Dec. 29, 1857, quoted by Scroggs.
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2064  THE Navy axp FILIBUSTERING IN THE FirTies

the Senate passed a resolution, calling for ** the correspondence,
instructions, and orders to the United States naval forces on the
coast of Central America, connected with the arrest of William
Walker and his associates.”*

The transmission of this information the President made the
occasion for a special message, in which he declared that Paulding,
in landing an armed force on Nicaraguan soil, had committed
“a grave error,” which should not go unnoticed, lest it be con-
strued as a precedent. Tt was evident, however, that the com-
modore, whom the President referred to as **a gallant officer,”
had acted “ from pure and patriotic motives and in the sincere
conviction that he was promoting the interest and vindicating
the honor of his country.” While Paulding’s act was a violation
of her sovereignty, Nicaragua had sustained no injury therefrom,
but rather had been benefited by the removal of a hostile invader.
Nicaragua alone had any right to complain.  Walker, himself an
invadef, could not conceivably complain of the invasion by Paul-
ding. If the naval officer had arrested Walker at any time before
he entered the port, he would have been wholly justified, and would
have performed a praiseworthy act, as the cighth section of the
neutrality law empowered the President to use the land and naval
forces of the United States to prevent the “carrving on” of
such expeditions to their consummation after they had succeeded
in leaving the country. It was commonly believed, however, that
if the administration had not been so anxious, just at that time,

'On  May 19, 1858, the Senate passed another resolution, requesting the
President “to communicate to the Senate all correspondence, instructions,
and orde?rs. not heretofore communicated to either branch of Congress,
connected with the arrest of William Walker and his associates by the
naval forces under the command of Commodore Paulding, including all
the correspondence between him and the Navy Department sin
of Walker in relation thereto, or in relation to the property or persons seized

. by the forces under his command, and including, also, copies of any letters,
orders, or instructions, if any, addressed to Commodore Paulding, which
may have been subsequently withdrawn from him by the Navy Depart-
ment, and the reasons for such withdrawal.” These documents were
printed and published as Senate Executive Document No. 63, 35th Congress,
Ist Session. Finally, on December 21, 1858, the Senate called for copies
of all the letters and correspondence on file in the Navy Department,
between the President of Nicaragua and Commodore Paulding, in refation
to the capture of Walker. These documents were printed and publ?shed as
Senate Executive Document No. 10, 35th Congress, 2d Session.

ce the arrest
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to please the extreme South wing, Paulding wd'uld havé'peen- )
most signally sustained. The . Secretary of the Navy is even
reported to have said to a naval officer high in rank, that what-
ever he (the Secretary) might politically think, he entirely ap-
proved of Paulding’s conduct officially.’ .

The Walker-Paulding imbroglio was now due to receive a
thorough airing in both Houses of Congress. Debates on the
subject continued, with brief intervals of suspension, for the next
five months. The critics of the admipistration—in other words,
Walker's supporters—argued as follows: (1) Walker was guilty
of no violation of the neutrality law, inasmuch as the expedition
was not organized on a military basis within the jurisdi;tion of the
United States; (2) even if this were the case, the emigrants could
not be lawfully molested, once they had reached the high seas,
inasmuch as the laws of a nation are not in effect at a distance
exceeding a marine league from its shores; (3) neither Chatard
nor Paulding, therefore, had any right to interfere with Walker
in the harbor of Greytown, or on the high seas,’ and in removing
Chatard for not acting, and censuring Paulding for acting, the
administration was guilty of gross inconsistency; (4) the act of
landing an armed force could be no greater breach'of Nic-ara.guan
sovereignty than the act of forcibly preventing their landing; (5)
the fact that Nicaragua did not complain was ng justification of
Paulding’s act, that matter being beside the point; at}d, finally
(6), even Nicaragua's full consent to the arrest, previously ob-
tained, would not ipso facto have empowered the President to
authorize the seizure, unless he had previously received such
authority by an act of Congress.

Critics of Walker were found among hoth Northern and South-
ern delegations. The same is true with regard to the defcndfars
of Paulding, though the latter got only occasional commendation
from the South. Senator Mallory, of Florida, was one of Pauld-
ing’s warmest defenders. He knew the Commodore persona_lly,
and regarded him as one of the brightest ornaments of the service.

* Meade, pp. 199-200. ) . )

*It will be recalled that Commander Davis refused to prevent the landing
of recruits for Walker at San Juan del Sur, when request.ed to do so by the
Central American allies, on the ground that it was not h!s ‘duty to enfo.rce
the laws of the United States within the territorial jurisdiction of a foreign
power.
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He held that “ the instructions were vague. and might be inter-
preted so as to authorize this action.” Mr. Zollicoffer, of Ten-
nessee, also was inclined to blame the author of the instructions,
rather than the man who tried to carry them out. If Chatard could

lawfully have prevented the landing in a neutral port, Paulding -

could lawfully have landed a force and broken up the expedition
anded. Wright, of Georgia, sought to secure con-
sideration of a set of resolutions, declaring the arrest unlawfuyl
but.in accordance with the instructions of the Secretary of the
Navy. Senator Crittenden, of Kcntucky, was also among those
who denied that Paulding.had committed a grave error. Other
defenders of the naval officer were Messrs. Thompson, Pottle, and
Palmer, of New York; Curtis, of lowa; and Ritchie and Mont-
gomery, of ?cnnsylvaqia.
In the Senate, moreover, Doolittle, of Wisconsin, introduced
a joint resolution directing the presentation of a gold medal to
Paulding * as a testimonial of the high sense entertained by Con-
gress of his gallant conduct.” Brown, of Mississippi, immediately
moved to strike out all but the enacting clause, and substitute a
resolution disavowing and condenming the officer's action. ™ Great
God!™ he exclhimed, " Commodore Paulding. commanding as
many, perhaps, as one hundred guns—1 have not made the esti-
mate of it, but there were certainly so many-—having disposed
of them at his leisure, with five or six hundred men, captures—
what? Walker and a handful of filibusters, who laid down their
arms at the very first summons, and made no sort of resistance
upon paper or anywhere else; and Congress is called upon to vote
a falsehood—that in this there was extraordinary gallantry! |
know very well that the commodore, writing home to the gov-
ernment, says that all his men behaved with extraordinary gal-
lantry.” Why, sir, I suppose the next thing will be, if our army
should approach Salt Lake, and all the Mormon mer should be
away, and they should make a desperate charge and capture all
the women, they must all have medals for their extraordinary gal-
lantry. [Laughter.] It would be a very much more gallant act
than this act of Paulding, and one much more deserving a medal.”*
In short, whenever this medal resolution came up for discussion,

»

* Speeches of Albert G. Brown (1839), p. s19.
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it precipitated such a flood of debate, that its cons:ideration would.
be postponed, until finally it was talked to death.

Paulding’s defenders based their arguments on the follopring
considerations: (1) Walker was a fugitive from justice, and an
American officer had a right to_arrest him anywhere, with the
consent of the country in which he had sought asylum; (2) this -
consent had practically been given in the note of Molina and Iri-
sarri, dated September 14, 1857, when they asked that a naval force
be stationed off the coast to prevent the filibusters from landing ;*
(3) even if there were no previous consent, the point at which
Walker disembarked (FPunta Arenas) was an uninhabited barren
waste, over which no country had ever effectively extended its
jurisdiction, and the landing of an armed force there was no real
violation of foreign territory : finally, (4), the United States was
responsible to any friendly power for an armed invasion of its
territory by American citizens, and because of its responsibility
it was justified in taking the measures necessary to break up the
expedition.

The debating, in short, showed much conflict of opinion. The

friends of neither Paulding nor Walker accepted the viewpoint
of tle administration, and consequently President Buchanan was
subjected to severe criticism. At the same time, many who agreed
with the President in condemning both the filibuster and the naval
officer, strongly disapproved the government’s method of dealing
with the case. The severest arraignment of all came from Senator
Shidell, of l.ouisiana. Paulding received some censure from
him, but the denunciation of Walker was  unsparing. Paulding,
he declared, by his high-handed action, had succceded only in
arousing a false sympathy for the filibuster, and had given him. a
martyr's crown. Slidell defended the administration in its dl.S-
placing of Chatard for not acting against the filibusters, while
censuring Paulding for acting. Chatard, he said. should have
arrested \Valker and his followers on board their vessel. This
was an American ship, flving the American flag, and was therefore
a bit of American territory no matter where it might be. The

¢ Neither of these gentlemen, at that time, was entitled to speak officially
for Nicaragua, it is true, but on November 15, three weeks before Walker’s
arrest, Irisarri had been formally received as the representative of that
country.
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2068 THE NAVY AND FILIBUSTERING IN THE FIFTIES

organization of an armed expedition on the decks of that vessel
was therefore a violation of the neutrality law, and her voyage
was illicit. As long as the filibusters remained on board, they
were subject to arrest ; but once they had stepped on’ foreign soil,
they were beyond the jurisdiction of the United States.

In the end, the injormation transmitted to Congress by the
President was referred, in the Senate, to the Committee on Foreign
Salalrs, anu ui e flouse 1o de Wi espohuing comimittee, except
that that part dealing with naval orders and instructions was
referred to the House Committee on Naval Affairs. The Com-
mittee on Foreign Affairs was thus ‘apparently charged with an
inquiry into the international relations of the subject, the duties
of our government and people towards those of other friendly
nations, the proper construction of our ncutrality laws, the just
power, and authority, of our government over Walker and his
associates, and whether, as a measure of government, their arrest
was justifiable and proper in these respects, or otherwise: while
the Committee on Naval Affairs was charged with inquiring into
the administrative aspects of the subject, or the relations which
certain officers of the navy borcK towards the government, and
more especially whether the arrest of Walker and his associates
by Paulding was authorized by the instructions which he had
received from the Navy Departinent.

It appeared to the Committee on Naval Affairs that the instruc-
tions contained in the circular of the Sccretary of State before
mentioned were those under which Paulding acted when he
arrested Walker. No others apparently were ever given to him.
The question which the committee considered, therefore, was, Did
these instructions justify Paulding in arresting Walker and his
followers at the time and under the circumstances stated? The
committee found no difficulty in reporting that they did not.*

In"concluding its majority report, the House Committee on
Naval Affairs went on record as follows: -

It is because we think the law ought thus to be maintained and enforced
that we are for holding our officers to the strict line of their duty. A

venial violation of instruction is pardoned to-day, perhaps applauded.
“ To-morrow the fatal precedent will plead,” and another officer, panting

" Cong. Globe, passim, quoted in Scroggs.

ﬁ‘
* See House Rept. No. 74, 35th Cong., 1st Sess. -
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for the same applause given to his predecessor, will violate his instructions

in some more important particular, and the country, by its own weak tolera- ~

tion of error, will be brought into trouble. “Naval officers are not selected
with a2 view to their skill in diplomacy, or their ability to arrange inter-
national systems. They are, or should be, selected with a view to their skill
in naval matters, and the first requisite for all executive officers is strict
obedience to orders.

Commodore Paulding has gone beyond his instructions in an important
particular. He has adjudged General Walker to have been guilty, when the
courts had not done so. He has entered upon the soil of Nicaragua to
arrest him. He has done an act which is in itself an act of war. He has
invaded the privileges of the authority designated by the Constitution as
the war-making power. .

We have every reason, however, to believe that he was actuated by
patriotic motives. In arresting Walker, he did an act which he thought
would be advantageous in its results. If he did evil, it was done, most
likely, upon the misguided policy of deducing good from it. He believed .
that Walker had broken our laws; and if the privilege of sanctuary was
violated to arrest him, he probably considered himself justified on the
ground that the purpose was to bring an offender to justice. He might
have thought that if the soil of Nicaragua was invaded, it was a sufficient
apology that it was done to relieve her from a pest which she dreaded.
These seem to have been his motives, and they may well go far to protect
him from any harsh animadversion. His act we consider nevertheless an
error, and a grave crror. Lest, therefore, it might plead as a precedent
for graver errors in future, it should, in our opinion, receive the disapproval
of Congress.

A minority of the Committee on Naval Affairs, not being able
to agree with the majority, reported that in their opinion Com-
modore Paulding was not only justified in capturing Walker and
his associates, and returning them to the jurisdiction of the United
States, but that, undet his orders, such was his imperative duty.
They said:

It is the duty of an officer strictly to obey orders from his sup'eriors;
but it is equally the duty of the superior to make the orders definite .and
precise. If the orders are general and vague, all that should t.>e rcqu;.red
of an officer is that he should, by a fair construction, gather their meaning,
and then carry it strictly into execution. It is frequently a matter of
complaint by officers of the army and navy that they are required to per-
form delicate duties under vague orders from a secretary of a depar'trpc':nt
of the general government, an office usually administered by a civilian
unaccustomed to the necessary precision of military qrders. e The
necessary and fair construction of this order {contained in the crrcula'r ?f
the Secretary of State] was that the naval force was to be useq u.nlltm
the threatened port, within the marine league, and within the loca‘l jurisdic-
tion of a foreign power. The act required was one of police, to be

P o
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exercised at a port; and, therefore, the force must command the landing,

. It is difficult in principle to distinguish between a seizure by our naval
force of an American vessel and its crew within a foreign port and a
seizure of the same crew after its landing. Both are a violation of the local
jurisdiction, just as much under the Jocal law, as the adjacent shore. Upon
this point the authorities upon the law of nations and the municipal law
agree. . . . . The undersigned cannot reconcile why Commander Chatard
should be suspended for failing to arrest Walker within the port of San
Juan, and yet Commodore Palilding committed a “ grave error” in arrest-
ing him on the nearly deserted shere of Punta Arenas, when both localities
are within the jurisdiction of Nicaragua, and his arrest at either place had
the hearty sanction of that government. . . .. Under these circumstances,
the undersigned state. as a correct principle of international law, that it
was the duty of our government to capture this expedition wherever it
could be done without a violatiun of the rights of a foreign power; and
acting in strict pursuance of his instructions to use " due diligence"” and'
* legitimate means,” it was the imperative duty of Cummodore Paulding
to arrest Walker and his associates, and return them to the jurisdiction of
the United States, keeping jn view, however, that in doing so he must not
violate, without its consent either expressed or conclusively implied, the
rights of a foreign power, and commit no unnccessary injury to the per-
son seized. . . .. : All doubt about the consent of Nicaragua is removed by
subsequent cvents. After this expedition had been arrested, instead of
complaining of a violation of local jurisdiction, the minister of Nicaragua
returned the thanks of his government for the act of Commodore Paulding,
thus adding a subsequent ratification to the previous consent of that
government.

It must be admitted that Commodore Paulding effected the arrest in a
manner highly creditable to himself and the force under his command.
* The debarkation of this force was well conducted; it was sufficient to
deter opposition, and this lawless foray was broken up without the shedding
of human blood, and without a breach of the legal rights of any nation or
individual. ’

The undersigned, therefore, do not concur in the opinion stated by the
President, and sanctioned by the committee, that Commodore Paulding
committed a grave error; but, on the contrary, are of the opinion that, if
there was any error, it was in the vagueness of the orders under which
Commodore Paulding was required to act. We regard his conduct as in ac-
cordamce with the spirit of his orders, and highly creditable to him and
_ his command, and is descrving the approbation of his countr)

While the verdict of posterity may express appreciation of
Paulding’s motives, the censuring of his act by the President and
Congress should nevertheless be approved, and this regardless of
any question of the merits or demerits of filibustering. That

Paulding had no authority for his action, he himself appears to

, -
House Rept. No. 74, 35th Cong., 15t Sess. >
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admit in his correspondence with the Navy Department and with
his wife. In his letter of December 11, 1857, to Secretary Toucey.
he said: * In the course I have pursued, I have acted from my
judgment, and trust it may meet with the approbation of the
President.”” And in his letter of the 15th of December, speak-
ing of the arrest, he says:

1 could not regard Walker and his followers in any other light than as
outlaws who had escaped from the vigilance of the government and left
our shores for the purpose of rapine and murder, and I saw no other way
to vindicate the law and redeem the honor of our country than by dis-
arming them and sending them home. Tn"doing so 1 am fully sensible of
the responsibility I have incurred. and confidently look to the govern-
ment for my justification. . . . . Flumanity, as well as law and justice and
national honor, demanded the dispersion of these lawless men."

To his wife, Paulding had written:

1 have taken strong measures in forcing him [Walker] from neutral
territory. [t may inake me President, or cost me my commission.™

And, finally, in a communication-te Mr. Thomas F. Youngs, he

made the following admission : . \
The circular order from the State Department . . . . had been furnishecd
tome. . ... Although its commands did not comprehcnd my taking thesc

marauders on foreign soil, yet there, on an isolated sandbank, I found a set
of lawless men, who, in dehance of tiie President’s proclamation and all
the requirements of the laws of our country . . .. had disembarked under
the American flag with the avowed purpose of making war upon a pcople
with whom we were at peace. . . .. What could I do but'send them home?
The honor of the country, law, justice, and humanity left me no other
alternative.”

If Paulding thought that his conduct was in strict obedience
to instructions, he would surely not have been sensible of having
incurred heavy responsibility. It is clear, therefore, that he went
bevond his instructions, and that he did so with full knowledge
of the facts. Moreover, if he sincerely believed that Walker was
an outlaw and pirate, bent on rapine and murder, why did he
address him as ** General,” share with him his mess and cabin,
and send him all the way from Aspinwall to New York on his

mere parole of honor?

*MS. Arch., Navy Dept, Home Sq., 11, 61, quoted by Scroggs.
* Meade, p. 190.
*Meade, pp. 195-96.
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A'number of journals of the day ascribed Paulding’s act merel
to pique because his squadron had been outwitted, and the ﬁliy
busters had dared to “ talk back " to a captain of the navy.® )
Others ascribed it to the influence of the two Britis;xT com-
manders on that station, who had dined with the commodore
the dfxy previous to the arrest. The commander of the Brum—i(::
had, in fact, offered to co-operate with Paulding in removing th
party from Punta Arenas, but Paulding had declined his oﬂ'e%"‘ )
fIt ha§ also been pointed out that Paulding was a warm fri.end
chlierx;:s, and was offended by Walker's criticism of his fellow
.It will be recalled, also, that during the previous summer, Paul
ding had been compelled to carry home from Aspinwall 2; laru-
number of survivors of the siege of Rivas, and their suﬁ'eringe
and destitution were  still vivid pictures in his memor whgs
he resolved on Walker's arrest. It is probable tiat l:in
conduct was influenced somewhat by all of these considcrationss

;.md that lns. motives were really more complex than he was will-
ing to admat.

In censuring Paulding, it would scem th: ini i
was only following the precedent c(s(ablishtc(;th:}::\ca::]:l‘n:)sftréuon
mf)dorc David Porter, who in 1825 landed a naval fo.r;c n Pc(::c;
BICO and compelled the alcalde of a village to apologize for th
;\nsults offered to an American naval officer. For this, as is welel
. - "
t::‘;:\’.alczg:t]izg;m Porter was censured and suspended from

‘_I})Iuring all this time, Paulding had not been made acquainted
with the pleasure of the'.\'av_v Department relative to the disposal
of the stores and arms taken on board the JI’abash and the Sara-

toga at Punta Arenas. Accordingly, under date of February 20
1858, he wrote as follows to the Secretary of the Navy: >

Orlol:;:::\iv?;t l;zwt;ar it may be conmdered that T am responsible, personally

oo  for the course I pursued in breaking up the canfp of William
~Walker and embarking his stores and munitions of war, d it wi

apparent to the department that it is of so much importa;lcaen tol:n:'l;]i]st:)

ns r -

. Me; \kAl::}:Iii; sSc‘:'zpbo%k No. }‘{4, pPP. 273, 278-79, quoted by Scroggs
3 , Navy Dept.,, Home Sq. i v '

o Rothe ded by oo e Sq., II, 61, cited by Scroggs.

: .
* Scroggs, pp. 333-52, passim. N
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excuse my importunity in pressing the subject upon its decision. T wou'¢
now, Sir, respectiully request that the responsibility be assumed by the
government, of, if this shall be declined, that I may be permitted to dispose’
of them in such mauner as I may be legally advised.

In the course that I have pursued towards the lawless men at Punta
Arenas, I had supposed the department would have conveyed to me what-
ever views it might have entertained ; and, under all the embarrassing cir-
cumstances in which T have been placed in the performance of difficult and
responsible duties, 1 cannot refrain from expressing my extreme regret
that no sentiment that may have been entertained has reached me.

In connection with this*subject it may be considered proper, in justice
to myself, that I should observe that my \_vhole proceeding, from the land-
ing of Walker at Punta Arenas to the landing of Anderson in this ship
fthe IWobash) at Key West, was prompted by no other than strictly
patriotic and national motives. Whilst it seems to have met the approval
of the country, I am made to feel that [ have not secured the approbation of
the department. 1 cannot suppose that this was designed, yet all the
circumstances connected with my recent service combine to make this
impression on my mind.

W henever it shall be the pleasure of the department, 1 deem it important
to myself officially, and to the government, to be favored with an inter-
view with the Hon. Sccretary of the Navy and the President.”

The Secretary of the Navy replied that the message of the
President to the Scnate, of the 17th of January, 1858, reviewed
the whole subject of the seizure of Walker and his associates,
and that the views of the President, as expressed in that message,

| were the views entertained by the department, and should have

been so understood by Paulding. The requested interview with
the authorities at Washington was also refused. As for the stores,
arms, ctc., taken on board the Vabash and Saratoga at Punta
Arenas, the commandants of the New York and Gosport navy
vards were instructed that they had no authority to detain the

articles, and would thereiore deliver them to the owner or owners:

who should present a sufficient title to them.”

During the remainder of the administration, Paulding was in
virtual retirement. As for Walker, acting upon the logical se-
quence of the President's opinion, as stated in his message to
Congress, he demanded that the government of the United States
should indemnify him for his losses, and, by granting free trans-
portation to a new expedition, restore the stafus guo ante. Need-
less to say, the petition was not granted. Walker then instituted

1 Genate Exec. Doc. No. 63, 35th Corg.. 15t Sess. .
* [bid. :
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civil suits against Paulding, claiming damages for illegal arrest
and detention, suits which lingered in the courts and were never
adjudicated.” '

It was some comfort to Paulding, however, to know that he had
the gratitude of .\'ica/ragua. The Republic voted him a jewelled
sword and 20 caballerias (about 70 acres) of land; and Congress,
in 1861, gave him permission to receive the sword, but not the
il as the acceptance of the latter gift might prove a danger-
ous precedent.  The sword was a magnificent one, the hilt and
scabbard DIeing solid gold chased in the most elaborate style,
with the coat of arms of the state of Nicaragua beautifully em-
hossed thercon, around which was the following inscription: 1.4
Republica de Nicaragua al Commodore |1, Paulding.”  The scab-
bard and hilt were studded with 13 or more large amethysts, the
native stone of Nicaragua, and on the Plade was engraved the
following: ** Per su noble compartiremente en Punta de Castilla
¢l 8 December de 1857, ™

VIL Tue Exp or Friinester s, 18584x)

During the following two vears (1858-1800), Walker con-
tinued his eflorts to regain power in Nicaragua, his fricuds main-
taining their unshaken confidence in his ability to succeed, as well
as in the “ destiny " which had lately played him such sorry tricks.
On the 30th of October, 1858, P’resident Buchanan found it neces-
sary to issue a proclamation calling attention to certain plans of
emigration companies intending to colonize Nicaragua, the leading
promoter of this enterprise being Walker. “The President warned
the intending emigrants that they would not be allowed to carry
out their project. The American naval forces in the Caribbean
were again urged to vigilance. At the same time, Lord Napier
notified Secretary of State Cass that any attempt of the filibusters
to land at Grevtown, or upon the Mosquito Coast, would be
repelled by the British naval forces, and any attempt to land in
Nicaragua proper, or Costa Rica, would be repelled if the govern-
ments of those countries so requested. Malmesbury, in London.
also notified the American minister, George M. Dallas, that two
British ships had been ordered to Greytown to intercept the fili-

® Roche, 5 167. )
* Meade, p. 28s5. }
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busters, and asked that the American vessels in Central American
b

" waters be ordered to co-operate. A similar request, was made of

the French Government, which consented, and likewise order.ed
a naval force to Central American points. Cas.s, howew:er, with
his well-known European antipathies, natur:iall_\-' did not re'lls'h these
measures of England and France, and notified Lord Napier and
M. de Sartiges that such acts by their government§ would arouse
ill-feeling in the United States, and further complicate the exist-
ing Central American problems. ‘ .

Commiodore James M. McIntosh, who had succeeded .Pauldmg'
in command of the Home Squadron, was cautioiled, on I\'f)vember
17, by Secretary of the Navy Toucey, to vb.e vigilant and mter.cept
any unlawful expgliRon headed for Nicaragua. To av?ld a
ref;elition of the I’a ng affair, Mclnt'osh 'wa.s ordered to mter-
fere only at sea. ™ You will not do this wn:}‘\m anv harbor, nor
land any part of your forecs for the purpose. .

But {llis.stationillg of warships in Central Ame'rlcan ports to
prevent the landing of filibusters, and then orflerxllg thelr. com-
manders to act only on the high seas, was again the occaspn of
much bewilderment to the naval officers con'cerned. They' ad-
dressed frequent letters to the Department, .askmg further enhght-
enment as to their duties, and even setting forth 'hypothetlc.al
cases on which they desired the Department to prescribe a definite
course of conduct. Needless to say, Touceyv was n.ever able to
explain just how a warship lying at anchor, say, in Grcyt-o“in
harbor, should intercept a filibuster craft b?fore it came within
a marine league of the shore. At the same time, the officers were
warned that they must not act on mere susplmon., and must “f’t
interfere with lawful commerce, injunctions which served still
further to muddle the issue.”

It was at this time, also, that Sir \\'i]liam. Corc'()usfle_\' was
instructed by the British Government to negotiate \?’llh Nicaragua
a treaty, one of the objects of which was to terminate t‘hc Mos-
quito Protectorate. Lord Napier, at \Washington,- lmParted
verbally to Secretary of State Cass the general sense of this ;?ro(;
jected treaty, and no objectidr was expresse'd. by the Unite
States Government to its negotiation. The British Government,

™ House Exec. Doc. No. 24, 35th Cong., 2d Sess,, cited by Scroggs.
® Scroggs, pp. 370-72.
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however, deemed it indispensable that Sir William should be pro-
tected in the course of his negotiations by the presence of 3 naval
force from any violence meditated by filibusters, and accordingly
he took passage on board the British steam frigate Valoroys.
The orders issued for Sir William’s protection were considered
by Cass to be incompatible with the Clayton-Bulwer treaty. The
orders were to the effect that f the governm
required, for their defense against filibusters, the active inter-
vention of military power, a suitable armed force was to land,
seize the offenders. and hand them over (if American) to the
nearest authority of the United States, and having done this, to
retire immediately. Iofd Malmesbury held that these orders were
justified, and declared that any attempt hy filibusters to defeat the
operations of Sir Willian1 would certainly be put down,

At the time of the arrival of the ["alorous and the Leopard,
there were two American warships at Grevtown, the Savanngh
and the Jamestowen. On the 18th of November,
was held in Greytown, and resolutions passed, requesting Sir
William to assist the citizens and residents in maintaining their
position as a free and indcpcnder]t government.  This petition was
presented to Sir William on the toth. and a non-committal answer
was returned to the Greytowners. Meantime, the arrival of the
filibustering expedition was daily expected. On the afternoon of
November 18, the steamer I ashington arrived at Grevtown, from
New York, with 330 passengers. bound to California. She was
duly inspected and passed by Captain Joseph R. Jarvis, of the
Savannah. At 5-30 p. m., Colonel Childs procceded up the San
Juan River in the Catharine Maria, bound to Nicaragua, to try
to obtain permission to carry the passengers over the transit to
San Juan del Sur. At midnight, the Catharine Maria. not finding
water enough, returned and went outside to the Colorado River.

Less than an hour after the arrival of the Washington, two
officers from the British warship I"alorous boarded.her and asked
her commander, Captain  Churchill, the following questions:
“Where from>~ * How many passengers have you>" * How
many days out from New York?™ **Did You stop at any po
On your way out®” These qQuestions were duly answerei
The officers then wished 1o look at the | Vashington's passenger
list.  Captain Churchill referred them to his purser. On

ent of .\'icaragua

a town meeting

[Pt
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looking;over the list. the British officers asked, ** How many
o o yony -y o offcers aske by, stating the

- number. “* Are they all Americans?” * No; they are of various

nations.” ‘“ Are they armed?” * Not any to n'1y knowledge.::
“ Did the American officers who boarded you examine your hc?ld?
“No.” Mr. King, the first mate, who was present at _the inter-
view, remarked that if they (the British o-ﬂit:fzrs) wtshe'd any
information on the subject, they might obtain it by applymg to
one of the American ships-of-war in the h_arbor.. The ofﬁc'ers
replied that their instructions were to-.obtain their information
direct. .

About the same tine, Captain Aldham, commandmg ?he Valor-
ous, having received a notification from the authon:mes of the
Nicaraguan and Costa Rican governments that a hf)stlle force -}.md
landed, or was about to land, in the Colon:ado Bl\'er,_and being
requested to aid in preventing such landing, lmmedla'tcl.y des-
patched Captain Wainwright, in the Leopard, to as'certan? if s.uch
was the case. In procegding up the river, Captain Wainwright
observed the Catharine Maria at anchor, and as he nearefl her
perceived some persons on board with whom he was acquainted.
He immediately went alongside, and going on b.oard reques.ted
to be informed if they had heard or seen anythmg. resembling
filibusters in the neighborhood ; and being answered in the nega-
tive, he left the Catharine Maria and returned to Greytown.

At about 9 p. m., the same day, Captain Aldham went on board
the Savannah and asked Captain Jarvis what he thought of .the
steamer IVashington. Jarvis replied he had no doubt of her being
engaged in a lawful pursuit, and that her papers were all correct.
Captain Aldham said he thought s0 too; but t'hat he had heard a
report that she had landed at the Colorado Rn'e‘r over 200 men,
under the command of General Henderson. Jarvis thereupon told
him he did not believe a word of it, that it was all humbug; and

tly agreed with him. '
Alg};ﬂep:-:ﬁn'g o;g the 25th, Commodore McIntos}.l arrived f'at
Greytown in his flagship, the Roanoke. The Sat'annah.wasfstxll
lying in the river, but the Janwsto'uv'l had lc?ft a few days b{el oIre.
Upon learning-the facts from Captain Jarvis, Commodort? Me n(;
tosh, thinking that this might be a case of up{awful visit an
search of American vessels on the part of the British naval forces,
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took immediate steps toward demanding
determined to protect the honor of ou
become necessary. The following corres

an explanation. He was
r flag, in case jt should
pondence was the result:
FLan-SHir * Roaxokg,”

OFF SaN Juax peL NorTE, November 26, 1858

Sir: I enclose to you the copy of a report made 10 me today by
Captain Joseph R, Jarvis, commanding the United States ship Savaxngh,
It relates, as you will perccive, to the visit to the American steamer Wash-
ington by two of the officers of Her Britannic Majesty's Navy, attached to
the ship under your command. T have also a verhal 2 orall report relative
to the boarding by Captain Wainwright, of her Britannic Majesty’s ship
lLeopard, of the American steamer Catharine Maria, in the Colorado River,
in search, it is said, of filibusters,

Of the last act I am as yet but imperfectly informed.
however, quite enough has been ascertained 1o c
the course pursued, and much anxiety,
of maintaining the i
governments.

In hoth cases,
ause me deep regret at
if persevered in, or avain repeated.

reaceful relations aut present existing between our two

My instructions are most rigid in relation 1o the b
examining of American merchant vessels by the ve<sels-of-war of any
other nation, and | sce no difference between the doing <o, whether in
search of filibusters or Africans®

They look to no such difference, and it cannot for a moment Le admitted,
These instructions must be exccuted to the extent of the power intrusted
to my command, and | assure you that it will be most agreeable to me if it
can be done without the slightest misundcrst:mding in relation 10 our re.

spective duties, and still preserve the peaceful relations which now, and
I hope may continye 10, exist between our two nat;

arding, delaying, or

1 any account.
adron under my com-
Nicaragua, Costa Rica, and the other
her illegal expeditions,
under the American flag;
f my squadron are strictly

A part of my duty here, with a portion of the squ

mand, is to prevent the landing in

should any attempt it, from the United States,
and the officers in command of the ships ¢

instructed upon this point. There caun, therefore, be 1o possible excuse for
the interference by the ships-of-war of Her Britannic Majesty’s Navy
with vessels under the American fag, and it is to be hoped that the officers
commanding them will desist from creating all unnecessary excitement and
the danger of an interruption to the good understanding which at present
exists, particularly as [ received, under date of the 7th July last, the assur-
ance of Commodore Kellett that he had issued instructions to the respective

- _
* Similar acts, involving visit and search of American ships by the British
naval forces, had taken place shortly before around the Island of Cuba,

and had been promptly resented by the United States. S
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_otains and commanders of the ships and vessels under his ords.rs “to
it g or interfering with American vessels in these waters,
ccu; m':}’lr:honor to be, sir, very respectfully,'your.obcdient servant,
{ hare James Mc. McIsrtosn, . ‘
Flag Officer, Commandcr-in-Chicf Home Squadron.
> aMm, K. C.B,
S:‘::.m(;nt;::lhr Majesty’'s Stecam Frigate Valorous.

ITew MajeESTY's SHIP * VaLorous,”
Greytown, November 28, 1838.
Sm: 1 have the honor to acknowledge the receipt of your lett.er of t'l‘le
Ah i;istant enclosing a copy of a report made to you b_y _Captamhjal;\-:sh,
inited S ip Suz h, relating to the visit, on the 17
United States ship _Su.unnfx o T i
?f t:}x‘:t of two officers of Iler Majesty's ship under m;' corr;:.nand tto the
Americ “ashi ‘hi j hored at this port.
i hington, which had just anc ]
American steamer IIash , or s port.
’ ; t that you should consi
reply, | must express my regre at ; onside
-'I"tlin pa}n American merchant vessel within this por_t,‘“hxch is under.'the
m,tectgion of Great Britain, for the purpose of obtaining the mf(:»rma}t:o'n
prhoich is usually required by all civilized nations from '.f'esse:isl cnter:ng. t te]-:;
w . - . . . - . r ln
c r'in any friendly port,
or those under their protection, o n 0 :
harbeo;i:ht as the delaying, boarding, and examining of an :}.mcncan \essle!
samthc high seas in search of slaves or pirate.s; and 1 stxll. mg.re deep ;l
o’ et that my acting in accordance with established usages in this reslx]).ech
:;i:lld cause you to apprehend any such grave dangers as that to whic
)‘0;1 tlrltlx:?io remove from your mind any misunden:standing as to my'acts
and intentions, and beg to assure you that in carr)i']mg out rpyc;n::;ur;t;f;r:ls;
! simi vhich you have receiv
ich are of a similar nature to those w ]
v“h:rn?neﬂt and which you have been kind enough to communicate to m;
igto:vi}l be m;' earnest endecavor and my rr‘zost pleasing d;ﬁty to act ::‘ a :,f}?;r
of perfect frankness and cordiality with th.e flag officer, or any
‘ni the station.
of the United States forces on ' ]
OE"IS;::e are some circumstances which appear to have escaped your atten
i i ; otice.
i nd which 1 beg to bring to your n . ' ,'
“o’;'li!ea ls'a:hington had been boarded by the Lr}x]nt;dbStates shiltfej‘atza;:t:::
i d as she had been perm
1! o my sending a boat to her, an . nter
S:e‘;:::):)r it) was evident, judging from the declarations of the Ulr:t':d
St:tes Gov::rnment against all illegal invaders, that she ;\ats)_ggtnertr;pe:tﬂ:
by the filibusters, for in that case she would have been forbi ‘ e
- red i i : ral
(h;?z; the I¥°ashington had anchored in t:)ns'port, the“ ;x:u?:"a::egatho
' i ike inquiries and obtain news w .
of sending to make inquiries ] ] d. Mo
c::{l?l:ition of all friendly intercourse between Amenca: me_rnclzznrtne- SpUCh
fen er vessels and Her Majesty's ships had been made. ‘I;P“d naﬁon; uch
i tgcourse is customary in times of peace among all civi ize nat U,nith
1: ::ver objected to by Her Majesty's officers when practiced by
Sales menof war 0 Eﬂgﬁs: m;rcslt‘;:t:;:l‘{ibition would have been in the
to point out that such a ho ' "
pr:sl:l% casl:: highly inconvenient to some of the passengers on bo.
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Majesty’s packets with
bor or elsewhere,

nations with whom our respective 8overnments are jn peacefyl relation ;
such an honorable course was to be expected from the well-known djs.
position and declaration of the United States Government; ang it is highly
satisfactory to me 1o acquaint you that my instructions are to a similar
purport, and are actuated by the same spirit.

In order to convince you of the perfect frankness and cordiality witk

D will, if you wilg allow me to
trespass still further on your time, lay before You at once, and without

waiting till you communicate to me formally the feports on the subjeq
which, as yet, have only reached yYou verbally [ 2 orally], a clear statement
of the circumstances under which | ditected Captain Wainwright, of Her
Majesty's ship Leopard, 10 proceed 1o the Colorado River.

Having received a notification from the authorities of the Nicaraguzg
and Costa Rican governments that a hosile force had landed, or were about
to land, in the River Colorado, wj would aid in prevent-

ing it, [ immediately despatche hi. in the Leapard, 1o
ascertain if such was the case.

Captain \\'ainwrigh
and, it being dark mistook the entrance of th
three miles to the southward of .
off the river, and in his ow
the river, examining the banks on cither
traces of a landing having taken place.
observed the Catharine Marig at anchor, and as he neared her perceived
Some persons on hoard with whom he was acquainted. P, immediatcly
went alongside, in his own boat only, and going on board requested to be
informed if they had heard or had seen anything resembling marauders

or filibusters in the neighborhood ; and being answered in the negative,
Maria and returned to his ownp ship,

d Captain Wainwrig

¢ river, and anchored two or
ght he weighed and anchored
anied by two others, pulled into
side jto sce if there were any
In pr‘occeding up the river, he

Captain Wainwright left the
weighed, and was at

manding officer of the nay
the protection of, his o

T have the honor to be, sir, with great respect, your most obedient servant,

] W. Cornwarrss ALDHA N, Captain,
FLaG OFFicer Jases Mc. McInTosh, - v

Commande'r-in-Chx'cf Home Squadron, U. 5 Ship.r..

Ll R B
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OKE,” ; NORTE,
*“ RoANOKE,” OFF SAN JuAN DEL
FLaG-Suir * ROANOKE, epliriaily ,35?,_
I ha\:e the honor to acknowledge the reccipt of your communica-
. Sm: der data of the 28th instant. ' from sous ship 1o vii
s tification of your act in sending officers from y
As 2 jus

r i t of San uan
1 t vessels entering the por J

: i “\mc 1can mcrchan

and examine

H “thi rt is under the protection of preat
del l\tor’t'c, T mel’of:l rr;xi)\t:av::r.th:;:’::ctthat my government has cVe.r i
Briain” [ am hn rc;tcction. On the contrary, my governmcr}t has. al.wa)l 3
acknOWchB_Cd 5“; [l)"lrst article of the Clayton-Bulwer convention distinctly
"pudiaml‘ Dy te thecefrom: * Agreeing, that neither \.mll ever e_r?ct
disa\'ovirs l‘t. l ?ufo rtifications commanding the -same, or in the ‘\'lcmlty'
or mantain 2 .° or fortify, or colonize, or assume, or excrcise any
thereol, of O:c:'?i(;ragua Costa Rica, the Mosquito Coast, or any part of
dominion ot Niea , ‘
Contrat A"’"f""- 's vessels board our merchant vessels for the pufrpsose
o Hﬂ" _MBJC}-:U ; crs and cargo of those which'emer the po:t o al:
of ol No e Pﬁl? officers from the Valorous did, then you a.sst‘xmel
Juan del 1\’0"(‘- o t'oen . whi;:h the Clayton-Bulwer convention (.hstmctt.)l'
. -C.XCIC‘SC d(l)amml sn"uction I cannot for one moment recognize ut(';elr
discims. 'Suc bcon ; government: and, consequently, I must a.ct ur; e
further adt"l';ﬁm:ti:)n:s gthe tenor of which were [was] communicate
present i s, : o
;:)y“ in my letter of thc-ozft;;n:r:t;z satisfaction with your fxplénatf“?“ lt:
I beg to cxprc-s:‘.too)f Captain  Wainwright, of l:{er Majesty’s Il'zl;gfl.r
b e e rican steamer Catharine Maria, in the Cn‘lorado d‘\b(ut'
Leopard, to zhc' {\n;l‘ tated to you that 1 was but imperfectly informe o
o (:If ;Vhﬁlc: “fsrl(:m syour frank and clear representation, and for whi
whic nd, ot o
{ thank you, Wu‘"e":’ r'f;::iht;::glg::: misunderstood hy you as obyzciur;‘gl
l sy hofi"c'\cfr'on(: one of Her Majesty’s ships-of-wa.r to an .':\me; cam
. fn'cm"y‘ e - other port. Such was not my objection, .or »ln
vessel in th}s or alK)mary to make such visits by the \'c,s\sels-(?f~“a;e(:s oy
aware that it is c}xs constantly made to Her Majesty’s mail-pac wts oy
natlonf, and lhc’) areadron' but they are simply acts of COU.I‘tCS). e
the ships of i Sqtu The; I ashington had been boarded. by anﬁ;)ns o
offer of se'rv'rccs,sc - s ship Sarannah, in obedience to my .mstru}c‘ s 5
from -zhe Lm.th talleti(:m' to all American vessels_ bound m.todt e :ticu:
Captam Jarvis in re aoff this port, and she was strlCll.)' examine ]_ .p: o
orithat ShOU'? 3;’rI:)C:efr persons who might be forcing themselves
larly as to im r
Nis"-:fag“a ?ndm(i:c::)t?)cRil:aa;!l respects regularly cleared, h:ehr p:svs::gell}sn;:;
Wmeiies : ermitted to enter the ver. U
ethpti?nablev and Shteh: ?ls';:‘:il;legf;r: \r\)'ould have been, as you Jus-ﬂir"g}fi;
other cxrcumstancesi,n . A faendly visit from a boat fro:ln ;0 x ship
p;"c?}:ede;:;l?ngroonghad.anchored would never have been made by
after the

* The italics ar€ in the original.
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» and to the manner jn which the United
ed as exceed-
* 7151, to which I calted your

attention, and which I am constrained still to consider as unnecessary o

the part of the officers under your command.
I trust, however, from the frank and friendly tenor of your letter, ang

which T assure You in no one point exceeds my own, that we shall haye
no interruption to our friendly relations in
duties,

I have the honor to be, sir, with
Jas. Mc. Mclxrtosn,

Flag Officer, Commander-
Sk W, C. ALviam, K. C. B,

Commanding fer Majesty’s Steam Frigate IMalorpys

the execution of oyr respective
great re<pect, your obedient servant,

in-Chicf, Home Squadron,

Shortly afterwards, Captain Aldham, together with \r. Synge,
Sir William Gore Quseley's secretary of legation, visited Com-
modore McIntosh on board the Roanoke, Captain Aldham and
the commodore conversed most frankly upon the subject of the
Washington. Aldham declared his having no intention of inter.
fering with American vessels ; also his great desire to act in concent
with McIntosh in endeavoring t4 prevent the landing of tilibusters ;
that he could not possibly see the slightest cause for the apprehen-
sion of any difficulty ; and that so far as he was concerned there
should be none. \Wigp Mr. Synge the conversation was equally

frank, He, however, distinctly maintained that England had never
abandoned the protectorate over the harbor of
declared that he believed before the followin
the whole matter would be finally settled.
that as to boarding and search;

already abandoned it, not from fear or pusillanimity, but becayse
England felt she could do <o llollorabl)'. and ought to do it, and it
Was not probable it was going to be revived ; that there was: cer-
tainly nothing secret or mysterious in Sjr Williary's mission, as
it was well understood in Washington ® ang that no officer in
Her Britannic Majesty's seryice would be less likely to do any act

Greytown, but
g first of January
He declared, moreover,
ng American vessels, they had

nd the Secretagy of the
sly to his leaving the United States.
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nh cou i i c Wilh
- 1 ﬂ ,

i i ‘ersation, the commodore
T tain Aldham. In this conver
us, than Cap

had fittle to'say, for his posiliorl\ had Ptee" taken
i leave it.
dence, an d hfe ﬁ]e St,l::ge tl:::i(;:ratiorfs, Commodore McIntosh had
la “e“'oh t reason to believe that another case such as hafd
not the <1g :)Soard the Washington would be repeated. .He did
occ.un'ed Oﬂ' ver, that had Captain Aldham been left entirely to
:?lnc::;,h;:::i;ne;]t, such a proceeding would not have occurred
is .
at all : ireytown for Aspinwall on the 26th of
.The lVas,m:iet;):or]:ftthgrrcqrt;‘t\l:']nefd to tll)u: United Stat'es with
November: o of hcr.dcceived passengers, verifying the fflcrt'
2 large POl't“?:‘ route across the Isthmus was effectively clos:e.d.
tha(;;:hle);::rr:wstl)cr 1, 1858 Walker's new filibustering expedition

in his correspon-

iled from Mobile, in spite of the President’s proclamation. But .
saile \ ,in s

: ed-for termination
and wholly unlooked-for
it was brought to a sudden a ation
;:v;he vcssfl being wrecked in a gale off th)e.c.oast f)f I:'ond‘hiCh
\5 lker and his party were rescued by a British \\arshlpt\’\ e
ha; ened to be in the vicinity, and brought back to the United
pe
tates. ' . ] )
> No further attempt at filibustering was nmd‘( by \f\ fllker u'r;trle
: ber, 18359, when the guns of a United btatesy ngatel\\ ‘
l?epm}r:t to. be;r‘ on the steamer Philudelphia, at ’.\e\ib()r (’atlll..
rou : e cans.
f iil' compelling her passengers to dls.embark. : ;:'u o
. t) e, Lord Lyons, the British minister at Washington,
same time, L. .yons,

. ed 10
notified the administration that his government had resolved

Valker
interfere in repelling forcibly any future attempts of Wa

a-g - ragu ”e o] Blltlsh S 15 Of 3y W
d. ;\ et f vesse var as b
alllSt \1ca

i ‘town, while a similarly strong force

tly stationed at Greytown, w a ree

m:re(;]ed- the Pacific approaches. The United States also kﬁplhe

5:'0 force in the Caribbean, to watch the mmem(;:ln.ts zre he
exil?dg president of Nicaragua. ‘‘ Napoleon was hardly m

resentatives of
. ion of the House of Rep .
= liance with a resolution . s " respecting
Dec?mlf::nxl; a1858 the President commumc::%ed lhefdi}c]t:mBe:!itliSh \_aP‘C’y' 8
y » Jee . b ; officers o -

ent acts of visitation, by o se documents
;l:C rc'pc::e\isl;zcls in the waters of the Gulf of M‘EMCC: I}}:econgrcss i
w::rlprinted as House Executive Document No. r1f, 33
Session.
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a nightmare to the Holy Alliance than was Walker to the two

powerful countries which did him the honor of this surveillance® -

The evident impossibility of running the gauntlet of the British
and American warships in the Caribbean, determined Walker ¢
seek a new pathway to his cherished goal. That way, he décided,
lay through the exposed part of the enemy’s territory, namely, the
castern coast of Honduras. -

It seems that at this time the Island of Ruatan was not under
the usual British man-of-war captain’s sovereignty, but owed
a nominal allegiance to the Republic of Honduras. Upon the ever-
ready invitation of some of its inhabitants, \Walker prepared to
use it as a base of operations against his former enemy, President
Alvarez, and as a stepping-stone to the real point of attack. In
the early part of August, 1800, having made arrangements for
a strong body of reinforcements to follow and join lim at Truxillo,
he sailed in the schoomer Clifton from Mobile, with a force of
about 100 men, and landed at Ruatan on the 15th of that month,

The capture of the town of Truxillo, on the mainland, was but
the work ‘of half an hour. But scarcely had the town been
occupied, when a British war-steamer, the Icarus, appeared on
the scene. Captain Norvell Salmon, her commander, at once
demanded the surrender of the town, promising, in case of com-
pliance, to carry the filibusters back to the United States, and
threatening to open fire on the town if it were not surrendered.
Walker determined to evacuate Truxillo, which he did the follow-
ing night, retreating down the coast with only 70 men. The
Icarus lost no time in starting in pursuit. At the mouth of the
Rio Negro, Captain Salmon learned that Walker lay encamped
at the Indian village of Lemas, whither the boats of the Icarus
were immediately sent. To Captain Salmon's dem
ditional surrender, Walker replied with the in
was surrendering
Salmon twice ass

and for uncon-
quiry, whether he
to the British or to the Hondurans, Captain
ured him that it was to Her Majesty's forces,
whereupon the filibusters laid down their arms and wer
veyed on board the Jcarys.

But on arriving at Truxillo, Salmon turned his prisoners over
to the Honduran authorities, despite the prisoners’ protest and
demand for trial before a British tribunal.  Salinon disdained to

»-
® Roche, p. 172. :
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. the case, although he so far interested himself as to secure
argue ’

- the pardon of. all except the leader and one faithful follower,
.. the .

Colonel Rudler. Salmon also offered to pl,ea(! for .\.Valkeri;f
the latter would ask his intercession as an Amencap Fltl.zen. Vh.u}:
Walker, with the bitter remembrance of a!l the m]unss \; 1cd
his nativity had brought upon him, thanked hlS. captor, and re used
sd n-himself by denying the country which had adf)pted an .
N emmh' He ;\'as arraigned before a court-martial on the
honorede lnt'le'zmber 1860, and after a brief examination was con-
”}h 0d t:)pdie by ,a fusillade next morning. Thus perished the
dcmnef the filibusters.® Walker's followers, all except one, were
La:;t(;n the custody of the British. Eleven' were sc:t h?gi]b:n\:?ﬂ
of Havana, and 57 of them \vfre taken direct to New e
jesty’s ship Gladiator. . . ‘
He;h\elii'ct:;:i bol' éonnnandcr Salmon, in receiving W a]lfcr sf§:1}:;
render and then delivering him over to the ten(:]erbmerctxeszl: the
Hondurans, was nothing less th_an treachery of the haic;as us,ua”y
entirely inconsistant with the hlghl sense of hon‘o.l.' t aHad_“/alker
charac;crizcd the officers of the British naval sery xce(.l ad Walker
known the real intentions of S;}lmor_l, he woul'd un ?: thzrn ave
fought to the end, and have died like a soldier, ra thern han Ik
a felon. Granting even that \\"alk.cr was 1o bettler ) ::niShEd his,
Salmon had given him an oi’ﬁbcclr\s \’\"ord, and he ta
s when that word was bro cen. o -
epi’:l:iiite from the imbroglios ir}ﬂ‘\;hnch }he eﬁtr:rt;(rlij:a:;sr;::g]
:as thus involved, these various fili ustermg' ses,
:faiheir failure, were productive only (?f fvnla;?r:r?:et?]iezztig
concerned. They were injurious to private : ) nited
; caused enormous destructhn of lx'fe and property
tsl::;'ez;e:t‘:()i' a suspicion in Central America agamstrt}clzl::gen“c:r;
people which persists to this da:\'; they mr.nf;l neab tWeengcrem
between Spain and the United States, as we ?s '-:.emed Great
Britain and the United States; and, lastly, thei\rp‘re\ o e
oceanic communication by way of Ehe San Juan River,
indefinitely the regeneration of Nicaragua.

> Roche, pp. 173-78.
* Scroggs, p- 393
" Scroggs, p- 392.




